
          

 

 

WEST VILLAGES 
IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT 

 

CITY OF NORTH PORT 
SARASOTA COUNTY 

CONTINUED LANDOWNERS’ MEETING, 
LANDOWNERS’ REFERENDUM 

& 
REGULAR BOARD MEETING 

JULY 14, 2022 
11:00 A.M. 

 

 
 

Special District Services, Inc. 
The Oaks Center 

2501A Burns Road 
Palm Beach Gardens, FL 33410 

www.westvillagesid.org 
561.630.4922 Telephone 
877.SDS.4922 Toll Free 
561.630.4923 Facsimile 



 

 

AGENDA 
WEST VILLAGES IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT 

Public Safety Building Training Room 
19955 Preto Blvd., Venice, Florida 34293 

CONTINUED 
LANDOWNERS’ MEETING 

July 14, 2022 
11:00 a.m. 

 
 
A. Call to Order 

B. Proof of Publication……………………………………………………………………………Page 1 

C. Establish Quorum 

D. Approval of Minutes 

1. June 10, 2021 Landowners’ Meeting Minutes…………………………………………….Page 3 

E. Adjourn 



Page 1



Page 2



 

Page 1 of 3 
 

WEST VILLAGES IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT 
LANDOWNERS’ MEETING 

JUNE 10, 2021 
 

A. CALL TO ORDER 

The June 10, 2021, Landowners’ Meeting of the West Villages Improvement District (“WVID” or the 
“District”) was called to order at 11:00 a.m. at 19503 S. West Villages Parkway, #A4, Venice, Florida 
34293 and via Zoom:  https://us02web.zoom.us/j/87509654850, Meeting ID: 875 0965 4580, Dial In: 
1-929-436-2866. 
 
B. PROOF OF PUBLICATION 

Proof of publication was presented that showed that notice of the Landowners’ Meeting had been 
published in the Sarasota Herald-Tribune on May 14, 2021, and May 21, 2021, as legally required.   
 
C. ESTABLISH A QUORUM 
 
It was determined that the attendance of the following Supervisors constituted a quorum and it was in 
order to proceed with the meeting: 
 
Supervisor John Luczynski Present 
Supervisor Steve Lewis  Present 
Supervisor Tom Buckley (via phone) Present 
Supervisor Christine Masney Present 
Supervisor Victor Dobrin  Present 

 
Staff members in attendance were: 
 
District Manager Todd Wodraska  Special District Services, Inc. 
District Manager William Crosley Special District Services, Inc. 
District Counsel Jonathan Johnson (via phone) Hopping, Green & Sams 
District Engineer Richard Ellis (via phone) Dewberry 
Operations’ Manager Mike Smith Special District Services, Inc 

 
D. ELECTION OF CHAIR FOR LANDOWNERS’ MEETING 
 
A MOTION was made by Mr. Lewis, seconded by Ms. Masney and passed unanimously electing John 
Luczynski as Chair of the Landowners’ Meeting. 
 
E. ELECTION OF SECRETARY FOR LANDOWNERS’ MEETING 
 
A MOTION was made by Mr. Lewis, seconded by Ms. Masney and passed unanimously electing 
William Crosley as Secretary of the Landowners’ Meeting. 
 
F. APPROVAL OF MINUTES 
 
 1.  June 11, 2020, Landowners’ Meeting  
 

Page 3



 

Page 2 of 3 
 

A MOTION was made by Mr. Lewis, seconded by Ms. Masney and passed unanimously approving the 
minutes of the June 11, 2020, Landowners’ Meeting, as presented. 
 
G. APPOINTMENT OF SUPERVISORS 
 
There were only two Notices of Intent to Run received from John Luczynski and Tom Buckley.  
Therefore there was no need to hold an election. 
 
H. OTHER BUSINESS 
 
 1.  Receive Engineer’s Report 
 

 Urbanization Calculation Threshold 
 
Urbanization is defined as a platted and inhabited residential lot that is occupied, which drives the 
calculation to determine when the next Board seat would be converted over to the general election.  Land 
area that is not inhabited, such as preserves, wetlands, stormwater ponds, roadways, medians, 
commercial property, platted lots, golf courses, parks, stadiums, etc. without a certificate of occupancy 
are not included in the calculation. This year’s calculation is significantly overstated because it includes 
the land area overall that is depicted in the Urban Area Map, without removing all of the areas mentioned 
above that do not calculate as urban areas. This was done as a cost savings for the District to allow for 
confirmation that the threshold was not met. The calculation threshold will be done with more granularity 
when the overall developed land increases over 26%.  
 
There was a question and further discussion.  The District Engineer will provide the methodology for 
how the calculation is derived, once the next urbanization calculation threshold is submitted to the Board. 
The next Board seat will convert over to the general election when 26% of the total area of the District 
is urbanized, or there are more than 6,000 owners who are registered to vote in Sarasota County. 
Supervisor Dobrin suggested that the District Engineer should reach out to Sarasota County for guidance 
on the urbanization calculation. 
 
I. LANDOWNER COMMENTS 
 
There were no comments from the landowners. 
 
J. ADJOURNMENT 
 
There being no further business to conduct, a MOTION was made by Mr. Lewis, seconded by Mr. 
Dobrin to adjourn the Landowners’ Meeting at 11:40 a.m.  That MOTION carried unanimously. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 4



 

Page 3 of 3 
 

 
 
 
_________________________________ ____________________________________ 
Secretary/Assistant Secretary   Chair/Vice-Chair 
 

Page 5



 

 

AGENDA 
WEST VILLAGES IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT 

Public Safety Building Training Room 
19955 Preto Blvd., Venice, Florida 34293 

LANDOWNERS’ REFERENDUM 
July 14, 2022 

11:00 a.m. 
 
 
A. Call to Order 

B. Proof of Publication……………………………………………………………………………Page 7 

C. Establish Quorum 

D. Election of Chair for Landowners Meeting 

E. Election of Secretary for Landowners’ Meeting 

F. Election of Supervisors 

1. Determine Number of Voting Units Represented or Assigned by Proxy……………….Page 8 
2. Referendum as to Boundary Amendment 
3. Casting of Ballots………………………………………………………………………..Page 9 
4. Ballot Tabulations  
5. Certification of the Results 

G. Landowners’ Comments 

H. Adjourn 

 

Page 6



����������	
��� ������������������������������������������

��� �	��!!!"#������ ������������"��$ ���

%&'()**+,)-.'�/-0&()'123456789�5:�;<=<6>?<�@8=<49AB=532:8�>:�C24D�EF�GHGGIJKLMNJO;<=<6>?<�P>2:?DF�Q4>=59<RJMNKS�TSUMVWBXPY�WQ�Z[V\W]VŶ;�_YYBXV̀ �WQ�B@Y�]Y;B�aXZZ[̀ Y;�X_1̂WaY_YVB�\X;B̂XPBV>?5b8�56�78=83D�c5d8:�?>�?78�e2345b�<:9�<44�4<:9>f:8=6�f5?75:�]86?�a544<c86�Xge=>d8g8:?�\56?=5b?�h�\56?=5b?�i�?78�4>b<?5>:�>jf75b7�56�4>b<?89�5:�?78�P5?D�>j�V>=?7�1>=?�<:9�;<=<6>?<�P>2:?DF�Q4>=59<F�<9d565:c�?7<?�<�g88?5:c�>j�4<:9>f:8=6�f544�38�7849j>=�?78�e2=e>68�>j�7>495:c�<�=8j8=8:92g�?>�<ee=>d8�<:�<g8:9g8:?�?>�P7<e?8=�GHHkAklmF�Z<f6�>j�Q4>=59<F�<6�<g8:989n\[BYo�C24D�pkF�GHGGBX_Yo�ppoHH�[n_n1Z[PYo�12345b�;<j8?D�q25495:c�B=<5:5:c�̂>>gprrll�1=8?>�q4d9na8:5b8F�Q4>=59<�skGrsY<b7�4<:9>f:8=�g<D�d>?8�5:�e8=6>:�>=�3D�f=5??8:�e=>tDn�1=>tD�j>=g6�g<D�38�>3?<5:89�2e>:�=8u286?�<?�?78�>jj5b8�>j�?78\56?=5b?�_<:<c8=F�prlHs�;n�]86?�a544<c86�1<=vf<DF�;25?8�w[sF�V>=?7�1>=?F�Q4>=59<�skGrsF�17o�hrkpi�GkkAGxHl�h�\56?=5b?�_<:<c8=6�Wjj5b8�in�[?�6<59�g88?5:c�8<b7�4<:9>f:8=�>=�756�>=�78=�e=>tD�67<44�38�8:?5?489�?>�b<6?�>:8�d>?8�e8=�<66866<348�<b=8�>j�4<:9F>=�j=<b?5>:<4�e>=?5>:�?78=8>jF�>f:89�3D�75g�>=�78=�<:9�4>b<?89�f5?75:�?78�\56?=5b?�5:�<ee=>d5:c�?78�<g8:9g8:?�?>�P7<e?8=GHHkAklmF�Z<f6�>j�Q4>=59<F�<6�<g8:989n�B78�<g8:9g8:?�67<44�?<v8�8jj8b?�2e>:�<ee=>d<4�>j�<�g<y>=5?D�d>?8�>j�?78�>f:8=6�>j4<:9�f5?75:�?78�\56?=5b?F�5:b4295:c�4<:9�5:b42989�5:�?78�>=5c5:<4�956?=5b?�3>2:9<=D�986b=5e?5>:�<:9�<:D�4<:9�385:c�<9989�3D?78�<g8:9g8:?nB78�4<:9>f:8=6�g88?5:c�<:9�?78�q><=9�g88?5:c�<=8�>e8:�?>�?78�e2345b�<:9�f544�38�b>:92b?89�5:�<bb>=9<:b8�f5?7�?78e=>d565>:6�>j�Q4>=59<�4<fn�B78�g88?5:c�g<D�38�b>:?5:289�?>�<�9<?8F�?5g8F�<:9�e4<b8�?>�38�6e8b5j589�>:�?78�=8b>=9�<?�62b7g88?5:cn�[�b>eD�>j�?78�<c8:9<�j>=�?78�g88?5:c�g<D�38�>3?<5:89�j=>g�?78�\56?=5b?�_<:<c8=�6�Wjj5b8n[:D�e8=6>:�=8u25=5:c�6e8b5<4�<bb>gg>9<?5>:6�?>�e<=?5b5e<?8�5:�?78�g88?5:c�56�<6v89�?>�b>:?<b?�?78�\56?=5b?�_<:<c8=�6�Wjj5b8F<?�48<6?�kx�7>2=6�38j>=8�?78�g88?5:cn�Xj�D>2�<=8�78<=5:c�>=�6e88b7�5ge<5=89F�e48<68�b>:?<b?�?78�Q4>=59<�̂84<D�;8=d5b8�3D95<45:c�EApApF�>=�pAxHHArllAxEEp�hBBzi�{�pAxHHArllAxEEH�ha>5b8iF�j>=�<59�5:�b>:?<b?5:c�?78�\56?=5b?�_<:<c8=�6�Wjj5b8n[�e8=6>:�f7>�98b5986�?>�<ee8<4�<:D�98b565>:�f5?7�=86e8b?�?>�<:D�g<??8=�b>:6598=89�<?�?78�g88?5:c�56�<9d5689�?7<?�62b7e8=6>:�f544�:889�<�=8b>=9�>j�?78�e=>b8895:c6�<:9�?7<?�<bb>=95:c4DF�?78�e8=6>:�g<D�:889�?>�8:62=8�?7<?�<�d8=3<?5g�=8b>=9�>j?78�e=>b8895:c6�56�g<98F�5:b4295:c�?78�?86?5g>:D�<:9�8d598:b8�2e>:�f75b7�?78�<ee8<4�56�?>�38�3<689n]5445<g�P=>648D\56?=5b?�_<:<c8=]Y;B�aXZZ[̀ Y;�X_1̂WaY_YVB�\X;B̂XPBfffnf86?d544<c8659n>=c;[̂[;WB[�@Ŷ[Z\�B̂Xq|VY�Hm{sH{GG�}�HE{HE{GG
Page 7



LANDOWNER PROXY 
 

WEST VILLAGES IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT  
BOUNDARY AMENDMENT REFERENDUM & CONTINUED LANDOWNERS’ MEETING  

JULY 14, 2022 
 
 KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS, that the undersigned, the fee simple owner of the 
lands described herein, hereby constitutes and appoints ____________________________________ 
(“Proxy Holder”) for and on behalf of the undersigned, to vote as proxy at the boundary amendment 
referendum and continued meeting of the landowners of the West Villages Improvement District to be held 
at the Public Safety Building Training Room located at 19955 Preto Blvd., Venice, Florida 34293, on July 
14, 2022, at 11:00 A.M., and at any continuances or adjournments thereof, according to the number of acres 
of unplatted land and/or platted lots owned by the undersigned landowner that the undersigned would be 
entitled to vote if then personally present, upon any question, proposition, or resolution or any other matter 
or thing that may be considered at said meeting.  Said Proxy Holder may vote in accordance with his or her 
discretion on all matters not known or determined at the time of solicitation of this proxy, which may legally 
be considered at said meeting.   
 
 Any proxy heretofore given by the undersigned for said meeting is hereby revoked.  This proxy is 
to continue in full force and effect from the date hereof until the conclusion of the annual meeting and any 
adjournment or adjournments thereof, but may be revoked at any time by written notice of such revocation 
presented at the annual meeting prior to the Proxy Holder exercising the voting rights conferred herein. 
 
 
        
Printed Name of Legal Owner 
 
              
Signature of Legal Owner      Date 
 
 
Parcel Description Acreage Authorized Votes  
 
_______________________________________  _______ _______ 
_______________________________________  _______ _______  
_______________________________________  _______ _______   
 
[Insert above the street address of each parcel, the legal description of each parcel, or the tax identification number of 
each parcel.  If more space is needed, identification of parcels owned may be incorporated by reference to an 
attachment hereto.] 
 
Total Number of Authorized Votes:  _______ 
 
NOTES:  Pursuant to Chapter 2004-456(4), Laws of Florida, as amended, a fraction of an assessable acre is treated as 
one (1) acre entitling the landowner to one vote with respect thereto.  For purposes of determining voting interests, 
platted lots shall be counted individually and rounded up to the nearest whole acre. Moreover, two (2) or more persons 
who own real property in common that is one acre or less are together entitled to only one vote for that real property.   
 
If the fee simple landowner is not an individual, and is instead a corporation, limited liability company, limited 
partnership or other entity, evidence that the individual signing on behalf of the entity has the authority to do so should 
be attached hereto (e.g., bylaws, corporate resolution, etc.). 
 

Page 8



OFFICIAL BALLOT 
 

WEST VILLAGES IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT  
LANDOWNERS’ MEETING – JULY 14, 2022 

_____________________________________________________________________________________ 
 
The West Villages Improvement District (“District”) was created and established on June 17, 2004, by the 
Florida Legislature pursuant to Chapter 2004-456, Laws of Florida, and amended by Chapter 2006-355, 
Laws of Florida, Chapter 3002-307, Laws of Florida, and Chapter 2008-284, Laws of Florida.  On March 
10, 2022, the Florida Legislature passed HB 1045, codified as Chapter 2022-241, Laws of Florida, 
amending the boundary of the District to include additional acreage.  Pursuant to Section 3 of Chapter 2022-
241, Laws of Florida, a meeting of landowners shall be held for the purpose of holding a referendum to 
approve the amendment to Chapter 2004-456, Laws of Florida, as amended.   
 
The undersigned certifies that he/she/it is the fee simple owner of assessable land, or the proxy holder for 
the fee simple owner of assessable land, located within the West Villages Improvement District and 
described as follows: 
 
Description        Acreage 
___________________________________________________  _______ 
___________________________________________________  _______ 
___________________________________________________  _______ 
 
[Insert above the street address of each parcel, the legal description of each parcel, or the tax identification 
number of each parcel.]  [If more space is needed, identification of parcels owned may be incorporated by 
reference to an attachment hereto.] 
 
or 
 
Attach Proxy 
 
I, __________________, as the proxy holder of ______________________________ (the “Landowner”) 
pursuant to the Landowner’s Proxy attached hereto, do cast my votes as follows: 
 
Approval of Boundary Amendment    
Codified in Chapter 2022-241, LOF Number of Votes 
 

1.  Yes   ________ 

2.   No   ________ 

 
________________ ________________________________ 
Date Name: __________________________ 
 

 

Page 9



AGENDA 
WEST VILLAGES IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT 

Public Safety Building Training Room 
19955 Preto Blvd., Venice, Florida 34293 

REGULAR BOARD MEETING 
July 14, 2022 

11:00 a.m. 
 

A. Call to Order 

B. Proof of Publication………………………………………………………………………................Page 12 

C. Establish Quorum 

D. Additions or Deletions 

E. Comments from the Public on All Agenda Items 

F. Approval of Minutes 

1. June 9, 2022 Regular Board Meeting Minutes………………………………………………….Page 13 

G. General District Matters 

1. Consider Resolution No. 2022-12 – Canvassing and Certifying Results of Boundary 
Amendment Referendum………………………………………………………………………..Page 19 

2. Consider Resolution No. 2022-13 – Regarding Intent to Utilize Uniform Method………….....Page 21 

H. Unit of Development No. 1 

1. Consider Approval of Boundary Amendment Agreement Adding Property to Unit No. 1 
(Diocese Property and Hospital Site)……………………………………………………………Page 22 

2. Consider Approval of Boundary Amendment Agreement Adding Property to Unit No. 1 
(Pine Street)……………………………………………………………………………………...Page 46 

3. Consider Resolution No. 2022-14 – Setting Public Hearing on Consideration of Adoption of 
Proposed Revised Plan of Improvements………………………………………………………..Page 78 

I. Unit of Development No. 3 

1. Consider Approval of Revised Gran Paradiso Gate Operations Policies………………………..Page 150 

2. Consider Approval of Proposals for Unit 3 Bond Requisition Audit……………………………Page 155 

J. Unit of Development No. 6 

1. Consider Approval of Boundary Amendment Agreement Adding Property to Unit No. 6 
(Diocese Property)……………………………………………………………………………….Page 157 

K. Unit of Development No. 7 

1. Consider Approval of Boundary Amendment Agreement Adding Property to Unit No. 7……..Page 164 

2. Consider Resolution No. 2022-15 – Declaring Intent to Impose Special Assessments 
on Added Property………………………………………………………………………………Page 173 

3. Consider Resolution No. 2022-16 – Setting Public Hearing on Imposition of Special 
Assessments on Added Property………………………………………………………………...Page 289 

L. Unit of Development No. 9 

1. Consider Approval of Preliminary Master Engineer's Report…………………………………...Page 291 

2. Consider Approval of Preliminary Master Assessment Methodology Report……………..........Page 303 

 Page 10



 

3. Consider Resolution No. 2022-17 – Declaring Debt Service Assessments……………………..Page 320 

4. Consider Resolution No. 2022-18 – Setting a Public Hearing on Debt Service 
Assessments……………………………………………………………………………………..Page 325 

M. Administrative Matters 

1. District Engineer 

a. Stormwater Management Projection Report………………………………………………...Page 327 

2. District Attorney 

3. District Operations Manager 

4. District Manager 

N. Board Member Comments 

O. Adjourn 

 

  

Page 11



����������	
���� ����������������������������������������

�����	��   !"�������������������!��# ���

$%&'())*+(,-&�.,/%'(&012345678�49�:;<;5=>;�?7<;38@A<42197�=9�B13C�DE�FGFFHIJKLMIN:;<;5=>;�O=19>CE�P3=<48;QILMJR�SRTLUVAWOX�VP�YVZ[\�]XXAWÛ_X:A�̀WaaẐ X:W]0[V̀ X]XUA�\W:A[WOAU=>4b7�45�67<72C�c4d79�>6;>�>67�Y=;<8�=e�:1f7<d45=<5�g�Y=;<8�h�=e�>67�_75>�̀433;c75�Wif<=d7i79>�\45><4b>�g�\45><4b>�h�j433�6=38�;5f7b4;3�i77>49c�=e�>67�Y=;<8�=9�B13C�DkE�FGFFE�;>�DDlGG�Zm]m�49�f7<5=9�;>�DnoGp�:m�_75>�̀433;c75�0;<qj;CE�49�>67�O=9e7<79b7[==i�;b<=55�e<=i�rZDkE�̀794b7E�P3=<48;�pkFnpmA67�i77>49c�45�=f79�>=�>67�f1234b�;98�j433�27�b=981b>78�49�;bb=<8;9b7�j4>6�>67�f<=d454=95�=e�P3=<48;�3;j�e=<�4if<=d7i79>845><4b>5m�Z�b=fC�=e�>67�;c798;�e=<�>645�i77>49c�i;C�27�=2>;4978�2C�b=9>;b>49c�>67�\45><4b>�];9;c7<�2C�7i;43�;>jb<=537Cs58549bm=<cE�2C�>737f6=97�;>�nkD@Fkk@FtGoE�=<�2C�d454>49c�>67�\45><4b>�5�j7254>7E�j75>d433;c7548m=<cm�A645�i77>49ci;C�27�b=9>49178�>=�;�8;>7E�>4i7E�;98�f3;b7�>=�27�5f7b4e478�=9�>67�<7b=<8�;>�>67�i77>49cmW9�>67�7d79>�>6;>�>67�OV̀ W\@Dn�f1234b�67;3>6�7i7<c79bC�f<7d79>5�>67�i77>49c�e<=i�=bb1<<49c�49@f7<5=9E�>67�\45><4b>�i;Cb=981b>�>67�i77>49c�79>4<73C�2C�>737f6=97�=<�d487=�b=9e7<79b49c�b=ii194b;>4=95�i784;�>7b69=3=cC�f1<51;9>�>=c=d7<9i79>;3�=<87<5E�49b31849c�21>�9=>�34i4>78�>=�;9C�<737d;9>�Xu7b1>4d7�V<87<5�455178�2C�̂=d7<9=<�\7:;9>45E�;98�;9C7u>7954=95�=<�51ff37i79>5�>67<7=eE�;98�f1<51;9>�>=�:7b>4=9�DFGmokgohg2hFmE�P3=<48;�:>;>1>75m�W9e=<i;>4=9�;2=1>�6=j�>67i77>49c�j433�=bb1<E�;5545>;9b7�b=997b>49c�>=�>67�i77>49c�=<�;<<;9c49c�e1<>67<�;bb=ii=8;>4=95�e=<�f;<>4b4f;>4=9E�;98�;9C=>67<�v175>4=95�b;9�27�;88<75578�2C�b=9>;b>49c�>67�\45><4b>�];9;c7<�5�=ee4b7�;>�>67�f6=97�91i27<�=<�7@i;43�;2=d7E�=<�2Cd454>49c�>67�\45><4b>�5�j7254>7m01<51;9>�>=�>67�f<=d454=95�=e�>67�Zi7<4b;95�j4>6�\45;2434>475�Zb>E�;9C�f7<5=9�<7v14<49c�5f7b4;3�;bb=ii=8;>4=95�>=f;<>4b4f;>7�49�>645�i77>49c�45�;5q78�>=�;8d457�>67�\45><4b>�Vee4b7�;>�37;5>�e=<>C@74c6>�gkth�6=1<5�f<4=<�>=�>67�i77>49c�2Cb=9>;b>49c�>67�\45><4b>�];9;c7<�;>�nkD@Fkk@FtGom�We�C=1�;<7�67;<49c�=<�5f77b6�4if;4<78E�f37;57�b=9>;b>�>67�P3=<48;�[73;C:7<d4b7�2C�84;349c�w@D@DE�=<�D@tGG@noo@twwD�gAAxhyD@tGG@noo@twwG�g̀=4b7hE�e=<�;48�49�b=9>;b>49c�>67�\45><4b>�];9;c7<mX;b6�f7<5=9�j6=�87b4875�>=�;ff7;3�;9C�;b>4=9�>;q79�;>�>6757�i77>49c5�45�;8d4578�>6;>�f7<5=9�j433�9778�;�<7b=<8�=e�>67f<=b77849c5�;98�>6;>�;bb=<849c3CE�>67�f7<5=9�i;C�9778�>=�7951<7�>6;>�;�d7<2;>4i�<7b=<8�=e�>67�f<=b77849c5�45�i;87E49b31849c�>67�>75>4i=9C�;98�7d4879b7�1f=9�j64b6�51b6�;ff7;3�45�>=�27�2;578m_4334;i�O<=537CE�\45><4b>�];9;c7<_75>�̀433;c75�Wif<=d7i79>�\45><4b>_X:A�̀WaaẐ X:W]0[V̀ X]XUA�\W:A[WOAjjjmj75>d433;c7548m=<c0zYaW:?l�:Z[Z:VAZ�?X[Za\�A[WYzUX�GwyGDyFFrwk{Gtno
Page 12



Page 1 of 6 
 

WEST VILLAGES IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT 
PUBLIC HEARING & REGULAR BOARD MEETING 

JUNE 9, 2022 
 

 
A. CALL TO ORDER 
 
The June 9, 2022, Regular Board Meeting of the West Villages Improvement District (“WVID” 
or the “District”) was called to order at 11:50 a.m. in the Public Safety Bilding Training Room 
located at 19955 Preto Boulevard, Venice, Florida 34293 and via Zoom:  
https://us02web.zoom.us/j/87509654850, Meeting ID: 875 0965 4850, Dial In: 1-929-436-
2866. 
 
B. PROOF OF PUBLICATION 
 
Proof of publication was presented which showed the notice of the Regular Board Meeting had 
been published in the Sarasota Herald-Tribune on May 26, 2022, and June 2, 2022, as legally 
required. 
 
C. ESTABLISH A QUORUM 
 
It was determined that the attendance of the following Supervisors constituted a quorum, and it 
was in order to proceed with the meeting: 
 
Chairman John Luczynski Present in person 
Vice Chairman Steve Lewis Present in person 
Supervisor Tom Buckley Present via Zoom 
Supervisor Victor Dobrin Present in person 
Supervisor Christine Masney Present in person 
 
Staff members in attendance were: 
 
District Manager Todd Wodraska (via Zoom) Special District Services, Inc. 
District Manager William Crosley Special District Services, Inc. 
District Counsel Lindsay Whelan (via Zoom) Kutak Rock LLP 
District Engineer Richard Ellis  Dewberry 
District Operations’ Manager Mike Smith Special District Services, Inc. 
 
Also present were the following:  Kevin Shaughnessy, Lex Van Brero, Ghyll and Bruce Theurer, 
John Meisel, Mike Milak, and Bob Roehrig. 
 
D. ADDITIONS OR DELETIONS TO AGENDA 
 
There were no additions or deletions to the agenda. 
 
E. COMMENTS FROM THE PUBLIC  
 
Mr. Meisel made comments regarding the irrigation rate study that was approved by the District 
Board and reviewed the water use rates, capital recovery fee, and the well availability charged 
that resulted from the study.  Mr. Meisel also stated that the owner of wells 74 & 75 was the 

Page 13



Page 2 of 6 
 

Gran Paradiso Property Owners Association, but no well availability fee is being paid by users to 
Gran Paradiso.  Mr. Meisel requested that a public meeting be held to discuss the irrigation 
system.  An informal meeting is being planned and a date will be determined.  Once the meeting 
has occurred, there may be a more formal public workshop planned, if needed.  
   
Mr. Milak noted that there was a fish kill in the Renaissance irrigation lake and asked if there 
was any water testing being done.  Operations’ Manager Mike Smith stated that water testing 
was done as soon as the fish kill was detected.  The District contractor, Pond Professionals, came 
out on the Friday before Memorial Day and again on Memorial Day to clean up the dead fish. 
There was further discussion regarding this item.  
 
Mr. Roehrig asked for an update on the area along Gran Paradiso’s western boundary where foot 
and golf cart traffic was creating a path from usage.  This property is owned by the District and 
this matter was discussed at recent meetings and determined that because of the maintenance 
agreement between the District and Gran Paradiso, that area was the responsibility of the POA to 
maintain or landscape to help stop use of that area by residents.  If the POA wishes to improve 
the area with landscaping, that plan should first come to District staff for approval.    
 
F. APPROVAL OF MINUTES 
 
 1.  May 19, 2022, Regular Board Meeting 
 
The minutes of the May 19, 2022, Regular Board Meeting were presented for consideration. 
 
A MOTION was made by Mr. Lewis, seconded by Ms. Masney approving the minutes of the 
May 19, 2022, Regular Board Meeting, as presented. 
 
G. GENERAL DISTRICT MATTERS 
 
 1.  Consider Resolution No. 2022-08 – Adopting a Proposed Budget for Fiscal Year 
2022/2023 
 
Resolution No. 2022-08 was presented, entitled: 
 

RESOLUTION 2022-08 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF THE WEST 
VILLAGES IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT APPROVING PROPOSED 
BUDGETS FOR FISCAL YEAR 2022/2023; DECLARING SPECIAL 
ASSESSMENTS TO FUND THE PROPOSED BUDGETS PURSUANT TO 
CHAPTERS 170 AND 197, FLORIDA STATUTES, AND CHAPTER 2004-
456, LAWS OF FLORIDA; SETTING PUBLIC HEARINGS; 
ADDRESSING PUBLICATION; ADDRESSING SEVERABILITY; AND 
PROVIDING AN EFFECTIVE DATE.  

 
Mr. Crosley presented the Fiscal Year 2022/2023 Proposed Budget for District Proper and Units 
of Development Unit 1 through 9.  There was a review and discussion of District Proper and 
each individual Unit of Development and any increases or decreases to those budgets. The 
proposed expenditures are $3,891,501.  
 

Page 14



Page 3 of 6 
 

A MOTION was made by Mr. Lewis, seconded by Ms. Masney and passed unanimously 
adopting Resolution No. 2022-08, as presented, setting the Public Hearing for August 18, 2022. 
 

2.  Consider Change Order No. 1 under Work Authorization No. 51 – Miscellaneous 
Engineering Services 
 
It was explained that Change Order No. 1 under Work Authorization No. 51 to Stantec was in 
the amount of $10,000 and related to the boundary amendment and will be developer funded. 
 
A MOTION was made by Mr. Lewis, seconded by Ms. Masney and passed unanimously 
approving Change Order No. 1 under Work Authorization No. 51 to Stantec in the amount of 
$10,000, which is related to the boundary amendment and will be developer funded 
 
H. UNIT OF DEVELOPMENT NO. 3 
 
 1.  Consider Resolution No. 2022-09 – Awarding U.S. 41 Project 
 
Resolution No. 2022-09 was presented, entitled: 
 

RESOLUTION 2022-09 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF 
THE WEST VILLAGES IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT 
REGARDING THE AWARD OF A CONSTRUCTION 
CONTRACT; PROVIDING A SEVERABILITY CLAUSE; 
AND PROVIDING AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 
DeMoya Group was the only contractor who submitted a bid for this project. Mr. Malave of 
Dewberry indicated that this bid seemed to be a competitive bid and was a reasonable price in 
relation to current projects which are similar. DeMoya Group is a very reputable firm and other 
Dewberry staff members are currently working with DeMoya on other projects and only speak 
very favorably of them. The contract amount awarded is for the amount of $9,305,602.04.  
 
A MOTION was made by Ms. Masney, seconded by Mr. Lewis and passed unanimously 
adopting Resolution No. 2022-09, awarding the U.S. 41 Project to DeMoya Group in the amount 
of $9,305,602.04, as presented. 
 
The Regular Board Meeting was then recessed and the Public Hearing was opened. 
 
I. UNIT OF DEVELOPMENT NO. 9 
 
 1.  Public Hearing on Establishment of Unit of Development No. 9 
  a. Proof of Publication 
 
Proof of publication was presented which showed the notice of the Public Hearing had been 
published in the Sarasota Herald-Tribune on May 24, 2022, and May 31, 2022, as legally 
required. 
 
  b. Receive Public Comment on Confirming Unit of Development No. 9 

Page 15



Page 4 of 6 
 

There was no public comment on the establishment of Unit of Development No. 9. 
 
The Public Hearing was then closed and the Regular Board Meeting was reconvened. 
 
  c. Consider Resolution No. 2022-10 – Confirming Unit of Development No. 9 
 
Resolution No. 2022-10 was presented, entitled: 
 

RESOLUTION 2022-10 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF 
THE WEST VILLAGES IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT 
APPROVING AND CONFIRMING THE DESIGNATION OF 
THE “WEST VILLAGES IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT 
UNIT OF DEVELOPMENT NO. 9;” PROVIDING FOR THE 
RECORDING OF A NOTICE REGARDING SAME; 
PROVIDING FOR SEVERABILITY; AND PROVIDING AN 
EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 
Ms. Whelan went over the boundary map and described the area as approximately 470 acres.  It 
was noted that the proposed school site was not included within the boundaries of Unit of 
Development No. 9.  
 
A MOTION was made by Mr. Lewis, seconded by Ms. Masney and passed unanimously 
adopting Resolution No. 2022-10, as presented. 
 
 2.  Consider Resolution No. 2022-11 – Adopting Bond Validation Resolution 
 
Resolution No. 2022-11 was presented, entitled: 
 

RESOLUTION 2022-11 
 

A RESOLUTION OF WEST VILLAGES IMPROVEMENT 
DISTRICT AUTHORIZING THE ISSUANCE OF NOT 
EXCEEDING $63,905,000 PRINCIPAL AMOUNT WEST 
VILLAGES IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT SPECIAL 
ASSESSMENT REVENUE BONDS (UNIT OF 
DEVELOPMENT NO. 9) IN ONE OR MORE SERIES, FOR 
THE PURPOSE OF FINANCING THE CONSTRUCTION 
AND/OR ACQUISITION BY THE DISTRICT OF CERTAIN 
PUBLIC IMPROVEMENTS PERMITTED BY THE WEST 
VILLAGES IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT ACT AND OTHER 
APPLICABLE FLORIDA LAW; APPROVING A FORM OF 
A MASTER TRUST INDENTURE; APPROVING AND 
APPOINTING A TRUSTEE; AUTHORIZING THE 
COMMENCEMENT OF VALIDATION PROCEEDINGS 
RELATING TO THE FOREGOING BONDS; 
AUTHORIZING AND APPROVING OTHER MATTERS 
RELATING TO THE FOREGOING BONDS; AND 
PROVIDING AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

Page 16



Page 5 of 6 
 

It was explained that this resolution authorizes District staff to petition the court for their consent 
to issue a maximum cap of $63,905,000 for the principle purpose of financing the construction 
and acquisition of the project for specific benefit of certain lands.  
 
A MOTION was made by Mr. Lewis, seconded by Ms. Masney and passed unanimously 
adopting Resolution No. 2022-11, as presented. 
 
J. ADMINISTRATIVE MATTERS 
 

1. District Engineer 
 

There was no District Engineer Report at this time. 
 

2.  District Attorney 

There was no District Attorney Report at this time. 
 

3. District Operations’ Manager 
 
It was noted that District Staff was looking at some sections of roadways that may need 
resurfacing. Those areas are at the rear entrance of Islandwalk on Preto Boulevard and some 
sections that are within Gran Paradiso.  
 
 4.  District Manager 
  
Mr. Crosley reported that the District was in receipt of a letter of resignation from Mr. Dobrin, 
effective November 9, 2022.  Mr. Dobrin has submitted his intent to run for the City of North 
Port Commission Seat 5.  Mr. Crosley wished him the best of luck seeking election and thanked 
him for his service to the District over the past 4 years.  Mr. Dobrin noted that he would thank 
the team on his last day and that he appreciated that sometimes we are very passionate, but we 
are all good people who respect each other. 
 
It was noted that the next meeting was scheduled for July 14, 2022. 
 
K. BOARD MEMBER COMMENTS 
 
There were no further Board Member comments. 
 
L. ADJOURNMENT 
 
There being no further business to come before the Board, the Regular Board Meeting was 
adjourned at 1:20 p.m. on a MOTION made by Mr. Lewis, seconded by Mr. Dobrin and passed 
unanimously. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 17



Page 6 of 6 
 

_____________________________  ______________________________ 
Secretary/Assistant Secretary   Chair/Vice Chair 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 18



1 
 

RESOLUTION 2022-12 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF 
THE WEST VILLAGES IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT 
CANVASSING AND CERTIFYING THE RESULTS OF THE 
LANDOWNERS’ REFERENDUM REGARDING THE 
AMENDMENT TO CHAPTER 2004-456, LAWS OF FLORIDA, 
AND PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE 

 
WHEREAS, the West Villages Improvement District (the “District”) is a local unit of 

special-purpose government created and existing pursuant to Chapter 2004-456, Laws of Florida, as 
amended, being situated within the City of North Port and Sarasota County; and 
 

WHEREAS, on March 10, 2022 the Legislature approved, and on June 24, 2022, the 
Governor approved Chapter 2022-241, Laws of Florida, amending the boundary of the District (the 
“Amendment”); and 

 
WHEREAS, Section 3 of the Amendment provides that the boundary amendment provided 

therein shall take effect upon approval by a majority vote of the owners of land within the District, as 
amended, who are not exempt from ad valorem taxes/assessments and who are present in person or 
by proxy held within ninety (90) days of the effective date of the Amendment; and 
 

WHEREAS, following proper publication of the notice thereof, such landowner referendum 
was held on July 14, 2022 (hereinafter, the “Landowners’ Referendum”), at which the below recited 
results were duly approved by virtue of the votes cast; and 
 

WHEREAS, the Board of Supervisors (the “Board”) of the District, by means of this 
Resolution, desire to canvas the votes and declare and certify the results of said the Landowners’ 
Referendum. 
 

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF 
SUPERVISORS OF THE WEST VILLAGES IMPROVEMENT 
DISTRICT: 

 
 1. REFERENDUM RESULTS.  The following results are found, certified, and 
declared to have been duly approved at the Landowners’ Referendum by the votes cast in favor at 
such referendum as shown below: 
 

Approve Amendment 
 Yes Votes __________ 
 No Votes __________ 

 
 The above amount represents a majority of the owners of land within the District, as 
amended, who are not exempt from ad valorem taxes/assessments and who are present in person or 

Page 19



2 
 

by proxy at such Landowners’ Election. 
 
2. APPROVAL.  In accordance with Chapter 2004-456, Laws of Florida, as amended, 

and by virtue of the number of votes cast for the approval of the Amendment, the Amendment is 
hereby confirmed by the Board to have been approved by a majority of the landowners within the 
District. 

 
3. EFFECTIVE DATE.  This Resolution shall become effective immediately upon its 

adoption. 
 
PASSED AND ADOPTED THIS 14th DAY OF JULY, 2022. 

 
 
 
Attest: 
 
 
            
Secretary/Assistant Secretary  
 

WEST VILLAGES IMPROVEMENT 
DISTRICT 
 
 
      
            
Chairman, Board of Supervisors 
 

 

Page 20



RESOLUTION 2022-13 
 
A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF WEST 
VILLAGES IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT DESIGNATING A DATE, TIME 
AND LOCATION OF A PUBLIC HEARING REGARDING THE DISTRICT'S 
INTENT TO USE THE UNIFORM METHOD FOR THE LEVY, 
COLLECTION, AND ENFORCEMENT OF NON-AD VALOREM SPECIAL 
ASSESSMENTS AS AUTHORIZED BY SECTION 197.3632, FLORIDA 
STATUTES; AUTHORIZING THE PUBLICATION OF THE NOTICE OF 
SUCH HEARING; AND PROVIDING AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 
 
WHEREAS,  the West Villages Improvement District (the “District”) is a local unit of 

special-purpose government creating and existing pursuant to Chapter 2004-456, Laws of Florida, as 
amended (the “Act”), and is situated in the City of North Port, Florida and unincorporated Sarasota 
County, Florida; and 

 
WHEREAS, pursuant to the provisions the Act, the District is authorized to levy, collect and 

enforce certain special assessments, which include benefit and maintenance assessments and further 
authorizes the Board of Supervisors of the District (hereinafter the “Board”) to levy, collect and 
enforce special assessments pursuant to the Act, and Chapters 170 and 197, Florida Statutes. 

 
WHEREAS, the District desires to use the Uniform Method for the levy, collection and 

enforcement of non-ad valorem special assessments authorized by Section 197.3632, Florida 
Statutes (the “Uniform Method”). 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF 
SUPERVISORS OF WEST VILLAGES IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT: 
 
SECTION 1.  A Public Hearing will be held to adopt the Uniform Method on August 18, 

2022, at 11:00 a.m., at the Public Safety Building Training Room located at 19955 Preto Blvd., 
Venice, Florida 34293. 

 
SECTION 2.  The District Secretary is directed to publish notice of the hearing in 

accordance with Section 197.3632, Florida Statutes, and the Board ratifies District staff’s actions in 
coordinating any such publication(s) in advance of the adoption of this resolution.  

 
SECTION 3.  This Resolution shall become effective immediately upon its adoption.  
 
PASSED AND ADOPTED this 14th day of July, 2022. 
 
 
ATTEST:     WEST VILLAGES IMPROVEMENT  
      DISTRICT 
 
 
___________________________  ______________________________ 
Secretary/Assistant Secretary   Chairman 

Page 21



 

1 
4883-9532-4194.1  

This instrument was prepared by and 
upon recording should be returned to: 
 
Lindsay C. Whelan 
Kutak Rock LLP  
P.O. Box 10230       
Tallahassee, Florida 32302   
 
 

 
AGREEMENT REGARDING THE INCLUSION OF  

CERTAIN REAL PROPERTY IN UNIT OF DEVELOPMENT NO. 1  
 

[DIOCESE PROPERTY & HOSPITAL PROPERTY] 
 
 THIS AGREEMENT (the “Agreement”) is made and entered into this 14th day of July, 
2022 (the “Effective Date”), by and between: 
          

WEST VILLAGES IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT, a local unit of special-purpose 
government established pursuant to Chapter 2004-456, Laws of Florida, with a 
mailing address of 2501A Burns Road, Palm Beach Gardens, Florida 33410 (the 
“District”); and 
 
MANASOTA BEACH RANCHLANDS, LLLP, a Florida limited liability limited 
partnership and the owner of certain lands within the District, with a mailing 
address of 4901 Vineland Road, Suite 450, Orlando, Florida 32811 
(“Manasota”); and 

 
MAIN STREET RANCHLANDS, LLLP, a Florida limited liability limited 
partnership and the owner of certain lands within the District, with a mailing 
address of 4901 Vineland Road, Suite 450, Orlando, Florida 32811 (“Main 
Street,” and together with Manasota, the “Landowner”). 

 
RECITALS 

 
 WHEREAS, the District is a local unit of special-purpose government created and existing 
pursuant to Chapter 2004-456, Laws of Florida, as amended (the “Special Act”) for the purpose 
of constructing, acquiring, and maintaining infrastructure improvements and services; and 
 
 WHEREAS, in accordance with Section 11 of the Special Act, the District previously 
adopted Resolution 2004-13 establishing Unit of Development No. 1 within the District (“Unit 
No. 1”); and 
 

WHEREAS, on August 31, 2017, the District issued its West Villages Improvement 
District Special Assessment Revenue Refunding Bonds, Series 2017 (Unit of Development No. 
1),  in the aggregate principal amount of $32,165,000 (the “Series 2017 Bonds”), to finance the 

Page 22



 

2 
4883-9532-4194.1  

design, construction, and/or acquisition of certain master public infrastructure improvements and 
facilities within Unit No. 1 i) relative to the “Series 2007 Project” as more particularly identified 
in that certain Amended Unit of Development No. 1 Plan of Improvements dated November 20, 
2015, and ii) relative to the “Series 2017 Project” as more particularly identified in that certain 
Plan of Improvements for 2017 Refinancing, dated June 29, 2017 (collectively, the “Plan of 
Improvements”); and 
 

WHEREAS, in conjunction with the issuance of the Series 2017 Bonds, the District levied 
debt service special assessments (the “Series 2017 Debt Assessments”) on all developable land 
within Unit No. 1 in order to secure the Series 2017 Bonds i) relative to the Series 2007 Project 
in accordance with that certain Unit 1 Report of Engineer, dated March 14, 2006 and that certain 
First Amendment, dated April 25, 2006, and ii) relative to the Series 2017 Project in accordance 
with that certain Assessment Methodology Report of Benefits for 2017 Refinancing, dated July 
14, 2017 (collectively, the “Original Assessment Report of Benefits”); and  
 

WHEREAS, the Landowner is the collectively the owner of the entirety of the real 
property described in the attached Exhibit A (hereinafter, the “Property”) consisting of 
approximately 148 acres which is located within the jurisdictional boundaries of the District; and 

 
WHEREAS, the Landowner has approached the District and requested that it amend the 

current boundary of Unit No. 1 to include the Property within such unit (hereinafter, the “Unit 
Amendment”) and the District is amenable to approving the Unit Amendment pursuant to the 
terms hereof. 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, based upon good and valuable consideration and mutual covenants of 
the parties, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the parties agree as 
follows: 
 
 SECTION 1.   RECITALS.  The above Recitals are true and correct and are hereby 
incorporated herein by this reference. 
  

SECTION 2.   AMENDMENT OF UNIT NO. 1.  Commencing as of the Effective Date of 
this Agreement, the Property shown in Exhibit A shall thereupon and thereafter be a part of and 
included within boundaries of the District’s Unit No. 1.  By execution of this Agreement, the 
Landowner hereby consents to the inclusion of the Property shown in Exhibit A in Unit No. 1 
and the District hereby approves the inclusion of the Property shown in Exhibit A in Unit No. 1. 
 

SECTION 3. BENEFIT TO PROPERTY.  The Landowner acknowledges and agrees that 
the Property receives the same benefits as are reasonably available to it as similarly classified 
parcels of real property within Unit No. 1 as set forth in more detail in the Plan of 
Improvements and the Original Assessment Report of Benefits, as may be amended from time to 
time. 

 
SECTION 4. IMPOSITION AND ALLOCATION OF NON-AD VALOREM SPECIAL 

ASSESSMENTS.  

Page 23



 

3 
4883-9532-4194.1  

 
A. The Landowner acknowledges and agrees that the Property shall be subject to the 

same apportionment, method of assessment, and rate of non-ad valorem 
assessment as is or will be applied, assessed and levied annually by the District 
upon other similarly classified parcels of real property located within Unit No. 1.  
In furtherance thereof, the District has prepared that certain Second Amendment to 
the Unit 1 Report of Engineer relative to the Series 2007 Project and Amended 
and Restated Assessment Methodology Report of Benefits for 2017 Refinancing 
relative to the Series 2017 Project, each dated July 14, 2022 (collectively, with the 
Original Assessment Report of Benefits, the “2022 Assessment Report”), 
attached hereto as Composite Exhibit B, setting forth the manner in which the 
Property shall be assessed.  Landowner hereby consents to the terms of the 2022 
Assessment Report. 
 

B. Promptly after the Effective Date of this Agreement, the District shall undertake 
an assessment hearing to levy and impose Series 2017 Debt Assessments on the 
Property pursuant to the Plan of Improvements and the 2022 Assessment Report.  
The Landowner acknowledges and agrees that the District shall undertake such 
process and waives its right to protest the allocation of the Series 2017 Debt 
Assessments on the Property so long as such allocation is in accordance with the 
Plan of Improvements and the 2022 Assessment Report. 

 
 SECTION 5. AGREEMENT.  This instrument shall constitute the final and complete 
expression of the agreement between the parties relating to the subject matter of this Agreement. 
 

SECTION 6. AMENDMENTS.  Amendments to and waivers of the provisions contained 
in this Agreement may be made only by an instrument in writing executed by both parties hereto. 
 
 SECTION 7. AUTHORIZATION.  The execution of this Agreement has been duly 
authorized by the appropriate body or official of all parties to this Agreement, each party has 
complied with all the requirements of law, and each party has full power and authority to comply 
with the terms and provisions of this instrument. 
 
 SECTION 8. NOTICES.  All notices, requests, consents and other communications under 
this Agreement (“Notices”) shall be in writing and shall be delivered, mailed by First Class Mail, 
postage prepaid, or overnight delivery service, to the parties, as follows: 
 
 A. If to the District:  West Villages Improvement District 
      2501A Burns Road 
      Palm Beach Gardens, Florida 33410 
      Attn: Todd Wodraska 
 
  With a copy to:  Kutak Rock LLP 
      P.O. Box 10230 
      Tallahassee, Florida 32302 

Page 24



 

4 
4883-9532-4194.1  

      Attn:  Lindsay Whelan 
 

 B.   If to Landowner:    Manasota Beach Ranchlands, LLLP 
      Main Street Ranchlands, LLLP 
      4901 Vineland Road, Suite 450 

Orlando, Florida 32811 
      Attn: Rick Severance 
      Attn: Leslie Candes 
 
 Except as otherwise provided in this Agreement, any Notice shall be deemed received 
only upon actual delivery at the address set forth in this Agreement.  Notices delivered after 5:00 
p.m. (at the place of delivery) or on a non-business day, shall be deemed received on the next 
business day.  If any time for giving Notice contained in this Agreement would otherwise expire 
on a non-business day, the Notice period shall be extended to the next succeeding business day.  
Saturdays, Sundays, and legal holidays recognized by the United States government shall not be 
regarded as business days.  Counsel for the parties may deliver Notice on behalf of the parties.  
Any party or other person to whom Notices are to be sent or copied may notify the other parties 
and addresses of any change in name or address to which Notices shall be sent by providing the 
same on five (5) days written notice to the parties and addresses set forth in this Agreement. 
 
 SECTION 9. THIRD PARTY BENEFICIARIES.  This Agreement is solely for the benefit 
of the formal parties to this Agreement and no right or cause of action shall accrue upon or by 
reason hereof, to or for the benefit of any third party not a formal party to this Agreement.  
Nothing in this Agreement expressed or implied is intended or shall be construed to confer upon 
any person or corporation other than the parties to this Agreement any right, remedy or claim 
under or by reason of this Agreement or any provisions or conditions hereof; and all of the 
provisions, representations, covenants and conditions contained in this Agreement shall inure to 
the sole benefit of and shall be binding upon the parties to this Agreement and their respective 
representatives, successors, and assigns. 
 

SECTION 10. CONTROLLING LAW; VENUE.  This Agreement and the provisions 
contained herein shall be construed, interpreted, and controlled according to the laws of the State 
of Florida.  Venue shall be in Sarasota County, Florida. 
 

SECTION 11. PUBLIC RECORDS.  The Landowner understands and agrees that all 
documents of any kind provided to the District or to District staff relative to this Agreement may 
be public records and will be treated as such in accord with Florida law. 
 

SECTION 12. ARM’S LENGTH TRANSACTION.  This Agreement has been negotiated fully 
between the parties as an arm's length transaction. The parties participated fully in the 
preparation of this Agreement with the assistance of their respective counsel.  In the case of a 
dispute concerning the interpretation of any provision of this Agreement, the parties are each 
deemed to have drafted, chosen, and selected the language, and doubtful language will not be 
interpreted or construed against any party. 

 

Page 25



 

5 
4883-9532-4194.1  

SECTION 13. HEADINGS FOR CONVENIENCE ONLY.  The descriptive headings in this 
Agreement are for convenience only and shall not control nor affect the meaning or construction 
of any of the provisions of this Agreement. 

 
SECTION 14. COUNTERPARTS.  This Agreement may be executed in any number of 

counterparts, each of which when executed and delivered shall be an original; however, all such 
counterparts together shall constitute but one and the same instrument.  Signature and 
acknowledgment pages, if any, may be detached from the counterparts and attached to a single 
copy of this document to physically form one document. 
 

SECTION 15.   RECORDING.  This Agreement shall be recorded in the Official Records 
of Sarasota County, Florida and all terms, conditions, and covenants contained herein shall be 
deemed to run with the land. 

 
 
 
 
 
 

[SIGNATURES ON NEXT PAGE]

Page 26



 

6 
4883-9532-4194.1  

IN WITNESS THEREOF, the parties execute this Agreement the day and year first written 
above. 
        
 
 
ATTEST:      WEST VILLAGES IMPROVEMENT 

DISTRICT  
 
 
              
Assistant Secretary     John Luczynski, Chairman 
 
 
WITNESS: 
 
 
_______________________________ 
Print Name: _____________________ 
 
 
 
STATE OF FLORIDA 
COUNTY OF _____________ 
 

The foregoing instrument was acknowledged before me by means of ▢ physical presence 
or ▢ online notarization, this    day of ________________, 2022, by John Luczynski, as 
Chairman of the Board of Supervisors of West Villages Improvement District, on its behalf.  He 
[___] is personally known to me or [___] produced ______________________________ as 
identification. 
 
 
      __________________________________________ 
      Notary Public, State of Florida 
 
      Personally Known       
      OR Produced Identification      
      Type of Identification _______________________ 

Page 27



 

7 
4883-9532-4194.1  

WITNESS:      Manasota Beach Ranchlands LLLP, a 
Florida limited liability limited partnership 

       
By: Thomas Ranch Villages GP, LLC, a 
Delaware limited liability company, as its 
General Partner 

   
       By: Thomas Ranch Manager, LLC, a 
Print Name:      Delaware limited liability company, as its 

Manager 
        

__________________________________ 
By: _______________________________ 
Title:      

         
WITNESS: 
 
 
______________________________ 
Print Name: ____________________ 
 
 
 
 
 
STATE OF FLORIDA 
COUNTY OF _____________ 
 

The foregoing instrument was acknowledged before me by means of ▢ physical presence 
or ▢ online notarization, this    day of ________________, 2022, by ________________, 
as _________________ of Thomas Ranch Manager, LLC, on its behalf.  He/she [___] is 
personally known to me or [___] produced ______________________________ as 
identification. 
 
 
      __________________________________________ 
      Notary Public, State of Florida 
 
      Personally Known       
      OR Produced Identification      
      Type of Identification _______________________ 

 
 
 
 

Page 28



 

8 
4883-9532-4194.1  

WITNESS:      Main Street Ranchlands LLLP, a 
Florida limited liability limited partnership 

       
By: Thomas Ranch Villages GP, LLC, a 
Delaware limited liability company, as its 
General Partner 

   
       By: Thomas Ranch Manager, LLC, a 
Print Name:      Delaware limited liability company, as its 

Manager 
        

__________________________________ 
By: _______________________________ 
Title:      

         
WITNESS: 
 
 
______________________________ 
Print Name: ____________________ 
 
 
 
 
 
STATE OF FLORIDA 
COUNTY OF _____________ 
 

The foregoing instrument was acknowledged before me by means of ▢ physical presence 
or ▢ online notarization, this    day of ________________, 2022, by ________________, 
as _________________ of Thomas Ranch Manager, LLC, on its behalf.  He/she [___] is 
personally known to me or [___] produced ______________________________ as 
identification. 
 
 
      __________________________________________ 
      Notary Public, State of Florida 
 
      Personally Known       
      OR Produced Identification      
      Type of Identification _______________________ 

 
 
 

 

Page 29



 

4883-9532-4194.1  

EXHIBIT A 
 

Legal Description of the Property 
 

Diocese Property 
 
 

 
 
 
Hospital Property 
 

Page 30



 

4883-9532-4194.1  

Page 31



 

4883-9532-4194.1  

COMPOSITE EXHIBIT B 
 

2022 Assessment Report 
 

Page 32



 

  

 

 

WEST VILLAGES 
IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT  
Unit of Development No. 1 

Second Amendment to the Engineer’s Report 

JULY 14, 2022 

 

 

 
  

 

 

SUBMITTED BY 

Dewberry Engineers Inc. 
2201 Cantu Court 
Suite 107 
Sarasota, Florida 
Phone: 941.702.9672 
Contact: Richard Ellis 

SUBMITTED TO 

West Villages Improvement District 
19503 S. West Villages Parkway Suite #A3 
Venice, Florida 34293 
Phone: 941.244.2703   

Page 33



West Villages Improvement District Unit of Development No. 1 
Second Amendment to the Engineer’s Report 
July 14, 2022 
  

   1 
 

 

1. Purpose and Scope 

The purpose of this Second Amendment to the Engineer’s Report prepared by Kimley Horn on March 14, 
2006, as amended by the First Amendment dated April 25, 2006, is to revise and update the area and 
boundary. The new area will be 8,480.7 acres. The cost of the Project, as described in the approved Plan 
of Improvements, as amended, is $49,896,395.31. This total benefit amount divided by 16,167 of half-
acre or less portions of lands that will be specially benefitted by the Project equals $3,086.31 of benefit 
per half-acre of less portion of land. An updated sketch and legal description for the revised boundary is 
included in Exhibit 1. There are no additional changes to the original Engineer’s Report.   

Page 34



Page 35



Page 36



Page 37



Page 38



Page 39



Page 40



 
 
 

WEST VILLAGES IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT 
UNIT 1  

Series 2017 Refunding Bonds 
  
 

Amended and Restated Assessment Methodology Report of Benefits 
for 2017 Refinancing  

 
 
 
  

JULY 14, 2022 
  
  
  
 

   
Submitted by: 

  

Special District Services, Inc. 
2501A Burns Road 

Palm Beach Gardens, Fla. 33410 
         

 
 

Toll Free: 877.737.4922 
Fax: 561.630.4923 

www.sdsinc.org 
 
 
 
1.0 INTRODUCTION 

Page 41



1 
 

 
The West Villages is a development consisting of residential Neighborhoods and Villages with 
associated Neighborhood and Village Centers, and a proposed mixed-use Town Center containing 
approximately 12,440 acres located in the City of North Port, Florida.  The West Villages is 
contained within the West Villages Improvement District (the "District").  The West Villages 
Improvement District ("WVID") was created by and operates under Chapter 2004-456, Laws 
of Florida (the "Act") and operates pursuant to the Act and applicable provisions of Chapter 298, 
Florida Statutes.   Unit of Development No. 1 ("Unit 1") consists of all of the property currently 
contained within WVID that is located within the City of North Port, Florida. Unit 1 was 
designated to provide for Master Planning, Standards Development, plus the construction, 
financing, long-term administration, and management of certain public infrastructure required 
for the District.  The purpose of this Amended and Restated Report is to revise the acreage and 
half-acre or less calculations for the District and Unit 1, respectively, after a boundary amendment 
adding additional acreage to Unit 1. 
 
In accordance with that certain Report of Engineer, dated March 14, 2006, First Amendment to the 
Report of Engineer,  dated April 26, 2006, prepared by the then-current District Engineer, Kimley-
Horn and Associates, Inc., and the Second Amendment to the Report of Engineer, dated July 14, 
2022, prepared by Dewberry & Associates, Inc. (the “Original Reports”), along with other 
associated reports, the District levied and imposed special assessments securing its $34,895,000 in 
Special Assessment Bonds, Series 2007 (Unit of Development No. 1) (the “Series 2007 Bonds”) 
and its $33,000,000 in Special Assessment Revenue Refunding Bonds, Series 2017 (Unit of 
Development No. 1) (the “Series 2017 Bonds”).   

In such reports, the District Engineer specifically determined: 

“that allocating the benefits of the Project based on the number of portions of land 
of a half-acre or less is the basis selected for apportioning the special benefits.  
Planning studies prepared by the District Engineer for the Unit have established a 
projected number of half-acre or less portions of land within the Unit.  These half-
acre or less portions of land are employed in the special assessment methodology 
for the determination, allocation and apportionment of the benefits. 

For the purpose of this report, the total half-acre or less portions of land in the Unit 
is 16,167.  The District Engineer has determined that the total of 16,167 half-acre 
or less portions of land will be specially benefited by the Project. 
 
The District Engineer has estimated that the total benefits to be received by the 
lands in Unit 1 from the Project described in the proposed Plan of Improvements 
to be $49,896,395.31.  This amount of total benefits divided by 16,167 (the 
estimated and projected number half-acre or less portions of land in the Unit) 
equals $$3,086.31 of benefit per half-acre or less portion of land. 

Page 42



2 
 

 
For purposes of this Report, the District Engineer has determined that the 
calculation of the half-acre portions of land shall be as follows: 
 

a) Each parcel of land not subject to a legally constituted condominium and 
having an area less than or equal to one-half acre shall represent one 
“Half-Acre Portion of Land” 

b) Each parcel of land not subject to a legally constituted condominium and 
having an area (the “Total Area”) equal to or greater than one acre shall 
constitute a number of “Half-Acre Portions of Land” equal to the sum of (i) 
2 times the number of whole acres (the “Whole Acres”) included within the 
Total Area, plus (ii) that number of Half Acre Portions of Land equal to the 
result of (x) the Total Area minus the Whole Acres divided  by (y) 0.50, 
rounded up to the next higher whole number. 

c) Any land that is subject to a legally constituted condominium shall not be 
allocated benefits pursuant to (a) or (b) above, but each condominium unit 
shall constitute one Half Acre Portion of Land. 

d) The Determined Benefits allocated to each parcel of land or condominium 
unit in the Unit shall equal the total Determined Benefit multiplied by the 
number of Half-Acre Portions of Land represented by such parcel or 
condominium divided by the total Half-Acre Portions of Land for all parcels 
and condominium in the Unit. 

e) The allocation of benefits shall be performed annually based upon the final 
tax roll for the Unit.” 

 
The District has refunded the Series 2007 Bonds (the “Series 2017 Bonds”) to, among other things, 
take advantage of interest rate savings which will result in new capital to be used for newly-
contemplated infrastructure improvements while maintaining the same per parcel annual debt 
assessment.  The purpose of this report is to memorialize this refinancing and provide assurance 
there will be no change in the non-ad valorem assessments to secure the Series 2017 Bonds (the 
“Series 2017 Assessments”).   
 
Table 1 provides a computation of the annual non-ad valorem assessments assessed, imposed and 
levied against and peculiar to each assessable residential unit subject to the Series 2017 
Assessments and demonstrates that the Series 2017 Assessments provide sufficient revenue to 
meet the maximum annual debt service requirement for the Series 2017 Bonds.  The anticipated 
effect of the refunding of the Series 2007 Bonds will result in an increased par debt amount of 
outstanding District debt.  However, due to the reduced interest rate associated with the re-
issuance, the annual payment of debt assessments will stay the same and the new capital will be 
used for newly-contemplated infrastructure improvements. 

 

Page 43



3 
 

In order to ensure that there is sufficient special assessment revenue to pay the Series 2017 Bonds, 
the District is required to perform an analysis which requires a determination of the amount of 
non-ad valorem assessments assessed, imposed and levied against and peculiar to each product 
type in order to meet the required debt service on the Series 2017 Bonds.  Based on a Series 2017 
refunding bond size of $32,165,000, the maximum annual debt service for the Series 2017 Bonds 
is $2,377,180, which has not been adjusted to include a 4% discount for early payment of 
assessments, a 1% fee for the Tax Collector, and a 1% service fee for the Property Appraiser (see 
attached Table 1).   
 
Since the total amount of the Series 2007 Bonds and the Series 2017 Bonds new capital do not 
exceed $44,906,755.77, which is 90% of the total benefits number of $49,896,395.31 as described 
in the Original Reports, the benefit findings discussed in the report and Exhibit D as well as the 
16,167 units (the estimated and projected number half-acre or less portions of land in the Unit) and 
methodology described in the Original Reports do not change and are incorporated herein by 
reference relative to the Series 2017 Bonds.  In that regard, it is concluded that the allocation of 
special benefits remain unchanged as they flow peculiar to each acre, lot or unit within the District 
and that the apportionment of the special benefits for the Series 2017 Assessments remains fair 
and reasonable.  It is also concluded that the Series 2017 Assessments remain not in excess of the 
special benefits peculiar to the property as apportioned. 
 
Please note that Special District Services, Inc. is a management company and does not hold a 
certificate of authorization to perform engineering services in Florida.  As such, this report is not 
the Report of Engineer as referenced in Florida Statutes 298.     

  

Page 44



 
 
 

Table 1 
 

Series 2017 Bonds Summary – Note: Total Maximum Annual Assessment Per Unit Does NOT Change Due to the Refunding 

Product Type 
Number 
of Units 

Series 2007 
Bonds 

Maximum 
Annual 

Assessment 
per Unit* 

Total 
Maximum 

Annual 
Assessment  

Series 2007 
Existing Par 
Amount Per 
Unit Type 

Series 2007 
Existing Par 
Amount Per 

Unit 

Series 2017 
Future Par 
Amount Per 
Unit Type 

Series 2017 
Future Par 
Amount Per 

Unit 

Series 2017 
Bonds 

Maximum 
Annual 

Assessment 
per Unit* 

All 16,167 $144.56 $2,377,180 $29,575,000 $1,829 $32,165,000 $1,990 $144.56 
* Does not include discounts and fees 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Page 45



1 
4877-1034-1922.1  

This instrument was prepared by and 
upon recording should be returned to: 
 
Lindsay C. Whelan 
Kutak Rock LLP  
P.O. Box 10230       
Tallahassee, Florida 32302   
 
 

 
AGREEMENT REGARDING THE INCLUSION OF  

CERTAIN REAL PROPERTY IN UNIT OF DEVELOPMENT NO. 1  
 

[PINE STREET PROPERTY] 
 
 THIS AGREEMENT (the “Agreement”) is made and entered into this 14th day of July, 
2022 (the “Effective Date”), by and between: 
          

WEST VILLAGES IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT, a local unit of special-purpose 
government established pursuant to Chapter 2004-456, Laws of Florida, and the 
owner of certain lands within the District, with a mailing address of 2501A Burns 
Road, Palm Beach Gardens, Florida 33410 (the “District”); and 
 
DD SUNGLOW BLVD, LLC, a Georgia limited liability company and the owner of 
certain lands within the District, with a mailing address of 403 Corporate Center 
Drive, Suite 201, Stockbridge, GA 30281 (“DD Sunglow”); and 
 
RODNEY A. SHORT, the owner of certain lands within the District, with a mailing 
address of 17211 Connor Quay Court, Cornelius, North Carolina, 28301 (“Rodney 
Short”); and 
 
WIDEWATERS MAGNUM 2020 COMPANY, LLC, a Delaware limited liability 
company and the owner of certain lands within the District, with a mailing address 
of 5845 Widewaters Parkway, Suite 100, East Syracuse, New York 13057 
(“Widewaters”); and 

 
AMERICAN EQUITIES PARTNERS, LLC, a Florida limited liability company and the 
owner of certain lands within the District, with a mailing address of 535 
Honeyflower Loop, Bradenton, Florida 34212 (“American Equities”); and 
 
WP VENICE LLC, a Delaware limited liability company and the owner of certain 
lands within the District, with a mailing address of 533 South Third Street, Suite 
100, Minneapolis, Minnesota 55415 (“WP Venice”); and 
 
FULBRIGHT HOLDINGS LLC, a Texas limited liability company and the owner of 
certain lands within the District, with a mailing address of 1134 Heather Lane, 
Carrollton, Texas 75010 (“Fulbright”); and 

Page 46



2 
4877-1034-1922.1  

 
TWENTY THREE REALTY LLC, a New York limited liability company and the 
owner of certain lands within the District, with a mailing address of 254 Katonah 
Avenue, Katonah, New York 10583 (“Twenty Three”); and 
 
MAIN STREET RANCHLANDS, LLLP, a Florida limited liability limited partnership 
and the owner of certain lands within the District, with a mailing address of 4901 
Vineland Road, Suite 450, Orlando, Florida 32811 (“Main Street”); and 
 
TOLL SOUTHEAST LP COMPANY INC., a Delaware corporation and the owner of 
certain lands within the District, with a mailing address of 24201 Walden Center 
Drive, Suite 204, Bonita Springs, Florida 34134 (“Toll”); and 
 
MANASOTA BEACH RANCHLANDS, LLLP, a Florida limited liability limited 
partnership and the owner of certain lands within the District, with a mailing 
address of 4901 Vineland Road, Suite 450, Orlando, Florida 32811 (“Manasota”); 
and 
 
LENNAR HOMES, LLC, a Florida limited liability company and the owner of certain 
lands within the District, with a mailing address of 700 NW 107th Avenue, Suite 
400, Miami, Florida 33172 (“Lennar,” and together with the District, DD Sunglow, 
Rodney Short, Widewaters, American Equities, WP Venice Fulbright, Twenty 
Three, Main Street, Toll, and Manasota, collectively, the “Landowners”). 

 
RECITALS 

 
 WHEREAS, the District is a local unit of special-purpose government created and existing 
pursuant to Chapter 2004-456, Laws of Florida, as amended (the “Special Act”) for the purpose 
of constructing, acquiring, and maintaining infrastructure improvements and services; and 
 
 WHEREAS, in accordance with Section 11 of the Special Act, the District previously 
adopted Resolution 2004-13 establishing Unit of Development No. 1 relative to approximately 
8,194 acres within the District (“Unit No. 1”); and 
 

WHEREAS, on August 31, 2017, the District issued its West Villages Improvement District 
Special Assessment Revenue Refunding Bonds, Series 2017 (Unit of Development No. 1),  in the 
aggregate principal amount of $32,165,000 (the “Series 2017 Bonds”), to finance the design, 
construction, and/or acquisition of certain master public infrastructure improvements and facilities 
within Unit No. 1 i) relative to the “Series 2007 Project” as more particularly identified in that 
certain Amended Unit of Development No. 1 Plan of Improvements dated November 20, 2015, and 
ii) relative to the “Series 2017 Project” as more particularly identified in that certain Plan of 
Improvements for 2017 Refinancing, dated June 29, 2017 (collectively, the “Plan of 
Improvements”); and 
 

WHEREAS, in conjunction with the issuance of the Series 2017 Bonds, the District levied 
debt service special assessments (the “Series 2017 Debt Assessments”) on all developable land 

Page 47



3 
4877-1034-1922.1  

within Unit No. 1 in order to secure the Series 2017 Bonds i) relative to the Series 2007 Project in 
accordance with that certain Unit 1 Report of Engineer, dated March 14, 2006 and that certain 
First Amendment, dated April 25, 2006, and ii) relative to the Series 2017 Project in accordance 
with that certain Assessment Methodology Report of Benefits for 2017 Refinancing, dated July 14, 
2017 (collectively, the “Assessment Report of Benefits”); and  
 

WHEREAS, the Landowners are collectively the owners of the entirety of the real property 
described in the attached Exhibit A (hereinafter, the “Property”) consisting of approximately 141 
acres which is located within the jurisdictional boundaries of the District; and 

 
WHEREAS, the parties desire for the District to amend the current boundary of Unit No. 1 

to include the Property within such unit (hereinafter, the “Unit Amendment”) pursuant to the 
terms hereof. 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, based upon good and valuable consideration and mutual covenants of 
the parties, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the parties agree as 
follows: 
 
 SECTION 1.   RECITALS.  The above Recitals are true and correct and are hereby 
incorporated herein by this reference. 
  

SECTION 2.   AMENDMENT OF UNIT NO. 1.  Commencing as of the Effective Date of this 
Agreement, the Property shown in Exhibit A shall thereupon and thereafter be a part of and 
included within boundaries of the District’s Unit No. 1.  By execution of this Agreement, the 
Landowners hereby consent to the inclusion of the Property shown in Exhibit A in Unit No. 1 and 
the District hereby approves the inclusion of the Property shown in Exhibit A in Unit No. 1. 
 

SECTION 3. BENEFIT TO PROPERTY.  The Landowners acknowledge and agree that the 
Property receives the same benefits as are reasonably available to it as similarly classified parcels 
of real property within Unit No. 1 as set forth in more detail in the Plan of Improvements and 
the Assessment Report of Benefits, each as may be amended from time to time. 

 
SECTION 4. IMPOSITION AND ALLOCATION OF NON-AD VALOREM SPECIAL 

ASSESSMENTS.  
 

A. The Landowners acknowledge and agree that the Property shall be subject to the 
same apportionment, method of assessment, and rate of non-ad valorem 
assessment as is or will be applied, assessed and levied annually by the District 
upon other similarly classified parcels of real property located within Unit No. 1.   
 

B. Promptly after the Effective Date of this Agreement, the District shall undertake an 
assessment hearing to levy and impose Series 2017 Debt Assessments on the 
Property pursuant to the Plan of Improvements and the Assessment Report of 
Benefits.  The Landowners acknowledge and agree that the District shall undertake 
such process and waives its right to protest the allocation of the Series 2017 Debt 
Assessments on the Property so long as such allocation is in accordance with the 

Page 48



4 
4877-1034-1922.1  

Plan of Improvements and the Assessment Report of Benefits, as each may be 
amended from time to time consistent with the Special Act and Florida law. 

 
 SECTION 5. AGREEMENT.  This instrument shall constitute the final and complete 
expression of the agreement between the parties relating to the subject matter of this Agreement. 
 

SECTION 6. AMENDMENTS.  Amendments to and waivers of the provisions contained in 
this Agreement may be made only by an instrument in writing executed by both parties hereto. 
 
 SECTION 7. AUTHORIZATION.  The execution of this Agreement has been duly 
authorized by the appropriate body or official of all parties to this Agreement, all parties have 
complied with all the requirements of law, and all parties have full power and authority to comply 
with the terms and provisions of this instrument. 
 
 SECTION 8. THIRD PARTY BENEFICIARIES.  This Agreement is solely for the benefit of 
the formal parties to this Agreement and no right or cause of action shall accrue upon or by reason 
hereof, to or for the benefit of any third party not a formal party to this Agreement.  Nothing in 
this Agreement expressed or implied is intended or shall be construed to confer upon any person 
or corporation other than the parties to this Agreement any right, remedy or claim under or by 
reason of this Agreement or any provisions or conditions hereof; and all of the provisions, 
representations, covenants and conditions contained in this Agreement shall inure to the sole 
benefit of and shall be binding upon the parties to this Agreement and their respective 
representatives, successors, and assigns. 
 

SECTION 9. CONTROLLING LAW; VENUE.  This Agreement and the provisions 
contained herein shall be construed, interpreted, and controlled according to the laws of the State 
of Florida.  Venue shall be in Sarasota County, Florida. 
 

SECTION 10. PUBLIC RECORDS.  The Landowners understand and agree that all 
documents of any kind provided to the District or to District staff relative to this Agreement may 
be public records and will be treated as such in accord with Florida law. 
 

SECTION 11. ARM’S LENGTH TRANSACTION.  This Agreement has been negotiated fully 
between the parties as an arm's length transaction. The parties participated fully in the preparation 
of this Agreement with the assistance of their respective counsel.  In the case of a dispute 
concerning the interpretation of any provision of this Agreement, the parties are each deemed to 
have drafted, chosen, and selected the language, and doubtful language will not be interpreted or 
construed against any party. 

 
SECTION 12. HEADINGS FOR CONVENIENCE ONLY.  The descriptive headings in this 

Agreement are for convenience only and shall not control nor affect the meaning or construction 
of any of the provisions of this Agreement. 

 
SECTION 13. COUNTERPARTS.  This Agreement may be executed in any number of 

counterparts, each of which when executed and delivered shall be an original; however, all such 
counterparts together shall constitute but one and the same instrument.  Signature and 

Page 49



5 
4877-1034-1922.1  

acknowledgment pages, if any, may be detached from the counterparts and attached to a single 
copy of this document to physically form one document. 
 

SECTION 14.   RECORDING.  This Agreement shall be recorded in the Official Records of 
Sarasota County, Florida and all terms, conditions, and covenants contained herein shall be 
deemed to run with the land. 

 
 

 
 

[SIGNATURES ON NEXT PAGE]

Page 50



 
4877-1034-1922.1  

IN WITNESS THEREOF, the parties execute this Agreement the day and year first written 
above. 
        
 
 
ATTEST: WEST VILLAGES IMPROVEMENT 

DISTRICT  
 
__________________________  __________________________________ 
Assistant Secretary     John Luczynski, Chairman 
 
 
WITNESS: 
 
 
_______________________________ 
Print Name: _____________________ 
 
 
 
STATE OF FLORIDA 
COUNTY OF _____________ 
 

The foregoing instrument was acknowledged before me by means of ▢ physical presence 
or ▢ online notarization, this    day of ________________, 2022, by John Luczynski, as 
Chairman of the Board of Supervisors of West Villages Improvement District, on its behalf.  He 
[___] is personally known to me or [___] produced ______________________________ as 
identification. 
 
 
      __________________________________________ 
      Notary Public, State of Florida 
 
      Personally Known       
      OR Produced Identification      
      Type of Identification _______________________ 
 
 

Page 51



 
4877-1034-1922.1  

WITNESS:      DD Sunglow Blvd, LLC, a Georgia 
       limited liability company 
       

By: Morrow Investors, Inc., a Georgia 
corporation, as its Manager 

   
       ___________________________________ 
Print Name: ____________________ By: ________________________________ 
       Its: _________________________________ 
        
         
WITNESS: 
 
 
______________________________ 
Print Name: ____________________ 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
STATE OF ______________ 
COUNTY OF _____________ 
 
The foregoing instrument was acknowledged before me by means of ▢ physical presence or ▢ 
online notarization, this    day of ________________, 2022, by ________________, 
as _________________ of Morrow Investors, Inc., on its behalf.  He/she [___] is personally known 
to me or [___] produced ______________________________ as identification. 
 
 
      __________________________________________ 
      Notary Public, State of _____________ 
 
      Personally Known       
      OR Produced Identification      
      Type of Identification _______________________ 
 
 
 

Page 52



 
4877-1034-1922.1  

WITNESS:      Rodney A. Short  
       
       __________________________________ 
Print Name: ____________________ Rodney A. Short 

 
         
WITNESS: 
 
 
______________________________ 
Print Name: ____________________ 
 
 
 
 
 
STATE OF _______________ 
COUNTY OF _____________ 
 
The foregoing instrument was acknowledged before me by means of ▢ physical presence or ▢ 
online notarization, this    day of ________________, 2022, by Rodney A. Short.  He 
[___] is personally known to me or [___] produced ______________________________ as 
identification. 
 
 
      __________________________________________ 
      Notary Public, State of _______________ 
 
      Personally Known       
      OR Produced Identification      
      Type of Identification _______________________ 
 

Page 53



 
4877-1034-1922.1  

WITNESS: Widewaters Magnum 2020 Company, 
LLC, a Delaware limited liability company 

        
       
       __________________________________ 
Print Name: ____________________ By:_______________________________ 

Title: ______________________________ 
         
WITNESS: 
 
 
______________________________ 
Print Name: ____________________ 
 
 
 
 
 
STATE OF _______________ 
COUNTY OF _____________ 
 
The foregoing instrument was acknowledged before me by means of ▢ physical presence or ▢ 
online notarization, this    day of ________________, 2022, by ________________, 
as _________________ of Widewaters Magnum 2020 Company, LLC, on its behalf.  He/she [___] 
is personally known to me or [___] produced ______________________________ as 
identification. 
 
 
      __________________________________________ 
      Notary Public, State of _____________ 
 
      Personally Known       
      OR Produced Identification      
      Type of Identification _______________________ 
 

Page 54



 
4877-1034-1922.1  

WITNESS: American Equities Partners, LLC, a 
Florida limited liability company 

       
       __________________________________ 
Print Name: ____________________ By:_______________________________ 

Title: ______________________________ 
         
WITNESS: 
 
 
______________________________ 
Print Name: ____________________ 
 
 
 
 
 
STATE OF FLORIDA 
COUNTY OF _____________ 
 
The foregoing instrument was acknowledged before me by means of ▢ physical presence or ▢ 
online notarization, this    day of ________________, 2022, by ________________, 
as _________________ of American Equities Partners, LLC, on its behalf.  He/she [___] is 
personally known to me or [___] produced ______________________________ as identification. 
 
 
      __________________________________________ 
      Notary Public, State of Florida 
 
      Personally Known       
      OR Produced Identification      
      Type of Identification ______________________

Page 55



 
4877-1034-1922.1  

 
 
WITNESS:      WP Venice LLC, a Delaware limited 
       liability company 
       

By: Cardinal WP Venice, LLC, a Virginia 
limited liability company, as its Managing 
Member 

   
       By: VRS PIM Holding Co. LLC, a 
Print Name: ____________________ Virginia limited liability company, as its Sole 

Manager 
        

By: PGIM, Inc., a New Jersey corporation, 
as its Manager 

 
       __________________________________ 

By:_______________________________ 
Title:______________________________ 

         
WITNESS: 
 
 
______________________________ 
Print Name: ____________________ 
 
 
 
 
 
STATE OF _______________ 
COUNTY OF _____________ 
 
The foregoing instrument was acknowledged before me by means of ▢ physical presence or ▢ 
online notarization, this    day of ________________, 2022, by ________________, 
as _________________ of PGIM, Inc., on its behalf.  He/she [___] is personally known to me or 
[___] produced ______________________________ as identification. 
 
 
      __________________________________________ 
      Notary Public, State of ___________ 
 
      Personally Known       
      OR Produced Identification      
      Type of Identification _______________________ 

Page 56



 
4877-1034-1922.1  

WITNESS:      Fulbright Holdings LLC, a Texas limited 
       liability company 
       
       __________________________________ 
Print Name: ____________________ By:_______________________________ 

Title: ______________________________ 
         
WITNESS: 
 
 
______________________________ 
Print Name: ____________________ 
 
 
 
 
 
STATE OF _______________ 
COUNTY OF _____________ 
 
The foregoing instrument was acknowledged before me by means of ▢ physical presence or ▢ 
online notarization, this    day of ________________, 2022, by ________________, 
as _________________ of Fulbright Holdings LLC, on its behalf.  He/she [___] is personally 
known to me or [___] produced ______________________________ as identification. 
 
 
      __________________________________________ 
      Notary Public, State of _______________ 
 
      Personally Known       
      OR Produced Identification      
      Type of Identification _______________________ 
 

Page 57



 
4877-1034-1922.1  

WITNESS: Twenty Three Realty, LLC, a New York 
limited liability company 

       
   
       ___________________________________ 
Print Name: ____________________ By: ________________________________ 
       Title: _______________________________ 
         
WITNESS: 
 
 
______________________________ 
Print Name: ____________________ 
 
 
 
 
 
STATE OF _______________ 
COUNTY OF _____________ 
 
The foregoing instrument was acknowledged before me by means of ▢ physical presence or ▢ 
online notarization, this    day of ________________, 2022, by ________________, 
as _________________ of Twenty Three Realty, LLC, on its behalf.  He/she [___] is personally 
known to me or [___] produced ______________________________ as identification. 
 
 
      __________________________________________ 
      Notary Public, State of _______________ 
 
      Personally Known       
      OR Produced Identification      
      Type of Identification _______________________ 
 
 

 
 

Page 58



 
4877-1034-1922.1  

WITNESS:      Main Street Ranchlands LLLP, a 
       Florida limited liability limited partnership 
       

By: Thomas Ranch Villages GP, LLC, a 
Delaware limited liability company, as its 
General Partner 

   
       By: Thomas Ranch Manager, LLC, a 
Print Name: ____________________ Delaware limited liability company, as its 

Manager 
        
       __________________________________ 

By:_______________________________ 
Title: _____________________________ 

         
WITNESS: 
 
 
______________________________ 
Print Name: ____________________ 
 
 
 
 
 
STATE OF FLORIDA 
COUNTY OF _____________ 
 
The foregoing instrument was acknowledged before me by means of ▢ physical presence or ▢ 
online notarization, this    day of ________________, 2022, by ________________, 
as _________________ of Thomas Ranch Manager, LLC, on its behalf.  He/she [___] is personally 
known to me or [___] produced ______________________________ as identification. 
 
 
      __________________________________________ 
      Notary Public, State of Florida 
 
      Personally Known       
      OR Produced Identification      
      Type of Identification _______________________ 

 
 
 
 

Page 59



 
4877-1034-1922.1  

WITNESS:      Toll Southeast LP Company Inc., a 
       Delaware corporation 
       
   
       __________________________________ 
Print Name: ____________________ By:_______________________________ 

Title: _____________________________ 
         
WITNESS: 
 
 
______________________________ 
Print Name: ____________________ 
 
 
 
 
 
STATE OF FLORIDA 
COUNTY OF _____________ 
 
The foregoing instrument was acknowledged before me by means of ▢ physical presence or ▢ 
online notarization, this    day of ________________, 2022, by ________________, 
as _________________ of Toll Southeast LP Company Inc., on its behalf.  He/she [___] is 
personally known to me or [___] produced ______________________________ as identification. 
 
 
      __________________________________________ 
      Notary Public, State of Florida 
 
      Personally Known       
      OR Produced Identification      
      Type of Identification _______________________ 
 
 
 

 

Page 60



 
4877-1034-1922.1  

WITNESS:      Manasota Beach Ranchlands LLLP, a 
       Florida limited liability limited partnership 
       

By: Thomas Ranch Villages GP, LLC, a 
Delaware limited liability company, as its 
General Partner 

   
       By: Thomas Ranch Manager, LLC, a 
Print Name: ____________________ Delaware limited liability company, as its 

Manager 
        
       __________________________________ 

By:_______________________________ 
Title:______________________________ 

         
WITNESS: 
 
 
______________________________ 
Print Name: ____________________ 
 
 
 
 
 
STATE OF FLORIDA 
COUNTY OF _____________ 
 
The foregoing instrument was acknowledged before me by means of ▢ physical presence or ▢ 
online notarization, this    day of ________________, 2022, by ________________, 
as _________________ of Thomas Ranch Manager, LLC, on its behalf.  He/she [___] is personally 
known to me or [___] produced ______________________________ as identification. 
 
 
      __________________________________________ 
      Notary Public, State of Florida 
 
      Personally Known       
      OR Produced Identification      
      Type of Identification _______________________ 
 

Page 61



 
4877-1034-1922.1  

WITNESS: Lennar Homes LLC, a Florida limited 
liability company 

       
   
       ___________________________________ 
Print Name: ____________________ By: ________________________________ 
       Title: _______________________________ 
         
WITNESS: 
 
 
______________________________ 
Print Name: ____________________ 
 
 
 
 
 
STATE OF FLORIDA 
COUNTY OF _____________ 
 
The foregoing instrument was acknowledged before me by means of ▢ physical presence or ▢ 
online notarization, this    day of ________________, 2022, by ________________, 
as _________________ of Lennar Homes, LLC, on its behalf.  He/she [___] is personally known 
to me or [___] produced ______________________________ as identification. 
 
 
      __________________________________________ 
      Notary Public, State of Florida 
 
      Personally Known       
      OR Produced Identification      
      Type of Identification _______________________ 
 

 
 

 

Page 62



4877-1034-1922.1  

EXHIBIT A 
 

Legal Description of the Property 
 

 

Page 63



Page 64



Page 65



Page 66



Page 67



Page 68



Page 69



Page 70



Page 71



Page 72



Page 73



Page 74



Page 75



Page 76



Page 77



1 
 

RESOLUTION 2022-14 
 

[UNIT NO. 1 2022 BOUNDARY AMENDMENT] 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF 
THE WEST VILLAGES IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT 
SETTING A PUBLIC HEARING ON THE DISTRICT’S 
CONSIDERATION OF THE REVISED PLAN OF 
IMPROVEMENTS FOR UNIT OF DEVELOPMENT NO. 1 
RELATIVE TO THE AMENDMENT OF THE BOUNDARY 
OF SUCH UNIT; FILING THE PROPOSED REVISED PLAN 
OF IMPROVEMENTS WITH THE DISTRICT SECRETARY; 
PROVIDING FOR PUBLISHED AND MAILED NOTICE AS 
SET FORTH IN SECTION 298.301, FLORIDA STATUTES; 
SETTING A PUBLIC HEARING TO BE HELD ON AUGUST 
18, 2022, AT 11:00 A.M. AT THE PUBLIC SAFETY 
BUILDING TRAINING ROOM LOCATED AT 19955 PRETO 
BOULEVARD, VENICE, FLORIDA 34293, FOR THE 
PURPOSE OF HEARING PUBLIC COMMENT ON THE 
CONSIDERATION OF THE REVISED PLAN OF 
IMPROVEMENTS; PROVIDING FOR SEVERABILITY; 
AND PROVIDING AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 
WHEREAS, the West Villages Improvement District (the “District”), is a local unit of 

special-purpose government created and existing pursuant to Chapter 2004-456, Laws of Florida, 
as amended (the “Act”), and is situated in the City of North Port, Florida and unincorporated 
Sarasota County, Florida; and 
 
 WHEREAS, in accordance with Section 11 of the Act, the District previously adopted 
Resolution 2004-13 establishing Unit of Development No. 1 relative to approximately 8,194 acres 
within the District (“Unit No. 1”); and 
 
 WHEREAS, on August 3, 2006, the Circuit Court of the Twentieth Judicial Circuit of 
Florida, in and for Sarasota County, Florida, rendered its final judgment validating the District’s 
proposed issuance of up to $44,905,000 aggregate principal amount of special assessment bonds, 
the proceeds of which bonds were to be applied to finance certain infrastructure improvements to 
be undertaken by the District within Unit No. 1; and  
 
 WHEREAS, on August 31, 2017, the District issued its West Villages Improvement District 
Special Assessment Revenue Refunding Bonds, Series 2017 (Unit of Development No. 1),  in the 
aggregate principal amount of $32,165,000 (the “Series 2017 Bonds”), to finance the design, 
construction, and/or acquisition of certain master public infrastructure improvements and facilities 
within Unit No. 1 i) relative to the “Series 2007 Project” as more particularly identified in that 
certain Amended Unit of Development No. 1 Plan of Improvements dated November 20, 2015, and 
ii) relative to the “Series 2017 Project” as more particularly identified in that certain Plan of 
Improvements for 2017 Refinancing, dated June 29, 2017 (collectively, the “Plan of 

Page 78



2 
 

Improvements”); and 
 

WHEREAS, in conjunction with the issuance of the Series 2017 Bonds, the District levied 
and imposed debt service special assessments (the “Debt Assessments”) on all developable land 
within Unit No. 1; and  
 
 WHEREAS, concurrent with the adoption of this Resolution, the District has entered into 
that certain i) Agreement Regarding the Inclusion of Certain Real Property in Unit of Development 
No. 1 (Diocese Property and Hospital Property), by and between the District, Manasota Beach 
Ranchlands, LLLP, and Main Street Ranchlands, LLLP, and ii) Agreement Regarding the 
Inclusion of Certain Real Property in Unit of Development No. 1 (Pine Street Property), by and 
between the District, DD Sunglow Blvd, LLC, Rodney A. Short, Widewaters Magnum 2020 
Company, LLC, American Equities Partners, LLC, WP Venice LLC, Fulbright Holdings LLC, 
Twenty Three Realty LLC, Main Street Ranchlands, LLLP, Toll Southeast LP Company Inc., 
Manasota Beach Ranchlands, LLLP, and Lennar Homes, LLC, each dated July 14, 2022, together 
approving the inclusion of approximately 289 acres to the boundary of Unit No. 1 (hereinafter, the 
“Boundary Amendment Property”); and 
 
 WHEREAS,  the District now has a need to levy and impose the Debt Assessments on the 
Boundary Amendment Property in proportion to the property’s benefit from such improvements 
and to reallocate the Debt Assessments on the existing lands within Unit No. 1; and 
 

WHEREAS, the District has determined that it is in the best interest of the District and its 
residents and landowners to impose the Debt Assessments on the Boundary Amendment Property 
and to reallocate the Debt Assessments on the existing lands within Unit No. 1; and  

 
WHEREAS, in furtherance thereof, i) the District desires to accordingly adopt that certain 

Amendment to Amended Unit of Development No. 1 Plan of Improvements, dated July 14, 2022 
relative to the Series 2007 Project, and ii) that certain Amendment to Plan of Improvements for 
2017 Refinancing, dated July 14, 2022 relative to the Series 2017 Project (the “Amendments to 
the Plan of Improvements,” and collectively, with the Plan of Improvements, the “Revised Plan 
of Improvements”); and 

 
WHEREAS, in accordance with Section 298.301(2), Florida Statutes, the Board hereby 

desires to adopt this Resolution declaring its intent to consider adoption of the Revised Plan of 
Improvements. 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD 
OF SUPERVISORS OF THE WEST VILLAGES 
IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT: 

 
SECTION 1.  INTENT TO CONSIDER ADOPTION OF THE REVISED PLAN OF 

IMPROVEMENTS.  The Board hereby declares its intent to consider adoption of the proposed 
Revised Plan of Improvements.  
 

Page 79



3 
 

SECTION 2.  FILING OF THE PROPOSED REVISED PLAN OF 
IMPROVEMENTS WITH THE DISTRICT SECRETARY; NOTICE OF FILING OF 
SAME. 

 
A. Upon the adoption of this Resolution, the Revised Plan of Improvements shall have been 

filed with the Secretary of the District.  The portion of the Revised Plan of Improvements 
relating to the Series 2007 Project is attached hereto as Composite Exhibit A.  The portion 
of the Revised Plan of Improvements relating to the Series 2017 Project is attached hereto 
as Composite Exhibit B.   
 

B. The Board hereby directs the preparation and publication of a notice of the public hearing 
on the adoption of the Revised Plan of Improvements in the manner set forth in Section 
298.301(2), Florida Statutes, which shall be published once a week for three (3) 
consecutive weeks in a newspaper of general circulation in Sarasota County.  Additionally, 
the Board hereby directs a mailing of the notice of public hearing to those entities required 
to be so served pursuant to Section 298.301(3), Florida Statutes.  

 
SECTION 2.  PUBLIC HEARING ON ADOPTION OF THE PROPOSED REVISED 

PLAN OF IMPROVEMENTS.  The Board hereby declares that a public hearing shall be held at 
11:00 A.M., on August 18, 2022 at the Public Safety Building Training Room located at 19955 
Preto Blvd., Venice, Florida 34293 for the purpose of hearing written comment and objection on 
the District’s proposed adoption of the Revised Plan of Improvements. 
 

SECTION 3.  SEVERABILITY.  If any provision of this Resolution is held to be illegal 
or invalid, the other provisions shall remain in full force and effect. 

 
SECTION 4. EFFECTIVE DATE.  This Resolution shall become effective upon its 

passage and shall remain in effect unless rescinded or repealed. 
 
 

PASSED AND ADOPTED, this 14th day of July, 2022. 
 

ATTEST:     WEST VILLAGES 
      IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT 
 

 
____________________________  _______________________________ 
Secretary     Chairman/Vice-Chairman 

 
 

Composite Exhibit A:  Revised Plan of Improvements for Series 2007 Project 
Composite Exhibit B: Revised Plan of Improvements for Series 2017 Project

Page 80



 
 

Composite Exhibit A 

 
Amended Unit of Development No. 1 Plan of Improvements dated November 20, 2015 

 
Amendment to Amended Unit of Development No. 1 Plan of Improvements dated July 14, 2022 

 
 
 

Page 81



AMENDED UNIT OF 
DEVELOPMENT NO. 1

PLAN OF IMPROVEMENTS

Prepared for:
West Villages Improvement District
c/o Special District Services, Inc.
2501A Burns Road
Palm Beach Gardens, FL 33410

Prepared by:
Stantec Consulting Services Inc.
6900 Professional Parkway East
Sarasota, FL 34240

November 20, 2015

Page 16Page 82



AMENDED UNIT OF DEVELOPMENT NO. 1

PLAN OF IMPROVEMENT

Table of Contents

ENGINEER’S CERTIFICATION..................................................................................................... 1 

AERIAL LOCATION MAP ........................................................................................................... 2

SECTION A. INTRODUCTIONS .................................................................................................... 4
1. General..................................................................................................................................................4
2. Purpose and Scope ............................................................................................................................4
3. Lands in Unit of Development No. 2 ................................................................................................4

SECTION B. EXISTING CONDITIONS...................................................................................... 5
1. Topography ..........................................................................................................................................5
2. Soils and Vegetation...........................................................................................................................5
3. Land Use and Zoning ..........................................................................................................................6

SECTION C. PLAN OF IMPROVEMENTS.................................................................................. 7
1. Incorporation of Reference...............................................................................................................7
2. Public Infrastructure Improvements .................................................................................................7
3. Permitting ..............................................................................................................................................8
4. Estimated Cost of Improvements .....................................................................................................8

SECTION D. RIGHTS-OF-WAY/ PROPERTY INTERESTS .......................................................... 10

SECTION E. MAINTENANCE RESPONSIBILITIES ................................................................... 11

SECTION F. METHOD OF FINANCING................................................................................. 12

SECTION G. RECOMMENDATIONS ...................................................................................... 13

EXHIBIT "A" UNIT 1 SKETCH AND LEGAL DESCRIPTION....................................................... 14

vj v:\2156\active\215612793\civil\report\final_document_report\rpt_wvid_amended-unit-dev-1_plan-improvements_v-4_mak_20151120.docx Page 17Page 83



AMENDED UNIT OF DEVELOPMENT NO. 1
PLAN OF IMPROVEMENTS

ENGINEER’S CERTIFICATION
November 20, 2015

ENGINEER’S CERTIFICATION

I HEREBY CERTIFY, as a Professional Engineer in the State of Florida, that the information 
in this Plan of Improvements for West Villages Improvement District Unit of Development 
No. 1 was assembled under my direct responsible charge. The certifying Engineer 
cannot be responsible for added or deleted information once distributed. This report is 
not intended or represented to be suitable for any reuse without specific verification or 
adoption by the Engineer. This verification is provided in accordance with the Florida 
Board of Professional Engineers’ Rule on Certification under Chapter 61G15-18.011(4).

Michael A. Kennedy, P.E.
Florida License No.: 38120

Stantec Consulting Services Inc.
6900 Professional Parkway East
Sarasota, FL 34240
Tel: (941) 907-6900
Fax: (941) 907-6910

[Reproductions are not valid unless signed, dated 
and embossed with an Engineer’s seal]

vj v:\2156\active\215612793\civil\report\final_document_report\rpt_wvid_amended-unit-dev-1_plan-improvements_v-4_mak_20151120.docx 1
Page 18Page 84



AMENDED UNIT OF DEVELOPMENT NO. 1
PLAN OF IMPROVEMENTS

AERIAL LOCATION MAP
November 20, 2015

AERIAL LOCATION MAP

vj v:\2156\active\215612793\civil\report\final_document_report\rpt_wvid_amended-unit-dev-1_plan-improvements_v-4_mak_20151120.docx 2
Page 19Page 85



P
ag

e 
20

Page 86



AMENDED UNIT OF DEVELOPMENT NO. 1
PLAN OF IMPROVEMENTS

SECTION A. INTRODUCTIONS
November 20, 2015

SECTION A. INTRODUCTIONS

1. General

The West Villages Improvement District (“WVID”) was created by and operates 
under Chapter 2004-458, Laws of Florida (the “Act”) and operates pursuant to the 
Act and applicable provisions of Chapter 298, Florida Statutes. WVID was created 
to construct and maintain public works and utilities including water, sewer, 
drainage, irrigation, water management, parks, recreational facilities, roadway or 
related activities, as more particularly described in Chapter 2004-456, Laws of 
Florida.

2. Purpose and Scope

The purpose of this Plan of Improvements is to present the nature and extend of 
the improvements which may be implemented by WVID for and on behalf of the 
Unit of Development, which improvements will thereafter be owned, operated 
and/or maintained by either WVID or another legally empowered governmental 
entity.

The text of this Plan of Improvements generally describes the existing land within 
Unit No. 1 and the proposed improvements and recommendations. The Plan of 
Improvements is not intended to be used for exact representation or for 
construction purposes since detailed construction documents for all of the 
proposed improvements have not yet been prepared.

3. Lands in Unit of Development No. 1

West Villages Improvement District Resolution No. 2008-08 designated 
approximately 8,193 acres of the West Villages Improvement District as the West 
Villages Improvement District Unit of Development No. 1 (“Unit 1”). Unit 1 consists of 
all of the property contained within WVID.

Aerial Location Map hereof shows the location of Unit of Development No. 1 in 
relation to the City of North Port and Sarasota County. The Legal Description and 
Sketch (Exhibit “A”) reflects the lands included in Unit of Development No. 1.

vj v:\2156\active\215612793\civil\report\final_document_report\rpt_wvid_amended-unit-dev-1_plan-improvements_v-4_mak_20151120.docx 4
Page 21Page 87



AMENDED UNIT OF DEVELOPMENT NO. 1
PLAN OF IMPROVEMENTS

SECTION B. EXISTING CONDITIONS
November 20, 2015

SECTION B. EXISTING CONDITIONS

1. Topography

The area within Unit of Development No. 1 is relatively flat with site elevations 
ranging from approximately 4.5 feet to 15 feet based on 1983 Southwest Florida 
Water Management District contour maps and U.S.C. & G.AS. Datum. The lower 
elevations occur in the wetlands along the east side of the site while the higher 
elevations are located near the southwest corner of the site. The Unit is primarily 
underdeveloped pasture and rangelands, upland pine flatwood, wetlands, and 
undeveloped woodlands.

2. Soil and Vegetation

Based on the 1991 Soil Survey of Sarasota County, Florida, prepared by the United 
States Department of Agriculture (USDA) Soil Conservation Service (SCS), the 
predominant surficial soil types within the Unit are identified as SCS Soil No. 10, 
EauGallie and Myakka Fine Sands and SCS Soils No. 31, Pineda Fine Sand. SCS Soil 
No. 10 is a nearly level, poorly drained soil that can be made up entirely of 
EauGallie and similar soils, entirely Myakka and similar soils, or a combination of 
EauGallie, Myakka and other soils. Typically, the EauGallie soil has a surface layer 
of black fine sand with a subsurface layer of gray fine sand to a depth of about 22 
inches. The surface layer of the Myakka soil is typically dark grayish brown fine 
sand about 6 inches thick while the subsurface layer is light gray fine sand about 
18 inches thick. Pineda Fine Sand is a nearly level, poorly drained soil. Typically, the 
surface and subsurface layers are grey fine sands totaling approximately 22 inches 
thick. The subsoil consists of an upper layer of 14 inches of brown fine sand and a 
lower layer of 12 inches of mottled, light brownish gray fine sandy loam.

The property within the Unit currently consists of 22 different vegetative 
communities comprised of both upland and wetland habitats. Several of the 
vegetation communities have been modified as a result of onsite agricultural 
activities including ditching and fire suppression. Areas that were historically 
extensive open forests or wiregrass prairies have since become heavily forested or 
have been cleared for cattle grazing and commercial nursery. Extensive ditching 
has also altered the hydrology of several of the wetland systems onsite, particularly 
where the ditches bisect wetlands or are adjacent to wetlands. These land altering 
activities have comprised, to a certain extent, the overall quality on several of the 
onsite vegetation communities. The predominate habitat types on the site are 
disturbed pine flatwoods, hardwood conifer mixed, wetlands, improved pastures, 
and mixed rangelands.

vj v:\2156\active\215612793\civil\report\final_document_report\rpt_wvid_amended-unit-dev-1_plan-improvements_v-4_mak_20151120.docx 5
Page 22Page 88



AMENDED UNIT OF DEVELOPMENT NO. 1
PLAN OF IMPROVEMENTS

SECTION B. EXISTING CONDITIONS
November 20, 2015

3. Land Use and Zoning

Unit 1 is located within the City of North Port, Florida (“City”). Parcels within Unit 1 
are currently in various stages of development review and approval with the City, 
however, it is expected that the parcels will receive a Village comprehensive plan 
and zoning designation from the City that is compatible with the comprehensive 
land use plan adopted by the City.

vj v:\2156\active\215612793\civil\report\final_document_report\rpt_wvid_amended-unit-dev-1_plan-improvements_v-4_mak_20151120.docx 6
Page 23Page 89



AMENDED UNIT OF DEVELOPMENT NO. 1
PLAN OF IMPROVEMENTS

SECTION C. PLAN OF IMPROVEMENTS
November 20, 2015

SECTION C. PLAN OF IMPROVEMENTS

1. Incorporation by Reference

In compliance with Florida Statute 298.225(3), Section 189.415, Florida Statutes, as 
Facility Reports are prepared, they will be incorporated by reference and made 
part hereof. The Facility Reports will be available for inspection and copying at 
WVID’s administrative headquarters.

2. Public Infrastructure Improvements

Unit 1 was formed in order to finance District-wide improvements and also to 
finance standards development and master planning activities required to 
develop public infrastructure plans for the Unit (the “Project”).

The improvements as well as the standards development and master planning for 
the Unit will be consistent with the City of North Port Comprehensive Plan and 
Implementing Ordinances, studies, plans, and may include:

Preparation and Development of Regulatory Standards and Procedures

Master Planning for Public Infrastructure needs

Alignment of future Units and Allocation of Benefit methodologies and 
procedures

Roadways, including thoroughfares, arterial, collector, or local streets

Stormwater Improvements

Master Irrigation facilities

Roadways Landscape, Lighting, Signage, and Furnishings

Roadways Gateway features

Park and Recreation improvements

Fire/ Rescue, Law Enforcement, Solid Waste, and General Government 
related facilities contributions to the City of North Port

School sites

Engineering and Contingencies 

vj v:\2156\active\215612793\civil\report\final_document_report\rpt_wvid_amended-unit-dev-1_plan-improvements_v-4_mak_20151120.docx 7
Page 24Page 90



AMENDED UNIT OF DEVELOPMENT NO. 1
PLAN OF IMPROVEMENTS

SECTION C. PLAN OF IMPROVEMENTS
November 20, 2015

3. Permitting

Required permits will be applied for as the design of various facilities progresses.

It is our opinion that there are no technical reasons existing at this time which 
would prohibit the implementation of the plan or permitting of the Plan of 
Improvements, subject to continued compliance with all agency criteria and 
conditions of the already approved plans and permits. 

Permits necessary to complete the Project have either been obtained as 
described above, or, in our opinion, are obtainable from the permitting agencies, 
subject to reasonable, normal and customary permit conditions.

4. Estimated Cost of Improvements 

Table 1 lists the components of the Plan of Improvements for Unit of Development 
No. 1, together with their estimated costs of design, implementation and 
construction. The Table also includes an estimate of administrative, engineering 
and legal fees, and contingencies associates with the improvements. The Table is 
divided into two sections, those being projects previously constructed and those 
planned for future construction.

Table 1
Estimated Cost of Improvements

A. Previously Constructed Projects

Element Cost

Master Planning $   1,407,452
Major Thoroughfare Landscape, Lighting, 
Signing, and Furnishings $   3,161,645

Gateway Features $      949,354
Regional Parks $   2,725,617
Fire Rescue/ Law Enforcement/ Solid Waste/ 
General Government Contributions $      487,675

Subtotal $   8,731,743

Engineering, Legal and Administrative $   4,000,957
Contingencies -0-

Subtotal $   4,000,957

Total $ 12,732,700

vj v:\2156\active\215612793\civil\report\final_document_report\rpt_wvid_amended-unit-dev-1_plan-improvements_v-4_mak_20151120.docx 8
Page 25Page 91



AMENDED UNIT OF DEVELOPMENT NO. 1
PLAN OF IMPROVEMENTS

SECTION C. PLAN OF IMPROVEMENTS
November 20, 2015

B. Future Construction Projects

Element Cost

Master Planning $      50,000
Roadway Improvements and Enhancements $ 4,950,000
Gateway Features $    500,000
Regional Parks/ Recreation $ 2,500,000
General Government Contributions 
(Emergency Services, Education, other 
Government/ Public Facilities and Services)

$ 6,000,000

Subtotal $14,000,000

Engineering, Legal and Administrative $1,750,000
Contingencies $1,750,000

Subtotal $3,500,000

Total $17,500,000

Please note that estimated individual Element totals will vary and are only to establish
a Total Estimated Cost of Improvements.

vj v:\2156\active\215612793\civil\report\final_document_report\rpt_wvid_amended-unit-dev-1_plan-improvements_v-4_mak_20151120.docx 9
Page 26Page 92



AMENDED UNIT OF DEVELOPMENT NO. 1
PLAN OF IMPROVEMENTS

SECTION D. RIGHTS-OF-WAY/ PROPERTY INTERESTS
November 20, 2015

SECTION D. RIGHTS-OF-WAY/ PROPERTY INTERESTS

The WVID will be required to acquire certain real property interests, including fee simple 
title, rights-of-way, easements and access as necessary for the implementation, 
installation, operation, and maintenance of the Project. It is anticipated that some of 
said real property interests will be donated by the landowners in the Unit and some will 
be purchased by the WVID from the landowners within and outside the Unit. The above 
Estimated Costs of Improvements include allowances for such purchases.

vj v:\2156\active\215612793\civil\report\final_document_report\rpt_wvid_amended-unit-dev-1_plan-improvements_v-4_mak_20151120.docx 10
Page 27Page 93



AMENDED UNIT OF DEVELOPMENT NO. 1
PLAN OF IMPROVEMENTS

SECTION E. MAINTENANCE RESPONSIBILITIES
November 20, 2015

SECTION E. MAINTENANCE RESPONSIBILITIES

Maintenance and operational responsibilities of the Project will include the following:

1. Maintenance and updating of the Master Plans and Standards as the District 
develops. It is expected that this responsibility will remain with the WVID in 
cooperation with the Developer.

2. Maintenance and operation of the Gateway features and Landscaping and 
Irrigation associated with the roadway system. It is expected that this responsibility 
will remain with the WVID, although some may remain with the developer.

3. Maintenance and operation of the Regional Parks. It is expected that the Regional 
Parks may be turned over to the City of North Port upon its request and that the 
City of North Port may assume operation and maintenance responsibilities 
(although the District may retain ownership). Unless and until that time, the WVID 
will be responsible for operation and maintenance of the Regional Parks.

4. Maintenance and operation of the Fire Rescue and Law Enforcement facilities 
and equipment. Any Fire Rescue and Law Enforcement facilities and equipment 
will be turned over to the City of North Port for operation and maintenance.

vj v:\2156\active\215612793\civil\report\final_document_report\rpt_wvid_amended-unit-dev-1_plan-improvements_v-4_mak_20151120.docx 11
Page 28Page 94



AMENDED UNIT OF DEVELOPMENT NO. 1
PLAN OF IMPROVEMENTS

SECTION F. METHOD OF FUNDING
November 20, 2015

SECTION F. METHOD OF FUNDING

Several alternative methods of funding the implementation of improvements authorized 
in the Plan of Improvements which is to be constructed on existing or acquired rights-of-
way are available to the WVID in accordance with past policy and applicable State 
Statutes. These are as follows:

1. Donations by the landowners of the proposed improvements provided such 
improvements are constructed in accordance with plans and specifications 
approved by the WVID Engineer and designed by WVID Project Engineer(s).

2. Donation of funding by the landowners to the WVID for construction of required 
improvements.

3. Construction of required improvements utilizing available non-ad valorem 
assessments, loan or bond proceeds, with the loans or bonds being repaid from 
annual assessments to the benefitted lands within the Unit until the indebtedness 
are retired.

Combination of 1, 2 and 3 above, including the authority, if the WVID so determines, to 
reimburse the landowners for any funds previously advanced by them to the WVID or 
for improvements constructed by them and turned over to the WVID, to the extent said 
improvements, works or services are authorized in this Plan

vj v:\2156\active\215612793\civil\report\final_document_report\rpt_wvid_amended-unit-dev-1_plan-improvements_v-4_mak_20151120.docx 12
Page 29Page 95



AMENDED UNIT OF DEVELOPMENT NO. 1
PLAN OF IMPROVEMENTS

SECTION G. RECOMMENDATIONS
November 20, 2015

SECTION G. RECOMMENDATIONS

Based on the information presented in this Plan, the following recommendations are 
made:

1. That the West Villages Improvement District Board of Supervisors approve the Plan 
of Improvements.

2. That all lands, rights-of-way or easements required for the Plan be acquired by or 
furnished to the WVID, in fee simple title by perpetual easement, as the case may 
be.

3. That usage of the provisions of Chapter 170, Florida Statutes, or Chapter 298, 
Florida Statutes, and/or Chapter 2004-456, be authorized by the determination, 
assessment, apportionment, levy, collection, and repayment of such non-ad 
valorem assessments, connection charges or fees as the Board of Supervisors 
deems appropriate.

4. That the improvements presented in this Plan be implemented and upon their 
completion thereafter be either owned by the WVID or turned over to the 
appropriate unit of local government, which will maintain and operate same for 
the benefit of the lands within Unit of Development No. 1.

vj v:\2156\active\215612793\civil\report\final_document_report\rpt_wvid_amended-unit-dev-1_plan-improvements_v-4_mak_20151120.docx 13
Page 30Page 96



AMENDED UNIT OF DEVELOPMENT NO. 1
PLAN OF IMPROVEMENTS

EXHIBIT “A” UNIT 1 SKETCH AND LEGAL DESCRIPTION
November 20, 2015

EXHIBIT “A” UNIT 1 SKETCH AND LEGAL DESCRIPTION

vj v:\2156\active\215612793\civil\report\final_document_report\rpt_wvid_amended-unit-dev-1_plan-improvements_v-4_mak_20151120.docx 14
Page 31Page 97



Page 32Page 98



Page 33Page 99



Page 34Page 100



Page 35Page 101



Page 36Page 102



Page 37Page 103



Page 38Page 104



Page 39Page 105



Page 40Page 106



Page 41Page 107



 

  

 

 

WEST VILLAGES 
IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT  
Unit of Development No. 1 

Amendment to Amended Unit No. 1 Plan of Improvements 
Engineer’s Report dated November 20, 2015  

JULY 14, 2022 

 

 

 
  

 

 

SUBMITTED BY 

Dewberry Engineers Inc. 

2201 Cantu Court 

Suite 107 

Sarasota, Florida 

Phone: 941.702.9672 

Contact: Richard Ellis 

SUBMITTED TO 

West Villages Improvement District 

19503 S. West Villages Parkway Suite #A3 
Venice, Florida 34293 

Phone: 941.244.2703   

Page 108



West Villages Improvement District Unit of Development No. 1 
Amendment to Engineer’s Report dated November 20, 2015 – Series 2022 Bonds 
July 14, 2022 
  

   1 
 

 

1. Purpose and Scope 

The purpose of this Amendment to the Amended Unit No. 1 Plan of Improvements Engineer’s Report 
prepared by Stantec Consulting Services Inc. on November 20, 2015, is to revise and update the area 
and boundary. The new area will be 8,480.7 acres. An updated sketch and legal description for the 
revised boundary is included in Exhibit 1. There are no additional changes to the original Engineer’s 
Report.   

Page 109



Page 110



Page 111



Page 112



Page 113



Page 114



Page 115



 
 

Composite Exhibit B 
 

Plan of Improvements for 2017 Refinancing, dated June 29, 2017 
 

Amendment to Plan of Improvements for 2017 Refinancing, dated July 14, 2022 
 

 

Page 116



WEST VILLAGES 
IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT  
PLAN OF 
IMPROVEMENTS FOR 
UNIT 1 REFINANCING 

 
 

 

 

Prepared for: 
West Villages Improvement District 
c/o Special District Services, Inc. 
2501A Burns Road 
Palm Beach Gardens, FL 33410 

 

Prepared by: 
Stantec Consulting Services Inc. 
6900 Professional Parkway East 
Sarasota, FL 34240 

 
 

 

June 29, 2017 

Page 117



WEST VILLAGES IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT 
PLAN OF IMPROVEMENTS FOR UNIT 1 REFINANCING

vj v:\2156\active\215613996\civil\report\final_document_report\rpt_wvid_eng-rpt-unit-1_plan-improvements_mak_20170628.docx

Table of Contents

1. INTRODUCTION

2. GENERAL DESCRIPTION

3. INFRASTRUCTURE IMPROVEMENTS

4. SUMMARY AND CONCLUSION

LIST OF TABLES
TABLE 1 PROPOSED IMPROVEMENT COSTS (SUMMARY)

LIST OF EXHIBITS
EXHIBIT 1 OVERALL BOUNDARY OF WVID
EXHIBIT 2 UNIT 1 BOUNDARY MAP
EXHIBIT 3 UNIT 2 BOUNDARY MAP
EXHIBIT 4 UNIT 3 BOUNDARY MAP
EXHIBIT 5 UNIT 4 BOUNDARY MAP
EXHIBIT 6 SKETCH AND LEGAL DESCRIPTION

Page 118



WEST VILLAGES IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT 
PLAN OF IMPROVEMENTS FOR UNIT 1 REFINANCING

vj v:\2156\active\215613996\civil\report\final_document_report\rpt_wvid_eng-rpt-unit-1_plan-improvements_mak_20170628.docx

1. INTRODUCTIONS

The West Villages Improvement District (“WVID”) was created by and operates under 
Chapter 2004-456, Laws of Florida (the “Act”) and operates pursuant to the Act and 
applicable provisions of Chapter 298, Florida Statutes. WVID was created to construct 
and maintain public works and utilities including water, sewer, drainage, irrigation, water 
management, parks, recreational facilities, roadway or related activities, as more 
particularly described in Chapter 2004-456, Laws of Florida.

District has adopted a Plan of Improvements for the 2007 Project which remains in full 
force and effect. For those improvements, refer to adopted Plan.

The purpose of this Report is to present the nature and extent of the improvements 
intended to be funded, in part, by the District’s Series 2017 Refunding Bonds (Unit of 
Development No. 1) which may be implemented by WVID for and on behalf of the Unit 
of Development No. 1 (the 2017 Project), which improvements will thereafter be owned, 
operated and/or maintained by either WVID or other legally empowered governmental 
entities. The text generally describes the existing land within Unit No. 1 and the proposed 
improvements comprising the 2017 Project.

Aerial Location Maps (Exhibits “1 through 5”) hereof shows overall District Boundary and
the location of Unit of Developments Nos. 1 through 4. The Legal Description and Sketch 
(Exhibit “6”) reflects the lands included in Unit of Development No. 1.

2 GENERAL DESCRIPTION

A. Topography

The area within Unit of Development No. 1 (the Unit) is relatively flat with site 
elevations ranging from approximately 4.5 feet to 15 feet based on 1983 Southwest 
Florida Water Management District contour maps and U.S.C. & G.AS. Datum. The 
lower elevations occur in the wetlands along the east side of the site while the higher 
elevations are located near the southwest corner of the site. The Unit is primarily 
underdeveloped pasture and rangelands, upland pine flatwood, wetlands, and 
undeveloped woodlands.

Page 119



WEST VILLAGES IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT 
PLAN OF IMPROVEMENTS FOR UNIT 1 REFINANCING

vj v:\2156\active\215613996\civil\report\final_document_report\rpt_wvid_eng-rpt-unit-1_plan-improvements_mak_20170628.docx

B. Soil and Vegetation

Based on the 1991 Soil Survey of Sarasota County, Florida, prepared by the United 
States Department of Agriculture (USDA) Soil Conservation Service (SCS), the 
predominant surficial soil types within the Unit are identified as SCS Soil No. 10, 
EauGallie and Myakka Fine Sands and SCS Soils No. 31, Pineda Fine Sand. SCS Soil 
No. 10 is a nearly level, poorly drained soil that can be made up entirely of EauGallie 
and similar soils, entirely Myakka and similar soils, or a combination of EauGallie, 
Myakka and other soils. Typically, the EauGallie soil has a surface layer of black fine 
sand with a subsurface layer of gray fine sand to a depth of about 22 inches. The 
surface layer of the Myakka soil is typically dark grayish brown fine sand about 6 
inches thick while the subsurface layer is light gray fine sand about 18 inches thick. 
Pineda Fine Sand is a nearly level, poorly drained soil. Typically, the surface and 
subsurface layers are grey fine sands totaling approximately 22 inches thick. The 
subsoil consists of an upper layer of 14 inches of brown fine sand and a lower layer 
of 12 inches of mottled, light brownish gray fine sandy loam.

The property within the Unit currently consists of 22 different vegetative communities 
comprised of both upland and wetland habitats. Several of the vegetation 
communities have been modified as a result of onsite agricultural activities including 
ditching and fire suppression. Areas that were historically extensive open forests or 
wiregrass prairies have since become heavily forested or have been cleared for
cattle grazing and commercial nursery. Extensive ditching has also altered the 
hydrology of several of the wetland systems onsite, particularly where the ditches 
bisect wetlands or are adjacent to wetlands. These land altering activities have 
comprised, to a certain extent, the overall quality on several of the onsite 
vegetation communities. The predominate habitat types on the site are disturbed 
pine flatwoods, hardwood conifer mixed, wetlands, improved pastures, and mixed 
rangelands.

C. Land Use and Zoning

Unit 1 is located within the City of North Port, Florida (“City”). Parcels within Unit 1 are 
currently in various stages of development review and approval with the City, 
however, it is expected that the parcels will receive a Village comprehensive plan 
and zoning designation from the City that is compatible with the comprehensive 
land use plan adopted by the City.

Page 120



WEST VILLAGES IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT 
PLAN OF IMPROVEMENTS FOR UNIT 1 REFINANCING

vj v:\2156\active\215613996\civil\report\final_document_report\rpt_wvid_eng-rpt-unit-1_plan-improvements_mak_20170628.docx

3. INFRASTRUCTURE IMPROVEMENTS

A. Public Infrastructure Improvements

The improvements as well as the standards development and master planning for 
the Unit will be consistent with the City of North Port Comprehensive Plan and 
Implementing Ordinances, studies, plans, and may include:

Roadways, including thoroughfares, arterial, collector, or local streets
(including related drainage)

Master Irrigation Facilities

Gateway Features and Landscaping

Engineering and Contingencies 

B. Permitting

Required permits will be applied for as the design of various facilities progresses.

It is our opinion that there are no technical reasons existing at this time which would 
prohibit the implementation of the plan or permitting of the Plan of Improvements, 
subject to continued compliance with all agency criteria and conditions of the 
already approved plans and permits. 

Permits necessary to complete the 2017 Project have either been obtained as 
described above, or, in our opinion, are obtainable from the permitting agencies, 
subject to reasonable, normal and customary permit conditions.

C. Rights-of-Way

The WVID will be required to acquire certain real property interests, including fee 
simple title, rights-of-way, easements and access as necessary for the 
implementation, installation, operation, and maintenance of the 2017 Project. It is 
anticipated that some of said real property interests will be donated by the 
landowners in the Unit and some will be purchased by the WVID (subject to statutory 
approvals and satisfactory appraisals) from the landowners within and outside the 
Unit. The Estimated Costs of Improvements include allowances for such purchases.

Page 121



WEST VILLAGES IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT 
PLAN OF IMPROVEMENTS FOR UNIT 1 REFINANCING

vj v:\2156\active\215613996\civil\report\final_document_report\rpt_wvid_eng-rpt-unit-1_plan-improvements_mak_20170628.docx

D. MAINTENANCE RESPONSIBILITIES

Maintenance and operational responsibilities of the 2017 Project will include the 
following:

1. Maintenance and updating of the Master Plans and Standards as the District 
develops. It is expected that this responsibility will remain with the WVID in 
cooperation with the Developer.

2. Maintenance and operation of the roadways and Gateway features and 
Landscaping and Irrigation associated with the roadway system. It is expected that 
this responsibility will remain with the WVID.

3. Maintenance of other utilities such as water and sewer (including lines, pump 
stations, treatment plants, etc.) are expected to be turned over to the City of North 
Port.

4 SUMMARY AND CONCLUSION

The 2017 Project as outlined is necessary for the functional development of the District. 
The 2017 Project is being designed in accordance with current governmental regulatory 
requirements. The 2017 Project will serve its intended function so long as the construction 
is in substantial compliance with the design. Items of construction for the 2017 Project are 
based upon concurrent development plans.

It is our professional opinion that the infrastructure costs provided herein for the District 
improvements for the 2017 Project are reasonable to complete the construction of the 
infrastructure described herein and that these infrastructure improvements will benefit 
and add value to the District. These estimated costs are based upon prices currently 
being experienced for similar items of work in Southwest Florida and expected inflation in 
the future. Actual costs may vary based on final engineering, planning and approvals 
from regulatory agencies.

Page 122



WEST VILLAGES IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT 
PLAN OF IMPROVEMENTS FOR UNIT 1 REFINANCING

vj v:\2156\active\215613996\civil\report\final_document_report\rpt_wvid_eng-rpt-unit-1_plan-improvements_mak_20170628.docx

LIST OF TABLES

TABLE 1 PROPOSED IMPROVEMENT COSTS (SUMMARY)

Page 123



WEST VILLAGES IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT 
PLAN OF IMPROVEMENTS FOR UNIT 1 REFINANCING

vj v:\2156\active\215613996\civil\report\final_document_report\rpt_wvid_eng-rpt-unit-1_plan-improvements_mak_20170628.docx

Table 1
Estimated Cost of Improvements for 2017 Project

Element Cost

Roadway Improvements and Enhancements $ 2,500,000
Master Irrigation Facilities $  800,000
Gateway Features and Landscaping $    300,000

Subtotal $ 3,600,000

Contingencies (10%) $    360,000
Engineering, Legal and Administrative (15%) $    540,000

Subtotal $    900,000

Total $ 4,500,000

Please note that estimated individual Element totals will vary and are only to establish 
a Total Estimated Cost of Improvements.

Page 124



WEST VILLAGES IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT 
PLAN OF IMPROVEMENTS FOR UNIT 1 REFINANCING

vj v:\2156\active\215613996\civil\report\final_document_report\rpt_wvid_eng-rpt-unit-1_plan-improvements_mak_20170628.docx

LIST OF EXHIBITS

Page 125



WEST VILLAGES IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT 
PLAN OF IMPROVEMENTS FOR UNIT 1 REFINANCING

vj v:\2156\active\215613996\civil\report\final_document_report\rpt_wvid_eng-rpt-unit-1_plan-improvements_mak_20170628.docx

EXHIBIT 1 OVERALL BOUNDARY OF WVID

EXHIBIT 2 UNIT 1 BOUNDARY MAP

EXHIBIT 3 UNIT 2 BOUNDARY MAP

EXHIBIT 4 UNIT 3 BOUNDARY MAP

EXHIBIT 5 UNIT 4 BOUNDARY MAP

EXHIBIT 6 SKETCH AND LEGAL DESCRIPTION – UNIT 1

Page 126



Stantec Consulting Services Inc.
6900 Professional Parkway East

Sarasota, FL 34240
tel 941.907.6900
fax 941.907.6911

West Villages Improvement District
Boundary Map

June 2017

0 1,000 2,000

Feet

($$¯

\\U
S

12
27

-F
01

\V
:\2

15
6\

ac
tiv

e\
21

56
12

79
3\

gi
s\

m
xd

\B
ou

nd
ar

y_
M

ap
_2

01
70

61
9_

v0
1_

10
64

92
.m

xd
   

   
R

ev
is

ed
: 2

01
7-

06
-1

9 
B

y:
 e

st
ur

m

Disclaimer: Stantec assumes no responsibility for data
supplied in electronic format. The recipient accepts
full responsibility for verifying the accuracy and
completeness of the data. The recipient releases 
Stantec, its officers, employees, consultants and
agents, from any and all claims arising in any way
from the content or provision of the data.

West Villages Boundary

L E G E N D

Prepared by: E.E.S. 06/19/17

Aerial: Sarasota County, 2016

EXHIBIT "1"

Page 127



EXHIBIT "2"

Page 128



EXHIBIT "3"

Page 129



EXHIBIT "4"

Page 130



Page 131



EXHIBIT "6"

Page 132



Page 133



Page 134



Page 135



Page 136



Page 137



Page 138



Page 139



Page 140



Page 141



 

 

  

 

 

WEST VILLAGES 
IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT  
Unit of Development No. 1 

Amendment to 2017 Plan of Improvements 

JULY 14, 2022 

 

 

 
  

 

 

SUBMITTED BY 

Dewberry Engineers Inc. 
2201 Cantu Court 
Suite 107 
Sarasota, Florida 
Phone: 941.702.9672 
Contact: Richard Ellis 

SUBMITTED TO 

West Villages Improvement District 
19503 S. West Villages Parkway Suite #A3 
Venice, Florida 34293 
Phone: 941.244.2703   

Page 142



West Villages Improvement District Unit of Development No. 1 
Amendment to 2017 Plan of Improvements 
July 14, 2022 

   1 
 

 

1. Purpose and Scope 

The purpose of this Amendment to the Unit 1 Plan of Improvements prepared by Stantec Consulting 
Services Inc. on June 29, 2017, is to revise and update the area and boundary. The new area will be 
8480.7 acres. An updated sketch and legal description for the revised boundary is included in Exhibit 1. 
There are no additional changes to the original Plan of Improvements.   

Page 143



Page 144



Page 145



Page 146



Page 147



Page 148



Page 149



 

1 
4853-6141-4915.2  

WEST VILLAGES IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT  
 

GATE OPERATION POLICIES 

 
Gran Paradiso Community 

 
 

1. PURPOSE.  The West Villages Improvement District (the “District”) is a local unit of 
special purpose government created and existing pursuant to 2004-456, Law of Florida, 
as amended.  The Gran Paradiso community (the “Community”) is located within the 
boundaries of the District.  The District owns certain roadway and other public 
infrastructure within the Community (the “Facilities”) that are located behind gate and 
gatehouse infrastructure that is operated and maintained by the Gran Paradiso Property 
Owners Association, Inc. (the “POA”).  Accordingly, the District must ensure that access 
to the Community by members of the public is afforded pursuant to State and Federal 
law.  The District hereby finds that it is in the best interests of the District, its residents 
and landowners, to require that all security personnel retained to operate the gates strictly 
adhere to the following gate operation policies (hereinafter, the “Policies”) which shall 
supplement the standing Standard Operating Procedures between the POA and the 
Gatehouse Monitor implemented relative to same, if any (hereinafter, “Post Orders”). 
 

2. DESCRIPTION OF THE GATES.  Gate and gatehouse infrastructure has been 
installed at several entrances to the Community.  For the purpose of these Policies, the 
term “Main Gate” shall refer to the gate and gatehouse infrastructure located at the 
intersection of Galleria Boulevard and South Tamiami Trail, and the term “Secondary 
Gate” shall refer to the gate infrastructure located on Renaissance Boulevard.  The term 
“Gates” shall collectively refer to both the Main Gate and the Secondary Gate. 
 

3. POSITION OF GATE ARMS.  The gate arms at both the Main Gate and the Secondary 
Gate shall be left in an upright position during all times in which the Main Gate is not 
manned or monitored by a gatehouse monitor or virtual gate attendant (collectively, the 
“Gatehouse Monitor”).  
 

4. GATEHOUSE MONITOR PRESENCE.  The Main Gate will be manned or monitored 
twenty-four (24) hours per day seven (7) days per week by either a physical or virtual 
Gatehouse Monitor.  At the time of adoption of these Policies, a gate attendant(s) will be 
physically present at the Main Gate from 6 a.m. to 10 p.m. and virtually from 10 p.m. to 6 
a.m., which hours may be adjusted by the POA at its sole discretion. 

 
5. MOTOR VEHICLE ENTRY. 

 

Page 150



 

2 
4853-6141-4915.2  

i. The Gatehouse Monitor shall greet all visitors to the Community in a courteous 
fashion.  The Gatehouse Monitor shall offer assistance and direction to all persons 
requesting access through the Gates.  
 

ii. In the event a person requesting access through the Gates is not a resident of the 
Community or a permitted visitor noted in the resident visitor logs, the Gatehouse 
Monitor shall request and obtain, if possible, the following information and record 
it in the daily log: 
 

 Vehicle Make and Model 
 Vehicle License Plate Number 
 Name of Driver (if provided) 
 Number of Occupants observed 
 Time of Entry 

 
iii. The Gatehouse Monitor shall perform the duties described herein efficiently so 

that no vehicle is delayed entry for an unreasonable period of time. 
 

iv. If the Gatehouse Monitor determines, based on his or her reasonable observations, 
that the proposed entry into the Community poses a threat to the safety of persons 
or property located within the Community, access through the Gates shall be 
denied until such threat subsides.  In cases of perceived threats to the safety of 
persons or property within the Community, the Gatehouse Monitor shall 
immediately call the City of North Port Police Department and report the threat.  
The Gatehouse Monitor shall record in the daily log his or her observations upon 
which any such denial of access is based.  The Gatehouse Monitor shall not deny 
access on the basis of age, residency, gender, race, religion, national origin or 
physical handicap.  

 
v. If the vehicle does not stop or “tailgates” another vehicle through the gate, the 

Gatehouse Monitor shall record the license plate number (if possible) and a 
general description of the vehicle.  In the event a vehicle does not stop or 
otherwise “tailgates”, the Gatehouse Monitor shall follow the pursuit protocol 
established in the Post Orders, if any.   

 
vi. The Gatehouse Monitor, and any other POA-defined contacts as listed in the Post 

Orders, shall remain alert for any unusual or suspicious activity that may require 
the summoning of emergency assistance.  The Gatehouse Monitor or such other 
POA-defined contacts as referenced above shall report suspicious activity to the 
City of North Port Police Department.  

 
vii. Law enforcement and emergency response vehicles shall not be hindered from 

entering the Community. 

Page 151



 

3 
4853-6141-4915.2  

 
 

6. POSTING OF POLICIES; SIGNAGE. 
 

i. These Policies shall be posted in the guardhouse located at the Main Gate. 
 

ii. Signage shall be erected at the Secondary Gate, and all additional future gates 
within the Community, if any, directing members of the public to enter the 
Community through the Main Gate. 

 
 

7. EMERGENCY NUMBERS. 
 

i. City of North Port Police Department: 911 (emergency); (941) 429-7300 (non-
emergency) 
 

ii. City of North Port Fire Rescue Department: 911(emergency); (941) 240-8150 
(non-emergency) 
 

iii. District Manager:  (561) 630-4922 (contact the District Manager when any 
incident occurs on property owned by the District, involves contractors employed 
by the District) 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Last Approved: July 14, 2022 

Page 152



Page 153



Labor Classification Invoice Rate
CSG Expert Witness $350.00
CSG Senior Director / VP $325.00
CSG Senior Director $265.00
CSG Director $225.00
CSG Senior Manager / Asst. Director $205.00
CSG Manager $185.00
CSG Assistant Manager $165.00
CSG Senior Project Professional $145.00
CSG Project Professional $130.00
CSG Senior Professional $115.00
CSG Professional $110.00
CSG Senior Technician $95.00
CSG Technician 2 $85.00
CSG Technician 1 $65.00
Environmental Manager $160.00
Project Environmental Specialist $100.00
Expert Witness $350.00
Principal $330.00
Technical/Professional 30 $310.00
Technical/Professional 29 $295.00
Technical/Professional 28 $285.00
Technical/Professional 27 $250.00
Technical/Professional 26 $240.00
Technical/Professional 25 $235.00
Technical/Professional 24 $230.00
Technical/Professional 23 $225.00
Technical/Professional 22 $220.00
Technical/Professional 21 $210.00
Technical/Professional 20 $205.00
Technical/Professional 19 $200.00
Technical/Professional 18 $195.00
Technical/Professional 17 $185.00
Technical/Professional 16 $180.00
Technical/Professional 15 $170.00
Technical/Professional 14 $160.00
Technical/Professional 13 $150.00
Technical/Professional 12 $140.00
Technical/Professional 11 $135.00
Technical/Professional 10 $130.00
Technical/Professional 09 $125.00
Technical/Professional 08 $110.00
Technical/Professional 07 $105.00
Technical/Professional 06 $100.00
Technical/Professional 05 $95.00
Technical/Professional 04 $90.00
Technical/Professional 03 $85.00
Technical/Professional 02 $75.00
Technical/Professional 01 $70.00
Technical/Support 1 $50.00
Survey Crew - 3 Person $230.00
Surveyor $200.00
Survey Crew - 2 Person $180.00
Survey Senior CAD Operator $100.00
Survey Crew Chief $85.00

2022 Community Development Rate Schedule
Professionals include Economists, Planners, Designers,  Landscape Architects, and Engineers.
Any changes in hourly rates to reflect increases in cost of living, taxes, benefits, etc. will take effect on January 1, 2023. Rates in the below table are "loaded" 
hourly rates and include all overhead, costs, and benefits per hourly unit rate.

     © 2021 GAI Consultants        Page 1 of 1 Page 154



 

P:\PROPOSALS-PRIVATE\2022\2022.33 WEST VILLAGES\2022.33 WEST VILLAGES -- 6-29-22.DOCX 
900 Pine Street, Suite 225         Englewood, Florida 34223          (941)475-7981          Fax (941)474-4285 

June 29, 2022           REF: 2022.33 
                Via email: Lindsay.Whelan@kutakrock.com 
 
Ms. Lindsay C. Whelan 
Kutak Rock LLP 
107 West College Ave. 
Tallahassee, FL 32301 
801-692-7308 
 
RE:  ASSISTANCE WITH AUDIT OF BOND REQUISITIONS FOR WEST VILLAGES IMPROVEMENT 

DISTRICT 
 
Dear Ms. Whelan, 
 
Giffels-Webster Engineers, Inc. (GWE) is pleased to provide a proposal and fee schedule for the West 
Village improvement district (WVID) for the audit of requisitions for its Bonds to confirm what types 
of construction activity was used for the funds. 
 
We are unsure of the exact scope or time necessary for our services and therefore can proceed in 
accordance with our standard hourly rates attached.   We suggest a budget of perhaps $15,000 to draw 
from but will only invoice for the hours spent.   
 
After you have had an opportunity to review this proposal, please do not hesitate to contact me should 
you have any questions or need additional information.  If this proposal is acceptable, kindly sign where 
indicated and return one copy of this letter to my attention (facsimiles acceptable).  Receipt of the 
executed copy will act as our authorization to proceed with the work as outlined herein. 
 
Thank you for allowing us the opportunity to provide this proposal.  We look forward to working with 
you on this project. 
 
PREPARED BY:  ACCEPTED BY: 
GIFFELS-WEBSTER ENGINEERS, INC.   OWNER OR OWNER’S AGENT 
 
    6-29-2022         
Jonathan Cole, P.E.    (Date)  Owner     (Date) 
        
              
       Typed or Printed Name and Title of Signor  
 
 
Risk Allocation: In recognition of the relative risks, rewards, and benefits of the project to both the Client and Engineer, the risks have been allocated 
such that the Client agrees that, to the fullest extent permitted by law, the Engineer’s total liability to the Client for any and all injuries, claims, losses, 
expenses, damages, etc…arising out of this agreement from any cause or causes, shall not exceed the total fee paid to Engineer, such causes include, but 
are not limited to, Engineer’s negligence, errors, omissions, liability, breach of contract, or breach of warranty. 
 
JHC/ldo 
Attachment 

Page 155



 

P:\GWE HOURLY RATE SHEET\2022\2022 ENGR-SVCS-HOURLY-RATE-SCHEDULE .DOC 

 
 
 

2022 SCHEDULE OF FEES 
FOR ENGINEERING SERVICES 

 
All work will be billed according to the following minimum fee schedule unless specific agreement is made 
in writing with an officer of this firm for another basis of charges. 
 
 LABOR CATEGORY    HOURLY RATE* 
  

Clerical-Technical Services ...................................................................... $65.00 per hour 
Data Collection Assistant ......................................................................... $75.00 per hour 
Construction Inspector ............................................................................. $85.00 per hour 
Senior Construction Inspector .................................................................. $95.00 per hour 
Engineer Technician/Designer ............................................................... $105.00 per hour 
Senior Designer/Senior Engineering Technician .................................... $110.00 per hour 
Design Engineer…………………………………………………………….....$135.00 per hour 
Certified Building Inspector/Senior Designer………………………….…....$130.00 per hour 
Construction Administrator……………………………………………………$150.00 per hour 
Project Manager/Senior Engineer, P.E. ................................................. $175.00 per hour 
Principal Engineer P.E. .......................................................................... $225.00 per hour 
Expert Witness....................................................................................... $275.00 per hour 

 
*Clients requesting services be placed ahead of existing GWE commitments are subject to 

charges based on time-and-a-half overtime fees.  
 

Note:  Land Surveying and Landscaping Services are sub-contracted to outside firms. 
 
The assignment of personnel is solely the responsibility of the officers of this firm. 
 
The rates above include all charges for CADD time, travel and electronic equipment.  Outside services 
used will be billed at invoice amount, plus 15% for handling and are not included in the lump sum fees or 
estimates. 
 
INVOICES 
Progress invoices will be submitted to the client monthly and a final bill will be submitted upon completion 
of the services.  A detailed separation of charges and back-up data will be provided at client’s request, but 
each invoice is due on presentation and is past due thirty (30) days from invoice date.  Client agrees to pay 
a finance charge of one and one-half percent (1-1/2%) per month on past due accounts. 
 
We reserve the right to suspend or terminate work under our agreement upon failure of the client to pay 
invoices as due. 
 
INCREASES: 
Projects authorized under contract are subject to periodic rate increases.  
 
**Prints:    • 24X36=$ 2.50   •18X24=$ 1.50 •11X17=$ .50  •8-1/2X14=$ .25  •8-1/2X11=$ .20 

**Mylar Sepia: • 24X36 = $25.00       
 

**Cost for items in excess of contractual deliverables. 

Page 156



 

1 
4855-4055-4512.1  

This instrument was prepared by and 
upon recording should be returned to: 
 
Lindsay C. Whelan 
Kutak Rock LLP  
P.O. Box 10230       
Tallahassee, Florida 32302   
 
 

 
AGREEMENT REGARDING THE INCLUSION OF  

CERTAIN REAL PROPERTY IN UNIT OF DEVELOPMENT NO. 6  
 
 THIS AGREEMENT (the “Agreement”) is made and entered into this 14th day of July, 
2022 (the “Effective Date”), by and between: 
          

WEST VILLAGES IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT, a local unit of special-purpose 
government established pursuant to Chapter 2004-456, Laws of Florida, with a 
mailing address of 2501A Burns Road, Palm Beach Gardens, Florida 33410 (the 
“District”); and 
 
MANASOTA BEACH RANCHLANDS, LLLP, a Florida limited liability limited 
partnership and the owner of certain lands within the District, with a mailing 
address of 4901 Vineland Road, Suite 450, Orlando, Florida 32811 (the 
“Landowner”). 

 
RECITALS 

 
 WHEREAS, the District is a local unit of special-purpose government created and existing 
pursuant to Chapter 2004-456, Laws of Florida, as amended (the “Special Act”) for the purpose 
of constructing, acquiring, and maintaining infrastructure improvements and services; and 
 
 WHEREAS, in accordance with Section 11 of the Special Act, the District previously 
adopted Resolution 2018-12 establishing Unit of Development No. 6 (“Unit No. 6”); and 

 
WHEREAS, the Landowner is the owner of the real property described in the attached 

Exhibit A (hereinafter, the “Property”) consisting of approximately 20 acres which is located 
within the jurisdictional boundaries of the District; and 

 
WHEREAS, the Property is subject to a restrictive covenant recorded in the Official 

Records of Sarasota County, Florida as Instrument Nos. 2018128694 and 2022071570 relative to 
the provision of irrigation water to such property (hereinafter, the “Restrictive Covenant”) 
which is provided pursuant to that certain Irrigation Water Supply Agreement recorded as 
Instrument No. 2018159052 and recorded the Official Records of Sarasota County, Florida, as 
may be amended from time to time (collectively, the “District Water Supply Agreement”); and 

 

Page 157



 

2 
4855-4055-4512.1  

WHEREAS, the Landowner has approached the District and requested that it amend the 
current boundary of Unit No. 6 to include the Property within such unit (hereinafter, the “Unit 
Amendment”); and 

 
WHEREAS, the District and the Landowner have previously entered into that certain 

Boundary Amendment Funding Agreement, dated November 11, 2021 whereby the Landowner 
agrees to fund the District’s costs related to the Unit Amendment, and accordingly the District is 
amenable to approving the Unit Amendment pursuant to the terms hereof. 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, based upon good and valuable consideration and mutual covenants of 
the parties, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the parties agree as 
follows: 
 
 SECTION 1.   RECITALS.  The above Recitals are true and correct and are hereby 
incorporated herein by this reference. 
  

SECTION 2.   AMENDMENT OF UNIT NO. 6.  Commencing as of the Effective Date of 
this Agreement, the Property shown in Exhibit A shall thereupon and thereafter be a part of and 
included within boundaries of the District’s Unit No. 6.  By execution of this Agreement, the 
Landowner hereby consents to the inclusion of the Property shown in Exhibit A in Unit No. 6 
and the District hereby approves the inclusion of the Property shown in Exhibit A in Unit No. 6. 
 

SECTION 3. BENEFIT TO PROPERTY.  The Landowner acknowledges and agrees that 
the Property receives the same benefits as are reasonably available to it as similarly classified 
parcels of real property within Unit No. 6. 

 
SECTION 4. IMPOSITION AND ALLOCATION OF IRRIGATION FEES, RATES AND 

CHARGES. The Landowner acknowledges and agrees that the Property shall be subject to the 
same rates, fees, and charges, as determined by the District in its sole discretion, relative to the 
provision of the District’s irrigation program as other similarly classified parcels of real property 
located within Unit No. 6, all in accordance with the Restrictive Covenant and the District Water 
Supply Agreement.  
 
 SECTION 5. AGREEMENT.  This instrument shall constitute the final and complete 
expression of the agreement between the parties relating to the subject matter of this Agreement. 
 

SECTION 6. AMENDMENTS.  Amendments to and waivers of the provisions contained 
in this Agreement may be made only by an instrument in writing executed by both parties hereto. 
 
 SECTION 7. AUTHORIZATION.  The execution of this Agreement has been duly 
authorized by the appropriate body or official of all parties to this Agreement, each party has 
complied with all the requirements of law, and each party has full power and authority to comply 
with the terms and provisions of this instrument. 
 

Page 158



 

3 
4855-4055-4512.1  

 SECTION 8. NOTICES.  All notices, requests, consents and other communications under 
this Agreement (“Notices”) shall be in writing and shall be delivered, mailed by First Class Mail, 
postage prepaid, or overnight delivery service, to the parties, as follows: 
 
 A. If to the District:  West Villages Improvement District 
      2501A Burns Road 
      Palm Beach Gardens, Florida 33410 
      Attn: Todd Wodraska 
 
  With a copy to:  Kutak Rock LLP 
      P.O. Box 10230 
      Tallahassee, Florida 32302 
      Attn:  Lindsay Whelan 

 
 B.   If to Landowner:    Manasota Beach Ranchlands, LLLP 
      4901 Vineland Road, Suite 450 

Orlando, Florida 32811 
      Attn: Rick Severance 
      Attn: Leslie Candes 
 
 Except as otherwise provided in this Agreement, any Notice shall be deemed received 
only upon actual delivery at the address set forth in this Agreement.  Notices delivered after 5:00 
p.m. (at the place of delivery) or on a non-business day, shall be deemed received on the next 
business day.  If any time for giving Notice contained in this Agreement would otherwise expire 
on a non-business day, the Notice period shall be extended to the next succeeding business day.  
Saturdays, Sundays, and legal holidays recognized by the United States government shall not be 
regarded as business days.  Counsel for the parties may deliver Notice on behalf of the parties.  
Any party or other person to whom Notices are to be sent or copied may notify the other parties 
and addresses of any change in name or address to which Notices shall be sent by providing the 
same on five (5) days written notice to the parties and addresses set forth in this Agreement. 
 
 SECTION 9. THIRD PARTY BENEFICIARIES.  This Agreement is solely for the benefit 
of the formal parties to this Agreement and no right or cause of action shall accrue upon or by 
reason hereof, to or for the benefit of any third party not a formal party to this Agreement.  
Nothing in this Agreement expressed or implied is intended or shall be construed to confer upon 
any person or corporation other than the parties to this Agreement any right, remedy or claim 
under or by reason of this Agreement or any provisions or conditions hereof; and all of the 
provisions, representations, covenants and conditions contained in this Agreement shall inure to 
the sole benefit of and shall be binding upon the parties to this Agreement and their respective 
representatives, successors, and assigns. 
 

SECTION 10. CONTROLLING LAW; VENUE.  This Agreement and the provisions 
contained herein shall be construed, interpreted, and controlled according to the laws of the State 
of Florida.  Venue shall be in Sarasota County, Florida. 
 

Page 159



 

4 
4855-4055-4512.1  

SECTION 11. PUBLIC RECORDS.  The Landowner understands and agrees that all 
documents of any kind provided to the District or to District staff relative to this Agreement may 
be public records and will be treated as such in accord with Florida law. 
 

SECTION 12. ARM’S LENGTH TRANSACTION.  This Agreement has been negotiated fully 
between the parties as an arm's length transaction. The parties participated fully in the 
preparation of this Agreement with the assistance of their respective counsel.  In the case of a 
dispute concerning the interpretation of any provision of this Agreement, the parties are each 
deemed to have drafted, chosen, and selected the language, and doubtful language will not be 
interpreted or construed against any party. 

 
SECTION 13. HEADINGS FOR CONVENIENCE ONLY.  The descriptive headings in this 

Agreement are for convenience only and shall not control nor affect the meaning or construction 
of any of the provisions of this Agreement. 

 
SECTION 14. COUNTERPARTS.  This Agreement may be executed in any number of 

counterparts, each of which when executed and delivered shall be an original; however, all such 
counterparts together shall constitute but one and the same instrument.  Signature and 
acknowledgment pages, if any, may be detached from the counterparts and attached to a single 
copy of this document to physically form one document. 
 

SECTION 15.   RECORDING.  This Agreement shall be recorded in the Official Records 
of Sarasota County, Florida and all terms, conditions, and covenants contained herein shall be 
deemed to run with the land. 

 
 
 
 
 
 

[SIGNATURES ON NEXT PAGE]

Page 160



 

5 
4855-4055-4512.1  

IN WITNESS THEREOF, the parties execute this Agreement the day and year first written 
above. 
        
 
 
ATTEST:      WEST VILLAGES IMPROVEMENT 

DISTRICT  
 
 
              
Assistant Secretary     John Luczynski, Chairman 
 
 
WITNESS: 
 
 
_______________________________ 
Print Name: _____________________ 
 
 
 
STATE OF FLORIDA 
COUNTY OF _____________ 
 

The foregoing instrument was acknowledged before me by means of ▢ physical presence 
or ▢ online notarization, this    day of ________________, 2022, by John Luczynski, as 
Chairman of the Board of Supervisors of West Villages Improvement District, on its behalf.  He 
[___] is personally known to me or [___] produced ______________________________ as 
identification. 
 
 
      __________________________________________ 
      Notary Public, State of Florida 
 
      Personally Known       
      OR Produced Identification      
      Type of Identification _______________________ 

Page 161



 

6 
4855-4055-4512.1  

WITNESS:      Manasota Beach Ranchlands LLLP, a 
Florida limited liability limited partnership 

       
By: Thomas Ranch Villages GP, LLC, a 
Delaware limited liability company, as its 
General Partner 

   
       By: Thomas Ranch Manager, LLC, a 
Print Name:      Delaware limited liability company, as its 

Manager 
        

__________________________________ 
By: _______________________________ 
Title:      

         
WITNESS: 
 
 
______________________________ 
Print Name: ____________________ 
 
 
 
 
 
STATE OF FLORIDA 
COUNTY OF _____________ 
 

The foregoing instrument was acknowledged before me by means of ▢ physical presence 
or ▢ online notarization, this    day of ________________, 2022, by ________________, 
as _________________ of Thomas Ranch Manager, LLC, on its behalf.  He/she [___] is 
personally known to me or [___] produced ______________________________ as 
identification. 
 
 
      __________________________________________ 
      Notary Public, State of Florida 
 
      Personally Known       
      OR Produced Identification      
      Type of Identification _______________________ 

 
 

Page 162



 

4855-4055-4512.1  

EXHIBIT A 
 

Legal Description of the Property 
 

 
 

Page 163



 

1 
4870-8988-9040.1  

This instrument was prepared by and 
upon recording should be returned to: 
 
Lindsay C. Whelan 
Kutak Rock LLP  
P.O. Box 10230       
Tallahassee, Florida 32302   
 
 

 
AGREEMENT REGARDING THE INCLUSION OF  

CERTAIN REAL PROPERTY IN UNIT OF DEVELOPMENT NO. 7  
 
 THIS AGREEMENT (the “Agreement”) is made and entered into this 14th day of July, 
2022 (the “Effective Date”), by and between: 
          

WEST VILLAGES IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT, a local unit of special-purpose 
government established pursuant to Chapter 2004-456, Laws of Florida, with a 
mailing address of 2501A Burns Road, Palm Beach Gardens, Florida 33410 (the 
“District”); and 
 
MANASOTA BEACH RANCHLANDS, LLLP, a Florida limited liability limited 
partnership and the owner of certain lands within the District, with a mailing 
address of 4901 Vineland Road, Suite 450, Orlando, Florida 32811 (the 
“Landowner”). 

 
RECITALS 

 
 WHEREAS, the District is a local unit of special-purpose government created and existing 
pursuant to Chapter 2004-456, Laws of Florida, as amended (the “Special Act”) for the purpose 
of constructing, acquiring, and maintaining infrastructure improvements and services; and 
 
 WHEREAS, in accordance with Section 11 of the Special Act, the District previously 
adopted Resolution 2018-24 establishing Unit of Development No. 7 relative to approximately 
1,476 acres within the District (“Unit No. 7”); and 
 

WHEREAS, on April 15, 2019, the District issued its West Villages Improvement District 
Special Assessment Bonds (Unit of Development No. 7) , Series 2019 (Master Infrastructure),  in 
the aggregate principal amount of $31,040,000 (the “Series 2019 Bonds”), to finance the design, 
construction, and/or acquisition of certain master public infrastructure improvements and 
facilities within Unit No. 7 as more particularly identified in that certain Unit of Development 
No. 7 Master Plan of Improvements dated December 13, 2018, as may be amended from time to 
time (the “Master Plan of Improvements”) as supplemented by the Plan of Improvements for 
Bond Issue No. 1, dated January 29, 2019 (the “2019 Supplemental Plan of Improvements,” 
and together with the Master Plan of Improvements, the “2019 Plan of Improvements”); and 
 

Page 164



 

2 
4870-8988-9040.1  

WHEREAS, in conjunction with the issuance of the Series 2019 Bonds, the District levied 
debt service special assessments (the “Series 2019 Debt Assessments”) on all developable land 
within Unit No. 7 in order to secure the Series 2019 Bonds in accordance with that certain 
Master Special Assessment Methodology Report for Unit of Development No. 7, dated December 
13, 2018 (the “Master Assessment Report”) as supplemented by the Final First Supplemental 
Special Assessment Methodology Report for Unit of Development No. 7, dated March 28, 2019 
(the “2019 Supplemental Assessment Report,” and together with the Master Assessment 
Report, the “2019 Assessment Report”); and  

 
WHEREAS, the Landowner is the owner of the real property described in the attached 

Exhibit A (hereinafter, the “Property”) consisting of approximately 48 acres which is located 
within the jurisdictional boundaries of the District; and 

 
WHEREAS, the Landowner has approached the District and requested that it amend the 

current boundary of Unit No. 7 to include the Property within such unit (hereinafter, the “Unit 
Amendment”); and 

 
WHEREAS, the District and the Landowner have previously entered into that certain 

Boundary Amendment Funding Agreement, dated November 11, 2021 whereby the Landowner 
agrees to fund the District’s costs related to the Unit Amendment, and accordingly the District is 
amenable to approving the Unit Amendment pursuant to the terms hereof. 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, based upon good and valuable consideration and mutual covenants of 
the parties, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the parties agree as 
follows: 
 
 SECTION 1.   RECITALS.  The above Recitals are true and correct and are hereby 
incorporated herein by this reference. 
  

SECTION 2.   AMENDMENT OF UNIT NO. 7.  Commencing as of the Effective Date of 
this Agreement, the Property shown in Exhibit A shall thereupon and thereafter be a part of and 
included within boundaries of the District’s Unit No. 7.  By execution of this Agreement, the 
Landowner hereby consents to the inclusion of the Property shown in Exhibit A in Unit No. 7 
and the District hereby approves the inclusion of the Property shown in Exhibit A in Unit No. 7. 
 

SECTION 3. BENEFIT TO PROPERTY.  The Landowner acknowledges and agrees that 
the Property receives the same benefits as are reasonably available to it as similarly classified 
parcels of real property within Unit No. 7 as set forth in more detail in the 2019 Plan of 
Improvements and the 2019 Assessment Report. 

 
SECTION 4. IMPOSITION AND ALLOCATION OF NON-AD VALOREM SPECIAL 

ASSESSMENTS.  
 

A. The Landowner acknowledges and agrees that the Property shall be subject to the 
same apportionment, method of assessment, and rate of non-ad valorem 

Page 165



 

3 
4870-8988-9040.1  

assessment as is or will be applied, assessed and levied annually by the District 
upon other similarly classified parcels of real property located within Unit No. 7.  
In furtherance thereof, the District has prepared that certain Amended and 
Restated Master Special Assessment Methodology Report for Unit of 
Development No. 7 and Amended and Restated Final Special Assessment 
Methodology Report for Unit No. 7, each dated July 14, 2022 (collectively, the 
“2022 Assessment Report”), attached hereto as Composite Exhibit B, setting 
forth the manner in which the Property shall be assessed.  Landowner hereby 
consents to the terms of the 2022 Assessment Report. 
 

B. Promptly after the Effective Date of this Agreement, the District shall undertake 
an assessment hearing to levy and impose Series 2019 Debt Assessments on the 
Property pursuant to the Plan of Improvements and the 2022 Assessment Report.  
The Landowner acknowledges and agrees that the District shall undertake such 
process and waives its right to protest the allocation of the Series 2019 Debt 
Assessments on the Property so long as such allocation is in accordance with the 
Plan of Improvements and the 2022 Assessment Report. 

 
 SECTION 5. AGREEMENT.  This instrument shall constitute the final and complete 
expression of the agreement between the parties relating to the subject matter of this Agreement. 
 

SECTION 6. AMENDMENTS.  Amendments to and waivers of the provisions contained 
in this Agreement may be made only by an instrument in writing executed by both parties hereto. 
 
 SECTION 7. AUTHORIZATION.  The execution of this Agreement has been duly 
authorized by the appropriate body or official of all parties to this Agreement, each party has 
complied with all the requirements of law, and each party has full power and authority to comply 
with the terms and provisions of this instrument. 
 
 SECTION 8. NOTICES.  All notices, requests, consents and other communications under 
this Agreement (“Notices”) shall be in writing and shall be delivered, mailed by First Class Mail, 
postage prepaid, or overnight delivery service, to the parties, as follows: 
 
 A. If to the District:  West Villages Improvement District 
      2501A Burns Road 
      Palm Beach Gardens, Florida 33410 
      Attn: Todd Wodraska 
 
  With a copy to:  Kutak Rock LLP 
      P.O. Box 10230 
      Tallahassee, Florida 32302 
      Attn:  Lindsay Whelan 

 
 B.   If to Landowner:    Manasota Beach Ranchlands, LLLP 
      4901 Vineland Road, Suite 450 

Page 166



 

4 
4870-8988-9040.1  

Orlando, Florida 32811 
      Attn: Rick Severance 
      Attn: Leslie Candes 
 
 Except as otherwise provided in this Agreement, any Notice shall be deemed received 
only upon actual delivery at the address set forth in this Agreement.  Notices delivered after 5:00 
p.m. (at the place of delivery) or on a non-business day, shall be deemed received on the next 
business day.  If any time for giving Notice contained in this Agreement would otherwise expire 
on a non-business day, the Notice period shall be extended to the next succeeding business day.  
Saturdays, Sundays, and legal holidays recognized by the United States government shall not be 
regarded as business days.  Counsel for the parties may deliver Notice on behalf of the parties.  
Any party or other person to whom Notices are to be sent or copied may notify the other parties 
and addresses of any change in name or address to which Notices shall be sent by providing the 
same on five (5) days written notice to the parties and addresses set forth in this Agreement. 
 
 SECTION 9. THIRD PARTY BENEFICIARIES.  This Agreement is solely for the benefit 
of the formal parties to this Agreement and no right or cause of action shall accrue upon or by 
reason hereof, to or for the benefit of any third party not a formal party to this Agreement.  
Nothing in this Agreement expressed or implied is intended or shall be construed to confer upon 
any person or corporation other than the parties to this Agreement any right, remedy or claim 
under or by reason of this Agreement or any provisions or conditions hereof; and all of the 
provisions, representations, covenants and conditions contained in this Agreement shall inure to 
the sole benefit of and shall be binding upon the parties to this Agreement and their respective 
representatives, successors, and assigns. 
 

SECTION 10. CONTROLLING LAW; VENUE.  This Agreement and the provisions 
contained herein shall be construed, interpreted, and controlled according to the laws of the State 
of Florida.  Venue shall be in Sarasota County, Florida. 
 

SECTION 11. PUBLIC RECORDS.  The Landowner understands and agrees that all 
documents of any kind provided to the District or to District staff relative to this Agreement may 
be public records and will be treated as such in accord with Florida law. 
 

SECTION 12. ARM’S LENGTH TRANSACTION.  This Agreement has been negotiated fully 
between the parties as an arm's length transaction. The parties participated fully in the 
preparation of this Agreement with the assistance of their respective counsel.  In the case of a 
dispute concerning the interpretation of any provision of this Agreement, the parties are each 
deemed to have drafted, chosen, and selected the language, and doubtful language will not be 
interpreted or construed against any party. 

 
SECTION 13. HEADINGS FOR CONVENIENCE ONLY.  The descriptive headings in this 

Agreement are for convenience only and shall not control nor affect the meaning or construction 
of any of the provisions of this Agreement. 

 

Page 167



 

5 
4870-8988-9040.1  

SECTION 14. COUNTERPARTS.  This Agreement may be executed in any number of 
counterparts, each of which when executed and delivered shall be an original; however, all such 
counterparts together shall constitute but one and the same instrument.  Signature and 
acknowledgment pages, if any, may be detached from the counterparts and attached to a single 
copy of this document to physically form one document. 
 

SECTION 15.   RECORDING.  This Agreement shall be recorded in the Official Records 
of Sarasota County, Florida and all terms, conditions, and covenants contained herein shall be 
deemed to run with the land. 

 
 
 
 
 
 

[SIGNATURES ON NEXT PAGE]

Page 168



 

6 
4870-8988-9040.1  

IN WITNESS THEREOF, the parties execute this Agreement the day and year first written 
above. 
        
 
 
ATTEST:      WEST VILLAGES IMPROVEMENT 

DISTRICT  
 
 
              
Assistant Secretary     John Luczynski, Chairman 
 
 
WITNESS: 
 
 
_______________________________ 
Print Name: _____________________ 
 
 
 
STATE OF FLORIDA 
COUNTY OF _____________ 
 

The foregoing instrument was acknowledged before me by means of ▢ physical presence 
or ▢ online notarization, this    day of ________________, 2022, by John Luczynski, as 
Chairman of the Board of Supervisors of West Villages Improvement District, on its behalf.  He 
[___] is personally known to me or [___] produced ______________________________ as 
identification. 
 
 
      __________________________________________ 
      Notary Public, State of Florida 
 
      Personally Known       
      OR Produced Identification      
      Type of Identification _______________________ 

Page 169



 

7 
4870-8988-9040.1  

WITNESS:      Manasota Beach Ranchlands LLLP, a 
Florida limited liability limited partnership 

       
By: Thomas Ranch Villages GP, LLC, a 
Delaware limited liability company, as its 
General Partner 

   
       By: Thomas Ranch Manager, LLC, a 
Print Name:      Delaware limited liability company, as its 

Manager 
        

__________________________________ 
By: _______________________________ 
Title:      

         
WITNESS: 
 
 
______________________________ 
Print Name: ____________________ 
 
 
 
 
 
STATE OF FLORIDA 
COUNTY OF _____________ 
 

The foregoing instrument was acknowledged before me by means of ▢ physical presence 
or ▢ online notarization, this    day of ________________, 2022, by ________________, 
as _________________ of Thomas Ranch Manager, LLC, on its behalf.  He/she [___] is 
personally known to me or [___] produced ______________________________ as 
identification. 
 
 
      __________________________________________ 
      Notary Public, State of Florida 
 
      Personally Known       
      OR Produced Identification      
      Type of Identification _______________________ 

 
 

Page 170



 

 
4870-8988-9040.1  

EXHIBIT A 
 

Legal Description of the Property 
 
DESCRIPTION ADDED LANDS (as prepared by the certifying Surveyor and Mapper): 
 
Two tracts of land of lying in Section 9, Township 40 South, Range 20 East, Sarasota County, Florida, being more 
particularly described as follows: 
 
Begin at the southwest corner of Tract 502 of Manasota Beach Ranchlands Plat No. 1, recorded in Plat Book 55, 
Page 369 of said Public Records of Sarasota County, Florida; thence N.64°10'08"W., a distance of 259.86 feet to the 
point of curvature of a non-tangent curve to the left, having a radius of 577.00 feet and a central angle of 02°54'55"; 
the following five (5) calls are along the west line of West Villages Parkway (Tract 101 of Manasota Beach 
Ranchlands Plat No. 1): (1) thence Easterly along the arc of said curve, a distance of 29.36 feet, said curve having a 
chord bearing and distance of S.80°22'16"E., 29.36 feet, to the point of curvature of a compound curve to the left 
having a radius of 55.00 feet and a central angle of 16°39'23"; (2)  thence Easterly along the arc of said curve, a 
distance of 15.99 feet, to the point of  tangency of said curve; (3) thence N.81°30'54"E., a distance of 46.48 feet; (4) 
thence N.30°34'52"E., a distance of 936.12 feet to a point of curvature of a curve to the left having a radius of 
1,150.00 feet and a central angle of 33°12'28"; (5) thence Northerly along the arc of said curve, a distance of 666.53 
feet, to the end of said curve; thence N.77°39'39"E. along a line non-tangent to said curve, a distance of 13.55 feet; 
thence S.09°00'33"E., a distance of 718.87 feet; thence N.80°59'49"E., a distance of 1,930.97 feet to a point of 
curvature of a curve to the left having a radius of 1,432.50 feet and a central angle of 03°50'16"; thence Easterly 
along the arc of said curve, a distance of 95.95 feet, to the point of tangency of said curve; thence S.08°20'04"E., a 
distance of 12.04 feet to a point on the north line of Manasota Beach Road (Tract 101 of Manasota Beach 
Ranchlands Plat No. 1); the following three (3) calls are along said north line: (1) thence S.54°50'52"W., a distance 
of 1,890.64 feet to a point of curvature of a curve to the right having a radius of 1,035.00 feet and a central angle of 
60°58'59"; (2) thence Westerly along the arc of said curve, a distance of 1,101.61 feet, to the point of tangency of 
said curve; (3) thence N.64°10'08"W., a distance of 31.32 feet to the POINT OF BEGINNING. 
 
Containing 1,719,405 square feet or 39.4721 acres, more or less. 
 

AND 

Commence at the southwest corner of Tract 502 of Manasota Beach Ranchlands Plat No. 1, recorded in Plat Book 
55, Page 369 of said Public Records of Sarasota County, Florida; the following five (5) calls are along the north line 
of Manasota Beach Road (Tract 101 of Manasota Beach Ranchlands Plat No. 1): (1) thence N.64°10'08"W., a 
distance of 818.57 feet to a point of curvature of a curve to the left having a radius of 1,514.99 feet and a central 
angle of 08°42'21"; (2) thence Westerly along the arc of said curve, a distance of 230.19 feet, to the POINT OF 
BEGINNING; (3) thence continue Westerly along said curve having a radius 1,514.99 feet and a central angle of 
26°48'18", a distance of 708.77 feet to a point of curvature of a reverse curve to the right having a radius of 3,946.41 
feet and a central angle of 48°15'34"; (4) thence Westerly along the arc of said curve, a distance of 3,324.01 feet, to 
the point of tangency of said curve; (5) thence N.51°25'13"W., a distance of 3,416.77 feet; thence N.01°26'06"W., a 
distance of 3.26 feet; thence S.51°25'13"E., a distance of 3,531.77 feet to the point of curvature of a non-tangent 
curve to the left, having a radius of 3,948.37 feet and a central angle of 45°45'30"; thence Easterly along the arc of 
said curve, a distance of 3,153.30 feet, said curve having a chord bearing and distance of S.76°03'34"E., 3,070.17 
feet, to the point of tangency of said curve; thence N.80°59'49"E., a distance of 818.52 feet; thence S.17°07'31"W., a 
distance of 178.67 feet to the POINT OF BEGINNING. 
 
Containing 64,695 square feet or 1.4852 acres, more or less. 
 

 

Page 171



 

 
4870-8988-9040.1  

COMPOSITE EXHIBIT B 
 

2022 Assessment Report 
 

Page 172



 

1 

RESOLUTION 2022-15 
 

[UNIT NO. 7 2022 BOUNDARY AMENDMENT] 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE WEST VILLAGES 
IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT DECLARING SPECIAL 
ASSESSMENTS RELATIVE TO CERTAIN PROPERTIES 
ADDED TO UNIT OF DEVELOPMENT NO. 7 WITHIN THE 
DISTRICT; INDICATING THE LOCATION, NATURE AND 
ESTIMATED COST OF THOSE INFRASTRUCTURE 
IMPROVEMENTS WHOSE COST IS TO BE DEFRAYED BY 
THE SPECIAL ASSESSMENTS; PROVIDING THE 
PORTION OF THE ESTIMATED COST OF THE 
IMPROVEMENTS TO BE DEFRAYED BY THE SPECIAL 
ASSESSMENTS; PROVIDING THE MANNER IN WHICH 
SUCH SPECIAL ASSESSMENTS SHALL BE MADE; 
PROVIDING WHEN SUCH SPECIAL ASSESSMENTS 
SHALL BE PAID; DESIGNATING LANDS UPON WHICH 
THE SPECIAL ASSESSMENTS SHALL BE LEVIED; 
PROVIDING FOR AN ASSESSMENT PLAT; ADOPTING A 
PRELIMINARY ASSESSMENT ROLL; PROVIDING FOR 
PUBLICATION OF THIS RESOLUTION. 

  
 WHEREAS, the District is a local unit of special-purpose government created and existing 
pursuant to Chapter 2004-456, Laws of Florida, as amended (the “Special Act”) for the purpose of 
constructing, acquiring, and maintaining infrastructure improvements and services; and 
 
 WHEREAS, in accordance with Section 11 of the Special Act, the District previously 
established Unit of Development No. 7 (“Unit No. 7”); and 
 

WHEREAS, the District previously levied debt service special assessments on all 
developable land within Unit No. 7 in order to secure proposed bonds to be issued to finance the 
construction and acquisition of public infrastructure improvements (the “Improvements”) within 
Unit No. 7 (hereinafter, the “Debt Assessments”); and 
  

WHEREAS, the Debt Assessments were levied and imposed in accordance with that 
certain Unit of Development No. 7 Master Special Assessment Methodology Report, dated 
December 13, 2018 as supplemented by that certain Final First Supplemental Special Assessment 
Methodology Report for Unit No. 7, dated March 28, 2019; and 

 
 WHEREAS, concurrent with the adoption of this Resolution, the District has entered into 
that certain Agreement Regarding the Inclusion of Certain Real Property in Unit of Development 
No. 7, dated July 14, 2022 by and between the District and Manasota Beach Ranchlands, LLLP 
approving the inclusion of approximately 41 acres to the boundary of Unit No. 7 (hereinafter, the 

Page 173



 
“Boundary Amendment Property”); and 
 
 WHEREAS,  the District now has a need to levy and impose the Debt Assessments on the 
Boundary Amendment Property in proportion to the property’s benefit from such improvements; 
and 

 
 WHEREAS, the Board of Supervisors (the “Board”) of the District accordingly hereby 
determines to undertake, install, plan, establish, construct or reconstruct, enlarge or extend, equip, 
acquire, operate, and/or maintain the Improvements within the Boundary Amendment Property as 
described in that certain Unit of Development No. 7 Master Plan of Improvements, dated December 
13, 2018, as amended by that certain Unit of Development No. 7 Amendment to Master Plan of 
Improvements dated, July 14, 2022, as supplemented by the Plan of Improvements for Bond Issue 
No. 1, dated January 29, 2019, as amended by that certain Amendment to Plan of Improvements 
for Bond Issue No. 1, dated July 14, 2022, (collectively, the “Plan of Improvements”), all of which 
are attached hereto as Composite Exhibit A and incorporated herein by reference; and 
 
 WHEREAS, it is in the best interest of the District to pay the cost of the Improvements by 
imposing, levying, and collecting the non-ad valorem Debt Assessments among the benefitted 
properties with Unit No. 7, including the Boundary Amendment Property, pursuant to Chapters 
170 and 197, Florida Statutes, and Chapter 2004-456, Laws of Florida, as amended; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the District is empowered by Chapters 170 and 197, Florida Statutes, and 
Chapter 2004-456, Laws of Florida, as amended, to finance, fund, plan, establish, acquire, 
construct or reconstruct, enlarge or extend, equip, operate, and maintain the Improvements and to 
impose, levy and collect the Debt Assessments; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the District hereby determines that benefits will accrue to the assessable real 
property located within the Boundary Amendment Property, the amount of those benefits, and that 
the Debt Assessments will be made in proportion to the benefits received as set forth in the 
District’s Amended and Restated Unit of Development No. 7 Master Special Assessment 
Methodology Report, dated July 14, 2022 as supplemented by that certain Amended and Restated 
Final First Supplemental Special Assessment Methodology Report for Unit No. 7, dated July 14, 
2022, attached hereto as Composite Exhibit B and incorporated herein by reference and on file at 
2501-A Burns Road, Palm Beach Gardens, Florida 33410 and 19503 S. West Villages Parkway 
#A3, Venice, Florida 34293 (collectively, the “District Records Office”); and 
 
 WHEREAS, the District hereby determines that the Debt Assessments to be levied will 
not exceed the benefit to the Boundary Amendment Property. 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD 
OF SUPERVISORS OF THE WEST VILLAGES 
IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT: 

 
 1. Debt Assessments shall be levied to defray the cost of the Improvements. 
 

Page 174



 

3 

 2. The nature and general location of, and plans and specifications for, the 
Improvements planned for Unit No. 7, including for the Boundary Amendment Property, are 
described in Composite Exhibit A, which is on file at the District Records Office.  Composite 
Exhibit B is also on file and available for public inspection at the same location. 
 
 3. The total estimated cost of the Improvements is $148,000,000 (the “Estimated 
Cost”). 
 
 4. The Debt Assessments will defray $174,000,000, which includes the Estimated 
Cost, plus financing-related costs, capitalized interest, debt service reserve and contingency.  
 
 5. The manner in which the Debt Assessments shall be apportioned and paid is set 
forth in Composite Exhibit B, including provisions for supplemental assessment resolutions. 
 
 6. The Debt Assessments shall be levied on all lots and lands within the Boundary 
Amendment Property adjoining and contiguous or bounding and abutting upon such improvements 
or specially benefitted thereby and further designated by the assessment plat hereinafter provided 
for. 
 
 7. There is on file, at the District Records Office, an assessment plat showing the 
Boundary Amendment Property which is to be assessed, with certain plans and specifications 
describing the Improvements and the Estimated Cost of the Improvements, all of which shall be 
open to inspection by the public. 
 
 8. Commencing with the year in which the Debt Assessments are certified for 
collection, the Debt Assessments shall be paid in not more than thirty (30) annual installments.  
The Debt Assessments may be payable at the same time and in the same manner as are ad-valorem 
taxes and collected pursuant to Chapter 197, Florida Statutes; provided, however, that in the event 
the uniform non ad-valorem assessment method of collecting the Debt Assessments is not available 
to the District in any year, or if determined by the District to be in its best interest, the Debt 
Assessments may be collected as is otherwise permitted by law. 
 
 9. The District Manager has caused to be made a preliminary assessment roll, in 
accordance with the method of assessment described in Composite Exhibit B hereto, which shows 
the lots and lands within the Boundary Amendment Property to be assessed, the amount of benefit 
to and the Debt Assessments against each lot or parcel of land and the number of annual 
installments into which the assessment may be divided, which assessment roll is hereby adopted 
and approved as the District’s preliminary assessment roll. 
 
 10. The Board shall adopt a subsequent resolution to fix a time and place at which the 
owners of property to be assessed or any other persons interested therein may appear before the 
Board and be heard as to the propriety and advisability of the Debt Assessments relative to the 
Boundary Amendment Property or the making of the Improvements, the cost thereof, the manner 

Page 175



 
of payment therefore, or the amount thereof to be assessed against the Boundary Amendment 
Property as improved. 
 
 11. The District Manager is hereby directed to cause this Resolution to be published 
twice (once a week for two (2) weeks) in a newspaper of general circulation within the City of 
North Port and to provide such other notice as may be required by law or desired in the best 
interests of the District. 
 
 12. Nothing herein shall affect the Debt Assessments previously levied and imposed 
by the District. 
 
 13. This Resolution shall become effective upon its passage. 
 
  
 PASSED AND ADOPTED this 14th day of July, 2022. 
 
 
ATTEST:    WEST VILLAGES  
     IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT 
 

 

_____________________________  ____________________________________ 
Secretary/Assistant Secretary  Chairman, Board of Supervisors 
 
 
Composite    
Exhibit A:    Unit of Development No. 7 Master Plan of Improvements, dated December 13, 2018 
  Unit of Development No. 7 Amendment to Master Plan of Improvements, dated, July 14, 

2022 
  Plan of Improvements for Bond Issue No. 1, dated January 29, 2019 
  Amendment to Plan of Improvements for Bond Issue No. 1, dated July 14, 2022 
 
Composite Amended and Restated Unit of Development No. 7 Master Special Assessment  
Exhibit B: Methodology Report, dated June 14, 2022  
  Amended and Restated Final First Supplemental Special Assessment Methodology Report 

for Unit No. 7, dated June 14, 2022

Page 176



 

 
 

Composite Exhibit A 
 

Unit of Development No. 7 Master Plan of Improvements, dated December 13, 2018 
Unit of Development No. 7 Amendment to Master Plan of Improvements, dated, July 14, 2022 

Plan of Improvements for Bond Issue No. 1, dated January 29, 2019 
Amendment to Plan of Improvements for Bond Issue No. 1, dated July 14, 2022

Page 177



WEST VILLAGES 
IMPROVEMENT 

DISTRICT UNIT OF 
DEVELOPMENT No. 7 

 

Master Plan of 
Improvements 

 

 

Prepared for: 
West Villages Improvement District 
c/o Special District Services, Inc. 
2501A Burns Road 
Palm Beach Gardens, FL 33410 

 

Prepared by: 
Stantec Consulting Services Inc. 
6900 Professional Parkway East 
Sarasota, FL 34240 

 
 

 

December 13, 2018 

Page 178



WEST VILLAGES IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT UNIT OF DEVELOPMENT NO. 7

MASTER PLAN OF IMPROVEMENTS

vj v:\2156\active\215614848\civil\report\final_document_report\rpt_wvid_unit-dev-7_bond-vldtn_mstr-pln-imprvmnts_mak_v-4_20181213.docx

Table of Contents

SECTION A. INTRODUCTIONS .................................................................................................... 1
1. General..................................................................................................................................................1
2. Purpose and Scope ............................................................................................................................1
3. Lands in Unit of Development No. 7 ................................................................................................1

SECTION B. EXISTING CONDITIONS...................................................................................... 2
1. Topography ..........................................................................................................................................2
2. Soils and Vegetation...........................................................................................................................2
3. Land Use and Zoning ..........................................................................................................................2

SECTION C. INFRASTRUCTURE PLANS.................................................................................... 3
1. Public Infrastructure Improvements .................................................................................................3
2. Permitting ..............................................................................................................................................3
3. Estimated Cost of Improvements .....................................................................................................4

SECTION D. MAINTENANCE RESPONSIBILITIES ..................................................................... 5

SECTION E. SUMMARY AND CONCLUSION………………………………………………………6

EXHIBIT A AERIAL LOCATION MAP .................................................................................... 7

EXHIBIT B UNIT 7 SKETCH AND LEGAL DESCRIPTION......................................................... 9

Page 179



WEST VILLAGES IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT UNIT OF DEVELOPMENT NO. 7

MASTER PLAN OF IMPROVEMENTS

December 13, 2018

vj v:\2156\active\215614848\civil\report\final_document_report\rpt_wvid_unit-dev-7_bond-vldtn_mstr-pln-imprvmnts_mak_v-4_20181213.docx 1

SECTION A. INTRODUCTIONS

1. General

The West Villages Improvement District (“WVID”) was created by and operates 
under Chapter 2004-458, Laws of Florida as amended (the “Act”) and operates 
pursuant to the Act and applicable provisions of Chapter 298, Florida Statutes. WVID 
was created to construct and maintain public works and utilities including water, 
sewer, drainage, irrigation, water management, parks, recreational facilities, 
roadway or related activities, as more particularly described in Chapter 2004-456, 
Laws of Florida.

2. Purpose and Scope

The purpose of this Bond Validation Report is to present the nature and extent of the 
improvements which may be implemented by WVID for and on behalf of the Unit 
of Development No. 7 (“Unit No. 7”), which improvements will thereafter be owned, 
operated and/or maintained by either WVID or another legally empowered 
governmental entity.

The text of this report generally describes the existing land within Unit No. 7 and the 
proposed improvements and recommendations. The report is not intended to be 
used for exact representation or for construction purposes since detailed 
construction documents for all of the proposed improvements have not yet been 
finalized.

3. Lands in Unit of Development No. 7

An Aerial Location Map showing the location of Unit No. 7 is included as Exhibit A. 
The Legal Description(s) and Sketch(s) are included as Exhibit B and reflect the lands 
to be included in Unit No. 7. These lands total approximately 1,476 acres.

Page 180



WEST VILLAGES IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT UNIT OF DEVELOPMENT NO. 7

MASTER PLAN OF IMPROVEMENTS

December 13, 2018

vj v:\2156\active\215614848\civil\report\final_document_report\rpt_wvid_unit-dev-7_bond-vldtn_mstr-pln-imprvmnts_mak_v-4_20181213.docx 2

SECTION B. EXISTING CONDITIONS

1. Topography

The area within Unit No. 7 is relatively flat with site elevations ranging from 
approximately 9 feet to 12 feet. The land within the unit is primarily undeveloped 
pasture and rangelands, upland pine flatwood, and wetlands.

2. Soil and Vegetation

Based on the 1991 Soil Survey of Sarasota County, Florida, prepared by the United 
States Department of Agriculture (USDA) Soil Conservation Service (SCS), the 
predominant surficial soil types within the Unit No. 7 are identified as SCS Soil No. 10, 
EauGallie and Myakka Fine Sands and SCS Soils No. 31, Pineda Fine Sand. SCS Soil 
No. 10 is a nearly level, poorly drained soil that can be made up entirely of EauGallie 
and similar soils, entirely Myakka and similar soils, or a combination of EauGallie, 
Myakka and other soils. Typically, the EauGallie soil has a surface layer of black fine 
sand with a subsurface layer of gray fine sand to a depth of about 22 inches. The 
surface layer of the Myakka soil is typically dark grayish brown fine sand about 6 
inches thick while the subsurface layer is light gray fine sand about 18 inches thick. 
Pineda Fine Sand is a nearly level, poorly drained soil. Typically, the surface and 
subsurface layers are grey fine sands totaling approximately 22 inches thick. The 
subsoil consists of an upper layer of 14 inches of brown fine sand and a lower layer 
of 12 inches of mottled, light brownish gray fine sandy loam.

The property within Unit No. 7 currently consists of various vegetative communities 
comprised of both upland and wetland habitats. Several of the vegetation 
communities have been modified as a result of onsite agricultural activities including 
ditching and fire suppression. Areas that were historically extensive open forests or 
wiregrass prairies have since become heavily forested or have been cleared for 
cattle grazing and commercial nursery. Extensive ditching has also altered the 
hydrology of several of the wetland systems onsite, particularly where the ditches 
bisect wetlands or are adjacent to wetlands. 

3. Land Use and Zoning

Unit No. 7 is located within the City of North Port, Florida (“City”). Parcels within the 
boundary of Unit No. 7 are currently in various stages of development review and 
approval with the City, however, it is expected that the parcels will receive 
approvals from the City that are compatible with the comprehensive land use plan 
adopted by the City.

Page 181



WEST VILLAGES IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT UNIT OF DEVELOPMENT NO. 7

MASTER PLAN OF IMPROVEMENTS

December 13, 2018

vj v:\2156\active\215614848\civil\report\final_document_report\rpt_wvid_unit-dev-7_bond-vldtn_mstr-pln-imprvmnts_mak_v-4_20181213.docx 3

SECTION C. INFRASTRUCTURE PLANS

1. Public Infrastructure Improvements

Unit No. 7 is intended to be formed in order to finance infrastructure design and 
construction required to provide public infrastructure for the Unit (the “Project”) and 
its ultimate property owners.

The improvements for the unit will be consistent with the City of North Port 
Comprehensive Plan and Implementing Ordinances, studies, plans, and may
include:

Public roadways, including thoroughfares, arterial, collector, or local streets

Stormwater Improvements

Water and sewer facilities

Irrigation facilities

Public roadway landscape, lighting, signage, and furnishings

Entry features

Engineering and contingencies 

Access to the project will be provided via River Road, US-41, West Villages Parkway, 
Preto Boulevard, Manasota Beach Road, and Playmore Drive. Potable water and 
sanitary sewer services will be provided by the City of North Port.

2. Permitting

Required permits already received or ones that will be applied for are summarized 
in Table 1.  It is our opinion that there are no technical reasons existing at this time 
which would prohibit the permitting and construction of the planned infrastructure, 
subject to continued compliance with agency criteria and conditions of the already 
approved plans and permits. 

Permits necessary to complete the Project have either been obtained as described 
above, or, in our opinion, are obtainable from the permitting agencies, subject to 
reasonable, normal and customary permit conditions.

Page 182



WEST VILLAGES IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT UNIT OF DEVELOPMENT NO. 7

MASTER PLAN OF IMPROVEMENTS

December 13, 2018

vj v:\2156\active\215614848\civil\report\final_document_report\rpt_wvid_unit-dev-7_bond-vldtn_mstr-pln-imprvmnts_mak_v-4_20181213.docx 4

Table 1
Permitting Status

Permit Permit Number Date Approved

Village B Rezone Approval Ordinance 2015-19 6/8/15

VDPP Village E VDPP 17-159 Pending

VDPP Village F VDPP 17-160 Pending

VDPP Village G VDPP 17-161 Pending

West Villages Pkwy – Playmore Dr to Atlanta Braves
Spring Training Complex

MAS 17-075 10/12/18

West Villages Pkwy – Atlanta Braves Spring Training 
Complex to Manasota Beach Rd

PRE 18-260 Pending

Playmore Dr Realignment INF 17-129 9/21/17

Preto Blvd – US-41 to Playmore Dr including US-41 
Improvements

INF 17-128
FDOT 2018-A-194-001

2/19/18

Preto Blvd – Playmore Dr to Manasota Beach Rd PRE 18-261 TBD

Manasota Beach Rd – West Villages Pkwy to River Rd TBD TBD

Wastewater Treatment Plant FDEP FLA 984841-001-
DWIP

MAS 17-168

9/20/17

1/16/18

Water Treatment Plant TBD TBD

Parks (Dog Park on River Road) INF-15-153/ 
SCP-15-122

10/4/16

Various Water Management Improvements TBD TBD

Monuments TBD TBD

Landscaping on US-41 TBD TBD

Various Subdivision Improvements TBD TBD

Various Other Arterial and Collector Roads TBD TBD

3. Estimated Costs of Improvements 

Table 2 lists the components of the planned improvements for the Unit No. 7, 
together with their estimated costs of design and construction. The Table also 
includes an estimate of administrative, engineering and other fees, and 
contingencies associated with the improvements. 

Page 183



WEST VILLAGES IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT UNIT OF DEVELOPMENT NO. 7

MASTER PLAN OF IMPROVEMENTS

December 13, 2018

vj v:\2156\active\215614848\civil\report\final_document_report\rpt_wvid_unit-dev-7_bond-vldtn_mstr-pln-imprvmnts_mak_v-4_20181213.docx 5

Table 2
Estimated Costs of Improvements (2018 $)

Item Description Estimated Construction
Costs (Note 2)

1 Collector and Arterial Roads (see Note No. 1) $  22,000,000

2 Wastewater Treatment Plant (Pro Rata Share-see Note 3) $  13,000,000

3 Water Treatment Plant (Pro Rata Share-see Note 3) $     4,000,000

4 Water Management $     6,000,000

5 Parks $     1,000,000

6 Hardscape and Landscape $     2,000,000

7 Various Subdivision Improvements (based on 2500 Lots at 
$30,000/ Lot)

$  75,000,000

Subtotal $ 123,000,000

8 Consultants and Contingencies (20%) $   25,000,000

Total $ 148,000,000

Note No. 1: Roadway costs include roads, water, sewer, irrigation, drainage, landscaping, 
and street lights.

Note No. 2: Cost rounded to nearest $1 million.

Note No. 3: Costs of wastewater and water plants represent Unit 7’s estimated 
proportionate share of plant(s) usage.

SECTION D. MAINTENANCE RESPONSIBILITIES

Maintenance and operational responsibilities of the Project will include the following:

1. Maintenance and operation of the Entry features and Landscaping and Irrigation 
associated with the roadway system are expected to be the responsibility of WVID.

2. Maintenance and operation of the potable water and sanitary sewer systems will 
be the responsibility of the City.

Page 184



WEST VILLAGES IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT UNIT OF DEVELOPMENT NO. 7

MASTER PLAN OF IMPROVEMENTS

December 13, 2018

vj v:\2156\active\215614848\civil\report\final_document_report\rpt_wvid_unit-dev-7_bond-vldtn_mstr-pln-imprvmnts_mak_v-4_20181213.docx 6

3. Maintenance and operation of the stormwater management system will be the 
responsibility of the WVID.

4. Maintenance and operation of the off-site roadway improvements will be the 
responsibility of WVID, City or FDOT depending on the ownership of the road.

SECTION E. SUMMARY AND CONCLUSION

The Improvements as outlined are necessary for the functional development of the 
Project. The Project is being designed in accordance with current governmental 
regulatory requirements. The Project will serve its intended function so long as the 
construction is in substantial compliance with the design. Items of construction for the 
Project are based upon current development plans.

It is our professional opinion that the infrastructure costs provided herein for the District 
improvements for the Project are reasonable to complete the construction of the 
infrastructure described herein and that these infrastructure improvements will benefit 
and add value to the District. These estimated costs are based upon prices currently 
being experienced for similar items of work in Southwest Florida and expected inflation in 
the future. Actual costs may vary based on final engineering, planning and approvals 
from regulatory agencies.

Page 185



WEST VILLAGES IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT UNIT OF DEVELOPMENT NO. 7

MASTER PLAN OF IMPROVEMENTS

December 13, 2018

vj v:\2156\active\215614848\civil\report\final_document_report\rpt_wvid_unit-dev-7_bond-vldtn_mstr-pln-imprvmnts_mak_v-4_20181213.docx 7

EXHIBIT A - AERIAL LOCATION MAP

Page 186



Page 187



WEST VILLAGES IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT UNIT OF DEVELOPMENT NO. 7

MASTER PLAN OF IMPROVEMENTS

December 13, 2018

vj v:\2156\active\215614848\civil\report\final_document_report\rpt_wvid_unit-dev-7_bond-vldtn_mstr-pln-imprvmnts_mak_v-4_20181213.docx 9

EXHIBIT B – UNIT 7 SKETCH AND LEGAL DESCRIPTION

Page 188



Page 189



Page 190



Page 191



Page 192



Page 193



Page 194



Page 195



Page 196



Page 197



Page 198



Page 199



 

  

 

 

WEST VILLAGES 
IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT  
Unit of Development No. 7 
Amendment to Master Plan of Improvements 
JULY 14, 2022 

 

 

 

 
  

 

 

SUBMITTED BY 

Dewberry Engineers Inc. 
2201 Cantu Court 
Suite 107 
Sarasota, Florida 
Phone: 941.702.9672 
Contact: Richard Ellis 

SUBMITTED TO 

West Villages Improvement District 
19503 S. West Villages Parkway Suite #A3 
Venice, Florida 34293 
Phone: 941.244.2703   

Page 200



West Villages Improvement District Unit of Development No. 7 
Master Plan of Improvements 
July 14, 2022 
  

   1 
 

 

1. Purpose and Scope 

The purpose of this amendment is to revise and update the area and boundary in the Master Plan of 
Improvements prepared by Stantec Consulting Services Inc. on December 13, 2018. The new area will 
be 1524.70 acres. An updated sketch and legal description for the revised boundary is included in the 
attached Exhibit 1. There are no additional changes to the original Master Plan of Improvements.   
 

Page 201



Page 202



Page 203



Page 204



Page 205



WEST VILLAGES 
IMPROVEMENT 

DISTRICT UNIT OF 
DEVELOPMENT No. 7 

 

Plan of Improvements for  
Bond Issue No. 1 

 

 

Prepared for: 
West Villages Improvement District 
c/o Special District Services, Inc. 
2501A Burns Road 
Palm Beach Gardens, FL 33410 

 

Prepared by: 
Stantec Consulting Services Inc. 
6900 Professional Parkway East 
Sarasota, FL 34240 

 
 

 

January 29, 2019 

Page 206



WEST VILLAGES IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT UNIT OF DEVELOPMENT NO. 7

MASTER PLAN OF IMPROVEMENTS FOR BOND ISSUE NO. 1

vj v:\2156\active\215614848\civil\report\final_document_report\rpt_wvid_unit-dev-7_bond-vldtn_pln-imprvmnts_bond-issue-1_mak_20190129.docx

Table of Contents

SECTION A. INTRODUCTIONS .................................................................................................... 1
1. General..................................................................................................................................................1
2. Purpose and Scope ............................................................................................................................1
3. Lands in Unit of Development No. 7 ................................................................................................1

SECTION B. EXISTING CONDITIONS...................................................................................... 2
1. Topography ..........................................................................................................................................2
2. Soils and Vegetation...........................................................................................................................2
3. Land Use and Zoning ..........................................................................................................................2

SECTION C. INFRASTRUCTURE PLANS.................................................................................... 3
1. Public Infrastructure Improvements .................................................................................................3
2. Permitting ..............................................................................................................................................3
3. Estimated Cost of Improvements .....................................................................................................4

SECTION D. MAINTENANCE RESPONSIBILITIES ..................................................................... 5

SECTION E. SUMMARY AND CONCLUSION………………………………………………………6

EXHIBIT A AERIAL LOCATION MAP .................................................................................... 7

EXHIBIT B UNIT 7 SKETCH AND LEGAL DESCRIPTION......................................................... 9

Page 207



WEST VILLAGES IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT UNIT OF DEVELOPMENT NO. 7

MASTER PLAN OF IMPROVEMENTS FOR BOND ISSUE NO. 1

January 29, 2019

vj v:\2156\active\215614848\civil\report\final_document_report\rpt_wvid_unit-dev-7_bond-vldtn_pln-imprvmnts_bond-issue-1_mak_20190129.docx 1

SECTION A. INTRODUCTIONS

1. General

The West Villages Improvement District (“WVID”) was created by and operates 
under Chapter 2004-458, Laws of Florida as amended (the “Act”) and operates 
pursuant to the Act and applicable provisions of Chapter 298, Florida Statutes. WVID 
was created to construct and maintain public works and utilities including water, 
sewer, drainage, irrigation, water management, parks, recreational facilities, 
roadway or related activities, as more particularly described in Chapter 2004-456, 
Laws of Florida.

2. Purpose and Scope

The purpose of this Bond Issue No. 1 Report is to present the nature and extent of the 
improvements which may be implemented by WVID for and on behalf of the Unit 
of Development No. 7 (“Unit No. 7”), which improvements will thereafter be owned, 
operated and/or maintained by either WVID or another legally empowered 
governmental entity.

The text of this report generally describes the existing land within Unit No. 7 and the 
proposed improvements and recommendations. The report is not intended to be 
used for exact representation or for construction purposes since detailed 
construction documents for all of the proposed improvements have not yet been 
finalized.

3. Lands in Unit of Development No. 7

An Aerial Location Map showing the location of Unit No. 7 is included as Exhibit A. 
The Legal Description(s) and Sketch(s) are included as Exhibit B and reflect the lands 
included in Unit No. 7. These lands total approximately 1,476 acres.

Page 208



WEST VILLAGES IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT UNIT OF DEVELOPMENT NO. 7

MASTER PLAN OF IMPROVEMENTS FOR BOND ISSUE NO. 1

January 29, 2019

vj v:\2156\active\215614848\civil\report\final_document_report\rpt_wvid_unit-dev-7_bond-vldtn_pln-imprvmnts_bond-issue-1_mak_20190129.docx 2

SECTION B. EXISTING CONDITIONS

1. Topography

The area within Unit No. 7 is relatively flat with site elevations ranging from 
approximately 9 feet to 12 feet. The land within the unit is primarily undeveloped 
pasture and rangelands, upland pine flatwood, and wetlands.

2. Soil and Vegetation

Based on the 1991 Soil Survey of Sarasota County, Florida, prepared by the United 
States Department of Agriculture (USDA) Soil Conservation Service (SCS), the 
predominant surficial soil types within the Unit No. 7 are identified as SCS Soil No. 10, 
EauGallie and Myakka Fine Sands and SCS Soils No. 31, Pineda Fine Sand. SCS Soil 
No. 10 is a nearly level, poorly drained soil that can be made up entirely of EauGallie 
and similar soils, entirely Myakka and similar soils, or a combination of EauGallie, 
Myakka and other soils. Typically, the EauGallie soil has a surface layer of black fine 
sand with a subsurface layer of gray fine sand to a depth of about 22 inches. The 
surface layer of the Myakka soil is typically dark grayish brown fine sand about 6 
inches thick while the subsurface layer is light gray fine sand about 18 inches thick. 
Pineda Fine Sand is a nearly level, poorly drained soil. Typically, the surface and 
subsurface layers are grey fine sands totaling approximately 22 inches thick. The 
subsoil consists of an upper layer of 14 inches of brown fine sand and a lower layer 
of 12 inches of mottled, light brownish gray fine sandy loam.

The property within Unit No. 7 currently consists of various vegetative communities 
comprised of both upland and wetland habitats. Several of the vegetation 
communities have been modified as a result of onsite agricultural activities including 
ditching and fire suppression. Areas that were historically extensive open forests or 
wiregrass prairies have since become heavily forested or have been cleared for 
cattle grazing and commercial nursery. Extensive ditching has also altered the 
hydrology of several of the wetland systems onsite, particularly where the ditches 
bisect wetlands or are adjacent to wetlands. 

3. Land Use and Zoning

Unit No. 7 is located within the City of North Port, Florida (“City”). Parcels within the 
boundary of Unit No. 7 are currently in various stages of development review and 
approval with the City, however, it is expected that the parcels will receive 
approvals from the City that are compatible with the comprehensive land use plan 
adopted by the City.

Page 209



WEST VILLAGES IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT UNIT OF DEVELOPMENT NO. 7

MASTER PLAN OF IMPROVEMENTS FOR BOND ISSUE NO. 1

January 29, 2019

vj v:\2156\active\215614848\civil\report\final_document_report\rpt_wvid_unit-dev-7_bond-vldtn_pln-imprvmnts_bond-issue-1_mak_20190129.docx 3

SECTION C. INFRASTRUCTURE PLANS

1. Public Infrastructure Improvements

WVID has formed Unit No. 7 in order to finance infrastructure design and 
construction required to provide public infrastructure for the Unit (the “Project”) and 
its ultimate property owners.

The improvements for the unit will be consistent with the City of North Port 
Comprehensive Plan and Implementing Ordinances, studies, plans, and may
include:

Public roadways, including thoroughfares, arterial, collector, or local streets

Stormwater Improvements

Water and sewer facilities

Irrigation facilities

Public roadway landscape, lighting, signage, and furnishings

Entry features

Engineering and contingencies 

Access to the project will be provided via River Road, US-41, West Villages Parkway, 
Preto Boulevard, Manasota Beach Road, and Playmore Drive. Potable water and 
sanitary sewer services will be provided by the City of North Port.

2. Permitting

Required permits already received or ones that will be applied for are summarized 
in Table 1. It is our opinion that there are no technical reasons existing at this time 
which would prohibit the permitting and construction of the planned infrastructure, 
subject to continued compliance with agency criteria and conditions of the already 
approved plans and permits. 

Permits necessary to complete the Project have either been obtained as described 
below, or, in our opinion, are obtainable from the permitting agencies, subject to 
reasonable, normal and customary permit conditions.

Page 210



WEST VILLAGES IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT UNIT OF DEVELOPMENT NO. 7

MASTER PLAN OF IMPROVEMENTS FOR BOND ISSUE NO. 1

January 29, 2019

vj v:\2156\active\215614848\civil\report\final_document_report\rpt_wvid_unit-dev-7_bond-vldtn_pln-imprvmnts_bond-issue-1_mak_20190129.docx 4

Table 1
Permitting Status

Permit Permit Number Date Approved

Village B Rezone Approval Ordinance 2015-19 6/8/15

VDPP Village E VDPP 17-159 Pending

VDPP Village F VDPP 17-160 Pending

VDPP Village G VDPP 17-161 Pending

West Villages Pkwy – Playmore Dr to Atlanta Braves
Spring Training Complex

MAS 17-075 10/12/18

West Villages Pkwy – Atlanta Braves Spring Training 
Complex to Manasota Beach Rd

PRE 18-260 Pending

Playmore Dr Realignment INF 17-129 9/21/17

Preto Blvd – US-41 to Playmore Dr including US-41 
Improvements

INF 17-128
FDOT 2018-A-194-001

2/19/18

US-41/ West Villages Pkwy Intersection Improvements FDOT 2018-A-194-012 10/4/18

Preto Blvd – Playmore Dr to Manasota Beach Rd PRE 18-261 Pending

Manasota Beach Rd – West Villages Pkwy to River Rd TBD TBD

Wastewater Treatment Plant FDEP FLA 984841-001-
DWIP

MAS 17-168

9/20/17

1/16/18

Water Treatment Plant TBD TBD

Parks (Dog Park on River Road) INF-15-153/ 
SCP-15-122

10/4/16

Various Water Management Improvements TBD TBD

Monuments TBD TBD

Landscaping on US-41 TBD TBD

Village B Subdivision Improvements TBD TBD

3. Estimated Costs of Improvements 

Table 2 lists the components of the planned improvements for the Unit No. 7, 
together with their estimated costs of design and construction. The Table also 
includes an estimate of administrative, engineering and other fees, and 
contingencies associated with the improvements. 

Page 211



WEST VILLAGES IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT UNIT OF DEVELOPMENT NO. 7

MASTER PLAN OF IMPROVEMENTS FOR BOND ISSUE NO. 1

January 29, 2019

vj v:\2156\active\215614848\civil\report\final_document_report\rpt_wvid_unit-dev-7_bond-vldtn_pln-imprvmnts_bond-issue-1_mak_20190129.docx 5

Table 2
Estimated Costs of Improvements (2019 $)

Item Description Estimated Construction
Costs (Note 2)

1 Collector and Arterial Roads (see Note No. 1) $ 22,000,000

2 Wastewater Treatment Plant (Pro Rata Share-see Note 3) $ 13,000,000

3 Water Treatment Plant (Pro Rata Share-see Note 3) $   4,000,000

4 Water Management $   6,000,000

5 Parks $   1,000,000

6 Hardscape and Landscape $   2,000,000

7 Consultants and Contingencies (20%) $   9,600,000

Subtotal $ 57,600,000

8 Village B Subdivision Improvements based on 111 Lots at 
$25,000/ Lot (see Note No. 1)

$   2,775,000

9 Consultants and Contingencies (20%) $      555,000

Subtotal $   3,330,000

Total $ 60,930,000

Note No. 1: Costs include roads, water, sewer, irrigation, drainage, landscaping, and street 
lights.

Note No. 2: Cost rounded to nearest $1 million with the exception of Village B Subdivision 
Improvements.

Note No. 3: Costs of wastewater and water plants represent Unit 7’s estimated 
proportionate share of plant(s) usage.

SECTION D. MAINTENANCE RESPONSIBILITIES

Maintenance and operational responsibilities of the Project will include the following:

1. Maintenance and operation of the Entry features and Landscaping and Irrigation 
associated with the roadway system are expected to be the responsibility of WVID.

Page 212



WEST VILLAGES IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT UNIT OF DEVELOPMENT NO. 7

MASTER PLAN OF IMPROVEMENTS FOR BOND ISSUE NO. 1

January 29, 2019

vj v:\2156\active\215614848\civil\report\final_document_report\rpt_wvid_unit-dev-7_bond-vldtn_pln-imprvmnts_bond-issue-1_mak_20190129.docx 6

2. Maintenance and operation of the potable water and sanitary sewer systems will 
be the responsibility of the City.

3. Maintenance and operation of the stormwater management system will be the 
responsibility of the WVID.

4. Maintenance and operation of the off-site roadway improvements will be the 
responsibility of WVID, City or FDOT depending on the ownership of the road.

SECTION E. SUMMARY AND CONCLUSION

The Improvements as outlined are necessary for the functional development of the 
Project. The Project is being designed in accordance with current governmental 
regulatory requirements. The Project will serve its intended function so long as the 
construction is in substantial compliance with the design. Items of construction for the 
Project are based upon current development plans.

It is our professional opinion that the infrastructure costs provided herein for the District 
improvements for the Project are reasonable to complete the construction of the 
infrastructure described herein and that these infrastructure improvements will benefit 
and add value to the District. These estimated costs are based upon prices currently 
being experienced for similar items of work in Southwest Florida and expected inflation in 
the future. Actual costs may vary based on final engineering, planning and approvals 
from regulatory agencies.

Page 213



WEST VILLAGES IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT UNIT OF DEVELOPMENT NO. 7

MASTER PLAN OF IMPROVEMENTS FOR BOND ISSUE NO. 1

January 29, 2019

vj v:\2156\active\215614848\civil\report\final_document_report\rpt_wvid_unit-dev-7_bond-vldtn_pln-imprvmnts_bond-issue-1_mak_20190129.docx 7

EXHIBIT A - AERIAL LOCATION MAP

Page 214



Page 215



WEST VILLAGES IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT UNIT OF DEVELOPMENT NO. 7

MASTER PLAN OF IMPROVEMENTS FOR BOND ISSUE NO. 1

January 29, 2019

vj v:\2156\active\215614848\civil\report\final_document_report\rpt_wvid_unit-dev-7_bond-vldtn_pln-imprvmnts_bond-issue-1_mak_20190129.docx 9

EXHIBIT B – UNIT 7 SKETCH AND LEGAL DESCRIPTION

Page 216



Page 217



Page 218



Page 219



Page 220



Page 221



Page 222



Page 223



Page 224



Page 225



Page 226



Page 227



 

  

 

 

WEST VILLAGES 
IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT  
Unit of Development No. 7 
Plan of Improvements for Bond Issue No. 1 
JULY 14, 2022 

 

 

 

 
  

 

 

SUBMITTED BY 

Dewberry Engineers Inc. 
2201 Cantu Court 
Suite 107 
Sarasota, Florida 
Phone: 941.702.9672 
Contact: Richard Ellis 

SUBMITTED TO 

West Villages Improvement District 
19503 S. West Villages Parkway Suite #A3 
Venice, Florida 34293 
Phone: 941.244.2703   

Page 228



West Villages Improvement District Unit of Development No. 7 
Plan of Improvements for Bond Issue No. 1 
July 14, 2022 
  

   1 
 

 

1. Purpose and Scope 

The purpose of this amendment is to revise and update the area and boundary in the Plan of 
Improvements prepared by Stantec Consulting Services Inc. on January 29, 2019. The new area will be 
1,524.70 acres. An updated sketch and legal description for the revised boundary is included in the 
attached Exhibit 1. There are no additional changes to the original Plan of Improvements for Bond Issue 
No. 1.   
 

Page 229



Page 230



Page 231



Page 232



Page 233



 
Composite Exhibit B 

 
Amended and Restated Unit of Development No. 7 Master Special Assessment Methodology Report, dated July 

14, 2022 
 

Amended and Restated Final First Supplemental Special Assessment Methodology Report for Unit No. 7, dated 
July 14, 2022 

Page 234



Page 235



Page 236



(1)
(2)

(3) (4)

Page 237



ERU

ERU

ERU ERU

ERU

Florida Statutes F.S.

F.S.

Page 238



ERUs

ERUs

ERUs

ERUs
ERUs

ERU
ERUs

Page 239



Page 240



Page 241



Page 242



Page 243



Page 244



Page 245



Page 246



Page 247



Page 248



Page 249



Page 250



Page 251



Page 252



Page 253



Page 254



Page 255



Page 256



Page 257



Page 258



Page 259



Page 260



Page 261



Page 262



(1)
(2)

(3)
(4)

Page 263



equivalent residential unit

Page 264



equivalent
residential unit

Page 265



F.S.

F.S.

Page 266



has not 

for the 2019 Master Project

for the 2019 Village B Project

Page 267



Page 268



Page 269



Page 270



Page 271



Page 272



Page 273



Page 274



Page 275



Exhbit "A"

Page 276



Exhbit "A"

Page 277



Exhbit "A"

Page 278



Exhbit "A"

Page 279



Exhbit "A"

Page 280



Exhbit "A"

Page 281



Exhbit "A"

Page 282



Exhbit "A"

Page 283



Exhbit "A"

Page 284



Exhbit "A"

Page 285



Exhbit "A"

Page 286



Exhbit "A"

Page 287



EXHIBIT B 
 

 
 
WEST VILLAGES IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT (WVID) 
VILLAGE B (WITHIN UNIT NO. 7) 
 

LEGAL DESCRIPTION 
ASSESSMENT ROLL 

 
 
A part of Sections 33 and 34, Township 39 South, Range 20 East, Sarasota County, Florida, 
described as follows: 
 
BEGIN at the West Quarter Corner of Section 34, Township 39 South, Range 20 East, Sarasota 
County, Florida; thence S.00º13’53”W. a distance of 81.44 feet; to the northerly Right of Way 
Line of State Road No. 45 (U.S. Highway No 41 ), per Order of Taking recorded in Official 
Records Book 1034, Page 762, of the Public Records of Sarasota County, Florida, same being a 
point on a curve to the right having: a radius of 2807.73 feet, a central angle of 24º13’02”: a chord 
bearing of N. 66º29’02”W., and a chord length of 1177.92 feet; thence along said northerly Right 
of Way Line of State Road No. 45, the following two (2) courses: (1) along the arc of said curve 
an arc length of 1186.74 feet; (2) thence N.54º22’31”W. a distance of 470.10 feet to the most 
southeasterly corner of Oasis at West Villages, Phase 1, recorded in Plat Book 51, at Page 231 of 
the Public Records of Sarasota County, Florida; thence along the southeasterly Boundary line of 
said plat of Oasis at West Villages, Phase 1, the following three (3) courses: (1) N.23º29’29”E. a 
distance of 389.68 feet; (2) thence N.44º14’02”E. a distance of 254.25 feet; (3) thence 
N.42º23’22”W. a distance of 115.93 feet; to a point on the westerly Right of Way Line of County 
Road No. 777 (North River Road), as described in Official Records Instrument No. 2008060371 
of the Public Records of Sarasota County, Florida, same being a point on a curve to the left having: 
a radius of 49.00 feet, a central angle of 96º58’34”: a chord bearing of N.89º07’21”E., and a chord 
length of 73.38 feet; thence along said westerly Right of Way Line of County Road No. 777 the 
following four (4) courses: (1) along the arc of said curve, an arc length of 82.94 feet; (2) thence 
N.40º38’04”E. a distance of 308.73 feet; (3) thence N.73º00’35”E. a distance of 469.59 feet; (4) 
thence S.36º46’13”E. a distance of 1250.51 feet to a point on the South line of the North Half of 
the Southwest Quarter of the Northwest Quarter of said Section 34, Township 39 South, Range 20 
East; thence N.89º48’19”W., along said South line of the North Half of the Southwest Quarter of 
the Northwest Quarter of Section 34, a distance of 261.41 feet to the Southwest corner of said 
North Half of the Southwest Quarter of the Northwest Quarter of Section 34; thence 
S.00º13’53”W., along the West line of the Southwest Quarter of the Northwest Quarter of said 
Section 34, a distance of 659.37 feet to the POINT OF BEGINNING. 
 
Parcel contains 1698701 square feet, or 38.9968 acres, more or less. 

Page 288



1 
 

RESOLUTION 2022-16 
 

[UNIT NO. 7 2022 BOUNDARY AMENDMENT] 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE WEST VILLAGES 
IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT SETTING A PUBLIC 
HEARING TO BE HELD ON AUGUST 18TH, 2022, AT 11:00 
A.M. AT THE PUBLIC SAFETY BUILDING TRAINING 
ROOM LOCATED AT 19955 PRETO BOULEVARD, 
VENICE, FLORIDA 34293, FOR THE PURPOSE OF 
HEARING PUBLIC COMMENT ON IMPOSING SPECIAL 
ASSESSMENTS ON CERTAIN PROPERTY WITHIN THE 
DISTRICT GENERALLY DESCRIBED AS THE WEST 
VILLAGES IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT UNIT OF 
DEVELOPMENT NO. 7 IN ACCORDANCE WITH 
CHAPTERS 170 AND 197, FLORIDA STATUTES, AND 
CHAPTER 2004-456, LAWS OF FLORIDA. 

 
 WHEREAS, the Board of Supervisors of the West Villages Improvement District, 
(“Board”) has previously adopted Resolution 2022-15 entitled  
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE WEST VILLAGES 
IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT DECLARING SPECIAL 
ASSESSMENTS RELATIVE TO CERTAIN PROPERTIES 
ADDED TO UNIT OF DEVELOPMENT NO. 7 WITHIN 
THE DISTRICT; INDICATING THE LOCATION, NATURE 
AND ESTIMATED COST OF THOSE INFRASTRUCTURE 
IMPROVEMENTS WHOSE COST IS TO BE DEFRAYED 
BY THE SPECIAL ASSESSMENTS; PROVIDING THE 
PORTION OF THE ESTIMATED COST OF THE 
IMPROVEMENTS TO BE DEFRAYED BY THE SPECIAL 
ASSESSMENTS; PROVIDING THE MANNER IN WHICH 
SUCH SPECIAL ASSESSMENTS SHALL BE MADE; 
PROVIDING WHEN SUCH SPECIAL ASSESSMENTS 
SHALL BE PAID; DESIGNATING LANDS UPON WHICH 
THE SPECIAL ASSESSMENTS SHALL BE LEVIED; 
PROVIDING FOR AN ASSESSMENT PLAT; ADOPTING A 
PRELIMINARY ASSESSMENT ROLL; PROVIDING FOR 
PUBLICATION OF THIS RESOLUTION. 

 
 WHEREAS, in accordance with Resolution 2022-15, a Preliminary Assessment Roll for 
properties added to the boundary (hereinafter, the “Boundary Amendment Property”) of the 
District’s Unit of Development No. 7 (“Unit No. 7”) has been prepared and all other conditions 
precedent set forth in Chapters 170 and 197, Florida Statutes, and Chapter 2004-456, Laws of 
Florida, as amended, to the holding of the aforementioned public hearing have been satisfied, 

Page 289



2 
 

and the roll and related documents are available for public inspection at 2501-A Burns Road, 
Palm Beach Gardens, Florida 33410 and 19503 S. West Villages Parkway #A3, Venice, Florida 
34293 (collectively, the “District Records Office”). 
 

NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD 
OF SUPERVISORS OF THE WEST VILLAGES 
IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT: 

 
 1. There is hereby declared a public hearing to be held on August 18th, 2022 at 11:00 
A.M. at the Public Safety Building Training Room located at 19955 Preto Blvd., Venice, Florida 
34293 for the purpose of hearing comment and objections to the proposed special assessment 
program for District improvements planned for the Boundary Amendment Property within Unit 
No. 7 within the District, as identified in the Preliminary Assessment Roll, a copy of which is on 
file.  Affected parties may appear at that hearing or submit their comments in writing prior to the 
hearing to the office of the District Manager, 2501-A Burns Road, Palm Beach Gardens, Florida 
33410. 
 
 2. Notice of said hearing shall be advertised in accordance with Chapters 170 and 
197, Florida Statutes, and Chapter 2004-456, Laws of Florida, as amended, and the District 
Manager is hereby authorized and directed to place said notice in a newspaper of general 
circulation within the City of North Port (by two publications one week apart with the first 
publication at least twenty (20) days prior to the date of the hearing established herein).  The 
District Manager shall file a publisher’s affidavit with the District Secretary verifying such 
publication of notice.  The District Manager is further authorized and directed to give thirty (30) 
days written notice by mail of the time and place of this hearing to the owners of all property to 
be assessed and include in such notice the amount of the assessment for each such property 
owner, a description of the areas to be improved and notice that information concerning all 
assessments may be ascertained at the District Records Office.  The District Manager shall file 
proof of such mailing by affidavit with the District Secretary. 
 
 3. This Resolution shall become effective upon its passage. 
 
 
 PASSED AND ADOPTED this 14th day of July, 2022. 
 
 
ATTEST: WEST VILLAGES  

IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT 
 
 
 
_____________________________   ____________________________________ 
Secretary/Assistant     Chairman, Board of Supervisors 
 

Page 290



 

  

 

 

WEST VILLAGES 
IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT 
Unit of Development No. 9 
Master Engineer’s Report 

JULY 14, 2022 

 

 

 

 
  

 

 

SUBMITTED BY 

Dewberry Engineers Inc.  
2201 Cantu Court  
Suite 107  
Sarasota, Florida   
Phone: 941.702.9672  
Contact: Richard Ellis 

SUBMITTED TO 

West Villages Improvement District  
19503 S. West Villages Parkway Suite #A3 
Venice, Florida 34293  
Phone: 941.244.2703    

Page 291



West Villages Improvement District  
Unit of Development No. 9 
July 14, 2022 

 

 S E C T I O N  N A M E  1 
 

 

Master Engineer’s Report 

Table of Contents 

1. GENERAL 2 

2. PURPOSE AND SCOPE 2 

3. LANDS IN UNIT OF DEVELOPMENT NO. 9 2 

4. EXISTING CONDITIONS 2 

4.1 Topography 2 

4.2 Soil and Vegetation 2 

4.3 Land Use and Zoning 3 

5. INFRASTRUCTURE PLANS 3 

5.1 Public Infrastructure Improvements 3 

5.2 Permitting 3 

5.3 Estimated Costs of Improvements 4 

6. MAINTENANCE RESPONSIBILITIES 5 

6.1 Public Infrastructure Improvements 5 

7. SUMMARY AND CONCLUSION 6 

8. ENGINEER’S CERTIFICATION 6 

 

Table of Tables 

Table 5.1 Permitting Status .................................................................................... 4 

Table 5.2 Estimated Costs of Improvements ......................................................... 5 

Table of Exhibits 

Aerial Location Map ................................................................................... Exhibit A 

Unit 9 Legal Description ............................................................................. Exhibit B 

 
  

Page 292



West Villages Improvement District  
Unit of Development No. 9 
July 14, 2022 

 

 S E C T I O N  N A M E  2 
 

 

1. GENERAL 

The West Villages Improvement District (“WVID”) was created by and operates under Chapter 2004-458, 
Laws of Florida as amended (the “Act”) and operates pursuant to the Act and applicable provisions of 
Chapter 298, Florida Statutes and other Florida law. WVID was created to construct, operate, and 
maintain public works and utilities including water, sewer, drainage, irrigation, water management, parks, 
recreational facilities, roadway, or related activities, as more particularly described in Chapter 2004-456, 
Laws of Florida. 

2. PURPOSE AND SCOPE 

The purpose of this Master Plan of Improvements is to present the nature and extent of the improvements 
that may be constructed or acquired by WVID for and on behalf of the Unit of Development No. 9 (“Unit” 
or “Project”). These improvements will thereafter be owned, operated, and/or maintained by either WVID 
or another legally empowered governmental entity. 

The text of this report generally describes the existing land within Unit No. 9 and the proposed 
improvements and recommendations. The report is not intended to be used for exact representation or for 
construction purposes since detailed construction documents for all of the proposed improvements have 
not yet been finalized. 

3. LANDS IN UNIT OF DEVELOPMENT NO. 9 

An Aerial Location Map showing the location of Unit No. 9 is included as Exhibit A. The legal 
description(s) and sketch(es) are included as Exhibit B and reflect the lands included in Unit No. 9. These 
lands total approximately 470.9 acres. 

4. EXISTING CONDITIONS 

4.1 Topography 
The area within Unit No. 9 is relatively flat with site elevations ranging from approximately nine (9) feet to 
thirteen (13) feet. The land within the Unit is primarily undeveloped pasture and rangelands, upland pine 
flatwood, and wetlands. 

4.2 Soil and Vegetation 
Based on the 1991 Soil Survey of Sarasota County, Florida, prepared by the United States Department of 
Agriculture (USDA) Soil Conservation Service (SCS), the predominant surficial soil types within the Unit 
are identified as SCS Soil No. 10, EauGallie and Myakka Fine Sands, SCS Soils No. 31, Pineda Fine 
Sand, SCD Soils No. 36, and Pople Fine Sands. SCS Soil No. 10 is a nearly level, poorly drained soil that 
can be made up entirely of EauGallie and similar soils, entirely Myakka and similar soils, or a combination 
of EauGallie, Myakka and other soils. Typically, the EauGallie soil has a surface layer of black fine sand 
with a subsurface layer of gray fine sand to a depth of about 22 inches. The surface layer of the Myakka 
soil is typically dark grayish brown fine sand about 6 inches thick while the subsurface layer is light gray 
fine sand about 18 inches thick. Pineda Fine Sand is a nearly level, poorly drained soil. Typically, the 
surface and subsurface layers are grey fine sands totaling approximately 22 inches thick. The subsoil 
consists of an upper layer of 14 inches of brown fine sand and a lower layer of 12 inches of mottled, light 
brownish gray fine sandy loam. Pople Fine Sand is nearly level, poorly drained soil on low hammocks and 
in poorly defined drainageways and broad sloughs. Typically, the surface layer is very dark grayish brown 
fine sand approximately four (4) inches thick. The subsurface layer is light brownish gray fine sand 
approximately three (3) inches thick. The subsoil is brown and brownish yellow fine sand in the upper 21-
inches and gray fine sandy loam in the lower 28-inches. 

The property within Unit No. 9 currently consists of various vegetative communities comprised of both 
upland and wetland habitats. Several of the vegetation communities have been modified as a result of 
onsite agricultural activities including ditching and fire suppression. Areas that were historically extensive 
open forests or wiregrass prairies have since become heavily forested or have been cleared for cattle 

Page 293



West Villages Improvement District  
Unit of Development No. 9 
July 14, 2022 

 

 S E C T I O N  N A M E  3 
 

 

grazing and commercial nursery. Extensive ditching has also altered the hydrology of several of the 
wetland systems onsite, particularly where the ditches bisect wetlands or are adjacent to wetlands. 

4.3 Land Use and Zoning 
Unit No. 9 is located within the City of North Port, Florida (“City”). The land within the boundary of the Unit 
is currently being designed and prepared for development review and approval with the City. It is 
expected that the City will approve uses compatible with the adopted Comprehensive Land Use Plan. 

5. INFRASTRUCTURE PLANS 

5.1 Public Infrastructure Improvements 
WVID has formed Unit No. 9 to finance infrastructure design and construction to provide public 
infrastructure for the Unit and its ultimate property owners. 

The improvements for the Unit will be consistent with the City of North Port Comprehensive Plan and 
implementing ordinances, studies, plans, and may include: 

 Public roadways, including thoroughfares, arterial, collector, or local streets; 
 Drainage and stormwater improvements; 
 Water and sewer facilities; 
 Irrigation facilities; 
 Public roadway landscape, lighting, signage, and furnishings; 
 Entry features; and 
 Consulting and contingencies.  

Access to the project will be provided via River Road, US 41, West Villages Parkway, Preto Boulevard, 
Manasota Beach Road, and Playmore Drive. Potable water and sanitary sewer services will be provided 
by the City of North Port. 

5.2 Permitting 
Required permits, approved and proposed, are summarized in Table 5.1. It is our opinion that there are 
no technical reasons existing at this time that would prohibit the permitting and construction of the 
planned infrastructure, subject to continued compliance with agency criteria and conditions of the already 
approved plans and permits.  

Permits necessary to complete the Project have either been obtained as described below, or in our 
opinion, are obtainable from the permitting agencies, subject to reasonable, normal, and customary 
permit conditions. 

The remainder of this page has been left intentionally blank. 

  

Page 294



West Villages Improvement District  
Unit of Development No. 9 
July 14, 2022 

 

 S E C T I O N  N A M E  4 
 

 

Table 5.1 Permitting Status 

 

 

 

 

The remainder of this page has been left intentionally blank. 

 
  

Permitting Status 
PERMIT PERMIT NUMBERS DATE APPROVED 

West Villages Pkwy – From Playmore Drive to Atlanta Braves 
Spring Training Complex 

MAS 17-075 10/12/18 

West Villages Pkwy – From Atlanta Braves Spring Training 
Complex south approaching Manasota Beach Road 

INF 18-291 9/30/19 

Playmore Dr Realignment INF 17-129 9/21/17 

Preto Blvd – From south of Playmore Drive approaching 
Manasota Beach Road  

INF 17-128 2/19/18 

Manasota Beach Rd – From Preto Boulevard to River Road, 
including sections of Preto Boulevard and West Villages 
Parkway 

INF 20-036 6/16/20 

Wastewater Treatment Plant FDEP FLA B07114-001-DWIR 
MAS 17-168 

3/17/20 

Water Treatment Plant FDEP FLA 984841-001-DWIP 9/20/17 

Parks/Government TBD TBD 

Various Water Management Improvements INF-15-153/ 
SCP-15-122 

10/4/16 

US-41 Sidewalk Project  TBD TBD 

Village K Neighborhood Improvements    

     SWFWMD ERP - Mass Grading  43032522.048 9/21/2020 

     CONP Mass Grading INF Permit  INF-20-132 11/20/2020 

     CONP INF - Construction Permit  21-000006 Pending  

     CONP SCP - Construction Permit   21-0000028 Pending  

     SWFWMD ERP - Construction Plans 817644.000 Pending  

     FDEP Water Permit TBD  TBD  

     FDEP Wastewater Permit TBD  TBD  

Page 295



West Villages Improvement District  
Unit of Development No. 9 
July 14, 2022 

 

 S E C T I O N  N A M E  5 
 

 

5.3 Estimated Costs of Improvements 
Table 5.2 lists the components of the planned improvements for the Unit, together with their estimated 
costs of design and construction. The table also includes an estimate of administrative, consulting, 
engineering, legal and other fees, and contingencies associated with the improvements. 

Table 5.2 Estimated Costs of Improvements 

Note 1 – Roadway costs include roads, potable water, sanitary sewer, irrigation, drainage, landscaping, and street lighting.  

Note 2 – Costs of the wastewater treatment plant and water treatment plant are Unit 9’s estimated pro rata share of the  

plant’s usage.  

Note 3 – Costs are rounded to the nearest $1 million.  

Note 4 – Only includes costs that are allowable District expenses to the extent that hard gates are not constructed at the  

project entrance by the developer.   

6. MAINTENANCE RESPONSIBILITIES 

6.1 Public Infrastructure Improvements 
Maintenance and operational responsibilities of the Project will include the following: 

1. Maintenance and operation of the potable water and sanitary sewer systems will be the 
responsibility of the City; 

2. Maintenance and operation of the stormwater management system will be the 
responsibility of the WVID; 

Estimated Costs of Improvements (2022 Dollars) 
IMPROVEMENTS ESTIMATED COSTS 

Collector and Arterial Roads (See Note 1) $5,500,000 

Wastewater Treatment Plant (Pro Rata Share – See Notes 2 
and 3) 

$4,000,000 

Water Treatment Plant (Pro Rata Share – See Notes 2 and 
3) 

$3,500,000 

U.S. 41 Sidewalk Project $200,000 

Master Water Management $5,000,000 

Parks/Government $200,000 

Consultants and Administration (15%)  $2,800,000 

Subtotal  $21,200,000 

Village K Neighborhood Improvements  

     Earthwork $6,000,000 

     Drainage and Stormwater $6,500,000  

     Potable Water  $3,000,000 

     Wastewater  $7,500,000 

     Master Irrigation  $2,800,000 

     Consultants and Administration (15%)  $4,000,000 

Subtotal $29,800,000 

Total $51,000,000 

Page 296



West Villages Improvement District 
Unit of Development No. 9
July 14, 2022

S E C T I O N  N A M E 6

3. Maintenance and operation of the collector and arterial roadway, sidewalk, and 
landscaping improvements will be the responsibility of WVID, City, or FDOT depending 
on the ownership of the road; and

4. Maintenance of parks or government projects will be the responsibility of the WVID or 
City.

7. SUMMARY AND CONCLUSION

The improvements, as outlined, are necessary for the functional development of the Project, which is 
being designed in accordance with current governmental regulatory requirements. The Project will serve 
its intended function provided the construction is in substantial compliance with the design. Items of 
construction for the Project are based upon current development plans.

8. ENGINEER’S CERTIFICATION

It is our professional opinion that the infrastructure costs provided herein for the WVID improvements for 
the Project are reasonable to complete the construction of the infrastructure described herein and that 
these infrastructure improvements will benefit and add value to the WVID. These estimated costs are 
based upon prices currently being experienced for similar items of work in southwest Florida and 
expected inflation in the future. Actual costs may vary based on final engineering, planning, and 
approvals from regulatory agencies.

I hereby certify that the foregoing is a true and correct copy of the engineer’s report for the WVID.

Richard Ellis, P.E.
Florida Registration No. 34228

y y

Page 297



WEST VILLAGES
IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT,

UNIT 9

DATE: June 3, 2022

N

470.9± AC.

W
EST VILLAGES PARKW

AY

S
 R

IV
E

R
 R

D
.

S R
IV

ER R
D.

UNIT 9

EXHIBIT "A"

Page 298



EXHIBIT B 
DESCRIPTION: 

A part of Sections 9 and 10, Township 40 South, Range 20 East, City of North Port, County of Sarasota, 
Florida, described as follows: 

 

BEGIN at the Southwest corner of Section 9, Township 40 South, Range 20 East, City of North Port, 
Sarasota County, Florida; thence S.89°20'16" E., along the South line of the Southwest Quarter of said 
Section 9, a distance of 2642.30, to the South Quarter Corner of said Section 9; thence S.89°21'03" E., 
along the South line of the Southeast Quarter of said Section 9, a distance of 2642.80 feet to the 
Southwest corner of Section 10, Township 40 South, Range 20 East; thence S.89°23'23" E., along the 
South line of the Southwest Quarter of said Section 10, a distance of 2433.76 feet to a point on the West 
Right of Way Line of River Road, per Official Records Instrument No. 2008060371, recorded in the Public 
Records of Sarasota County, Florida; thence N.00°28'30" E., along said West Right of Way Line of River 
Road, a distance of 3520.99  feet; thence leaving said West Right of Way Line of River Road, N.89°31'30" 
W., a distance of 400.00 feet to the Southeast corner of lands described in Official Records Instrument 
No. 2021094420 of said Public Records of Sarasota County, Florida; thence along the boundary line of 
said lands described in Official Records Instrument No. 2021094420, the following seventy-eight (78) 
courses:  (1) S.77°24'35" W., a distance of 3.94 feet; (2) thence N.12°16'35" W., a distance of 31.76 feet; 
(3) thence N.57°13'39" W., a distance of 57.21 feet; (4) thence S.44°43'50" W., a distance of 57.18 feet; 
(5) thence S.03°54'26" W., a distance of 32.03 feet; (6) thence S.87°28'21" W., a distance of 41.07 feet; 
(7) thence S.17°07'17" W., a distance of 19.82 feet; (8) thence S.18°08'39" E., a distance of 38.73 feet; 
(9) thence S.37°29'27" W., a distance of 86.38 feet; (10) thence S.34°44'02" W., a distance of 78.09 feet; 
(11) thence S.42°51'19" W., a distance of 53.30 feet; (12) thence S.87°04'42" W., a distance of 30.53 
feet; (13) thence N.65°52'13" W., a distance of 69.92 feet; (14) thence S.72°49'34" W., a distance of 
89.54 feet; (15) thence N.53°46'02" W., a distance of 59.55 feet; (16) thence S.22°18'25" W., a distance 
of 32.46 feet; (17) thence S.88°26'04" W., a distance of 62.66 feet; (18) thence N.83°17'38" W., a 
distance of 54.93 feet; (19) thence N.80°45'21" W., a distance of 40.38 feet; (20) thence N.84°19'37" W., 
a distance of 59.01 feet; (21) thence S.44°55'03" W., a distance of 32.56 feet; (22) thence N.77°41'31" 
W., a distance of 17.55 feet; (23) thence N.31°40'29" W., a distance of 52.43 feet; (24) thence 
N.45°15'20" E., a distance of 33.58 feet; (25) thence N.12°32'20" W., a distance of 59.44 feet; (26) 
thence N.78°51'51" W., a distance of 84.00 feet; (27) thence S.81°34'09" W., a distance of 48.00 feet; 
(28) thence S.72°08'12" W., a distance of 81.27 feet; (29) thence S.78°46'38" W., a distance of 87.91 
feet; (30) thence N.52°00'16" W., a distance of 75.69 feet; (31) thence N.13°52'38" E., a distance of 
37.28 feet; (32) thence N.63°09'58" W., a distance of 56.66 feet; (33) thence N.73°58'46" W., a distance 
of 49.13 feet; (34) thence S.49°51'01" W., a distance of 43.67 feet; (35) thence S.86°45'06" W., a 
distance of 44.47 feet; (36) thence S.47°32'20" W., a distance of 69.51 feet; (37) thence S.28°59'45" W., 
a distance of 64.66 feet; (38) thence S.47°46'59" W., a distance of 26.32 feet; (39) thence S.49°07'42" 
W., a distance of 68.67 feet; (40) thence S.59°35'37" W., a distance of 48.68 feet; (41) thence 
S.42°44'21" W., a distance of 54.01 feet; (42) thence S.55°44'39" W., a distance of 49.07 feet; (43) 
thence S.56°21'21" W., a distance of 50.57 feet; (44) thence S.54°15'26" W., a distance of 92.86 feet; 
(45) thence S.44°01'35" W., a distance of 42.12 feet; (46) thence S.65°00'42" W., a distance of 48.69 
feet; (47) thence S.65°14'38" W., a distance of 37.28 feet; (48) thence S.78°55'02" W., a distance of 
32.95 feet; (49) thence S.12°24'17" W., a distance of 37.78 feet; (50) thence S.62°00'50" W., a distance 
of 35.33 feet; (51) thence N.59°58'12" W., a distance of 17.73 feet; (52) thence S.69°05'45" W., a 

Page 299



EXHIBIT B 
distance of 21.71 feet; (53) thence N.61°52'21" W., a distance of 15.90 feet; (54) thence N.59°40'06" W., 
a distance of 23.45 feet; (55) thence N.27°26'55" W., a distance of 16.43 feet; (56) thence N.53°13'40" 
W., a distance of 31.68 feet; (57) thence N.44°09'24" W., a distance of 22.55 feet; (58) thence 
N.50°58'46" W., a distance of 30.73 feet; (59) thence N.78°40'45" W., a distance of 20.61 feet; (60) 
thence N.63°50'16" W., a distance of 26.61 feet; (61) thence S.67°07'34" W., a distance of 33.94 feet; 
(62) thence S.78°50'03" W., a distance of 30.10 feet; (63) thence S.75°34'38" W., a distance of 49.23 
feet; (64) thence S.29°07'10" W., a distance of 35.69 feet; (65) thence S.23°27'06" W., a distance of 
32.25 feet; (66)  thence S.22°23'40" W., a distance of 21.95 feet; (67) thence S.32°08'26" W., a distance 
of 46.03 feet; (68) thence S.18°08'34" W., a distance of 33.80 feet; (69) thence S.52°01'11" W., a 
distance of 33.70 feet; (70) thence S.39°11'48" W., a distance of 47.65 feet; (71) thence S.45°44'56" W., 
a distance of 50.49 feet; (72) thence N.84°15'41" W., a distance of 48.05 feet; (73) thence N.51°00'48" 
W., a distance of 40.43 feet; (74) thence N.32°00'37" W., a distance of 28.03 feet; (75) thence 
N.84°05'43" W., a distance of 56.94 feet; (76) thence S.51°06'18" W., a distance of 50.50 feet; (77) 
thence S.58°22'39" W., a distance of 858.02 feet; (78) thence N.30°32'28" W., a distance of 1325.00 feet 
to the South Right of Way Line of Manasota Beach Road, as shown on Manasota Beach Ranchlands Plat 
No. 1, recorded in Plat Book 55, Page 367 of the Public Records of Sarasota County, Florida; thence along 
said South Right of Way Line of Manasota Beach Road the following four (4) courses: (1) thence 
S.54°50'52" W., a distance of 187.13 feet to the beginning of a curve to the right, having:  a radius of 
1165.00 feet, and a central angle of 56°04'48", a chord bearing of S.82°53'17" W., and a chord length of 
1095.31 feet; (2) thence along the arc of said curve, an arc length of 1140.28 feet; (3) thence 
N.74°02'32" W., a distance of 149.78  feet to the beginning of a non-tangent curve to the left, having:  a 
radius of 85.00 feet, and a central angle of 39°46'27", a chord bearing of S.86°07'30" W., and a chord 
length of 57.83 feet; (4) thence along the arc of said curve, an arc length of 59.01 feet to the East Right 
of Way Line of West Villages Parkway, as shown on said plat of Manasota Beach Ranchlands Plat No. 1; 
thence  along said East Right of Way Line of West Villages Parkway the following twenty (20) courses:  
(1) S.30°34'52" W., a distance of 945.90  feet to the beginning of a curve to the left, having:  a radius of 
2135.00 feet, and a central angle of 19°50'26", a chord bearing of S.20°39'39" W., and a chord length of 
735.63 feet; (2) thence along the arc of said curve, an arc length of 739.32 feet, to the beginning of a 
reverse curve to the right, having:  a radius of 2265.00 feet, and a central angle of 05°25'28", a chord 
bearing of S.13°27'10" W., and a chord length of 214.36 feet; (3) thence along the arc of said curve, an 
arc length of 214.44 feet; (4) thence S.73°50'06" E., a distance of 79.04  feet to the beginning of a curve 
to the right, having:  a radius of 67.00 feet, and a central angle of 49°47'43", a chord bearing of 
S.48°56'15" E., and a chord length of 56.41 feet; (5) thence along the arc of said curve, an arc length of 
58.23 feet; (6) thence S.24°02'24" E., a distance of 52.17  feet to the beginning of a curve to the left, 
having:  a radius of 53.00 feet, and a central angle of 20°57'59", a chord bearing of S.34°31'23" E., and a 
chord length of 19.29 feet; (7) thence along the arc of said curve, an arc length of 19.39 feet; (8) thence 
S.45°00'23" E., a distance of 85.92  feet to the beginning of a curve to the left having:  a radius of 53.00 
feet, and a central angle of 18°04'21", a chord bearing of S.54°02'33" E., and a chord length of 16.65 
feet; (9) thence along the arc of said curve, an arc length of 16.72 feet; (10) thence S.63°04'43" E., a 
distance of 9.91  feet to the beginning of a curve to the right, having:  a radius of 107.00 feet, and a 
central angle of 80°38'56", a chord bearing of S.22°45'15" E., and a chord length of 138.48 feet; (11) 
thence along the arc of said curve, an arc length of 150.61 feet; (12) thence S.17°34'13" W., a distance of 
51.16  feet to the beginning of a curve to the right, having:  a radius of 1007.00 feet, and a central angle 
of 10°01'39", a chord bearing of S.22°35'02" W., and a chord length of 176.01 feet; (13) thence along the 

Page 300



EXHIBIT B 
arc of said curve, an arc length of 176.24 feet, to the beginning of a reverse curve to the left, having:  a 
radius of 103.00 feet, and a central angle of 67°04'13", a chord bearing of S.05°56'15" E., and a chord 
length of 113.80 feet; (14) thence along the arc of said curve, an arc length of 120.57 feet, to the 
beginning of a reverse curve to the right, having:  a radius of 47.00 feet, and a central angle of 
106°27'33", a chord bearing of S.13°45'25" W., and a chord length of 75.30 feet; (15) thence along the 
arc of said curve, an arc length of 87.33 feet, to the beginning of a reverse curve to the left, having:  a 
radius of 493.00 feet, and a central angle of 33°28'23", a chord bearing of S.50°15'00" W., and a chord 
length of 283.94 feet; (16) thence along the arc of said curve, an arc length of 288.02 feet, to the 
beginning of a reverse curve to the right, having:  a radius of 107.00 feet, and a central angle of 
95°38'30", a chord bearing of S.81°20'04" W., and a chord length of 158.58 feet; (17) thence along the 
arc of said curve, an arc length of 178.61 feet; (18) thence N.50°50'41" W., a distance of 154.43  feet; 
(19) thence N.52°07'14" W., a distance of 115.22  feet to the beginning of a non-tangent curve to the 
right, having:  a radius of 2265.00 feet, and a central angle of 14°52'19", a chord bearing of S.45°18'55" 
W., and a chord length of 586.26 feet; (20) thence along the arc of said curve, an arc length of 587.91 
feet, to the beginning of a reverse curve to the left, having:  a radius of 2135.00 feet, and a central angle 
of 14°29'30", a chord bearing of S.45°30'20" W., and a chord length of 538.56 feet; thence continue 
along said East Right of Way Line of West Villages Boulevard and it’s southerly extension, along the arc 
of said curve, an arc length of 540.00 feet to the POINT OF BEGINNING. 

 

Parcel contains 20513797 square feet, or 470.9320 acres, more or less. 

Page 301



�

26
42

.3
0'

S
�8

9°
20

'1
6"

�E
26

42
.8

0'
S

�8
9°

21
'0

3"
�E

24
33

.7
6'

S
�8

9°
23

'2
3"

�E

3520.99' N�00°28'30"�E

C
1

C
1

L5
C

2

945.90'

S�30°34'52"�W

C3

C4

L6
C5 L7

C6

L8 C
7L9

C8

L10 C9

C10

C11

C12

C
13

L1
1

L1
2

C14

C15

C
U

R
V

E
�T

A
B

LE

LI
N

E
�T

A
B

LE

D
E

S
C

R
IP

T
IO

N
:

40
0.

00
'

N
89

°3
1'

30
"W

L1

L2

L3

L4
L5

L6 L7

L8

L9

L10
L1

1

L1
2

L1
3

L1
4

L1
5

L16

L1
7

L1
8

L1
9

L2
0

L2
1

L2
2

L23L2
4

L25

L2
6

L2
7

L2
8

L2
9

L3
0

L31

L3
2

L3
3

L3
4

L3
5

L3
6 L37

L3
8

L3
9

L4
0

L4
1

L4
2

L4
3

L4
4

L4
5

L4
6

L4
7

L4
8

L49

L5
0

L5
1

L5
2

L5
3

L5
4

L55

L5
6

L5
7

L5
8L5

9

L6
0

L6
1

L6
2

L6
3

L64

L65

L66

L67

L68

L6
9

L70 L7
1

L7
2

L7
3

L74

L7
5

L7
6

85
8.

02
'

S
58

°2
2'

39
"W

1325.00'

N30°32'28"W

L7
7

W
E

LL
E

N
�P

A
R

K
,�V

IL
LA

G
E

�"
K

"�
R

E
S

ID
E

N
T

IA
L

N
O

T
E

S
:

Page 302



Page 303



Page 304



(1)
(2)

(3) (4)

ERU

ERU

Page 305



ERU ERU

ERU

Florida Statutes F.S.

F.S.

Page 306



ERUs

ERUs

ERUs

ERUs
ERUs

ERU
ERUs

Page 307



Page 308



Page 309



Page 310



Page 311



Page 312



Page 313



Page 314



WEST VILLAGES
IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT,

UNIT 9

DATE: June 3, 2022

N

470.9± AC.

W
EST VILLAGES PARKW

AY

S
 R

IV
E

R
 R

D
.

S R
IV

ER R
D.

UNIT 9

EXHIBIT "A"

Page 315



EXHIBIT B 
DESCRIPTION: 

A part of Sections 9 and 10, Township 40 South, Range 20 East, City of North Port, County of Sarasota, 
Florida, described as follows: 

 

BEGIN at the Southwest corner of Section 9, Township 40 South, Range 20 East, City of North Port, 
Sarasota County, Florida; thence S.89°20'16" E., along the South line of the Southwest Quarter of said 
Section 9, a distance of 2642.30, to the South Quarter Corner of said Section 9; thence S.89°21'03" E., 
along the South line of the Southeast Quarter of said Section 9, a distance of 2642.80 feet to the 
Southwest corner of Section 10, Township 40 South, Range 20 East; thence S.89°23'23" E., along the 
South line of the Southwest Quarter of said Section 10, a distance of 2433.76 feet to a point on the West 
Right of Way Line of River Road, per Official Records Instrument No. 2008060371, recorded in the Public 
Records of Sarasota County, Florida; thence N.00°28'30" E., along said West Right of Way Line of River 
Road, a distance of 3520.99  feet; thence leaving said West Right of Way Line of River Road, N.89°31'30" 
W., a distance of 400.00 feet to the Southeast corner of lands described in Official Records Instrument 
No. 2021094420 of said Public Records of Sarasota County, Florida; thence along the boundary line of 
said lands described in Official Records Instrument No. 2021094420, the following seventy-eight (78) 
courses:  (1) S.77°24'35" W., a distance of 3.94 feet; (2) thence N.12°16'35" W., a distance of 31.76 feet; 
(3) thence N.57°13'39" W., a distance of 57.21 feet; (4) thence S.44°43'50" W., a distance of 57.18 feet; 
(5) thence S.03°54'26" W., a distance of 32.03 feet; (6) thence S.87°28'21" W., a distance of 41.07 feet; 
(7) thence S.17°07'17" W., a distance of 19.82 feet; (8) thence S.18°08'39" E., a distance of 38.73 feet; 
(9) thence S.37°29'27" W., a distance of 86.38 feet; (10) thence S.34°44'02" W., a distance of 78.09 feet; 
(11) thence S.42°51'19" W., a distance of 53.30 feet; (12) thence S.87°04'42" W., a distance of 30.53 
feet; (13) thence N.65°52'13" W., a distance of 69.92 feet; (14) thence S.72°49'34" W., a distance of 
89.54 feet; (15) thence N.53°46'02" W., a distance of 59.55 feet; (16) thence S.22°18'25" W., a distance 
of 32.46 feet; (17) thence S.88°26'04" W., a distance of 62.66 feet; (18) thence N.83°17'38" W., a 
distance of 54.93 feet; (19) thence N.80°45'21" W., a distance of 40.38 feet; (20) thence N.84°19'37" W., 
a distance of 59.01 feet; (21) thence S.44°55'03" W., a distance of 32.56 feet; (22) thence N.77°41'31" 
W., a distance of 17.55 feet; (23) thence N.31°40'29" W., a distance of 52.43 feet; (24) thence 
N.45°15'20" E., a distance of 33.58 feet; (25) thence N.12°32'20" W., a distance of 59.44 feet; (26) 
thence N.78°51'51" W., a distance of 84.00 feet; (27) thence S.81°34'09" W., a distance of 48.00 feet; 
(28) thence S.72°08'12" W., a distance of 81.27 feet; (29) thence S.78°46'38" W., a distance of 87.91 
feet; (30) thence N.52°00'16" W., a distance of 75.69 feet; (31) thence N.13°52'38" E., a distance of 
37.28 feet; (32) thence N.63°09'58" W., a distance of 56.66 feet; (33) thence N.73°58'46" W., a distance 
of 49.13 feet; (34) thence S.49°51'01" W., a distance of 43.67 feet; (35) thence S.86°45'06" W., a 
distance of 44.47 feet; (36) thence S.47°32'20" W., a distance of 69.51 feet; (37) thence S.28°59'45" W., 
a distance of 64.66 feet; (38) thence S.47°46'59" W., a distance of 26.32 feet; (39) thence S.49°07'42" 
W., a distance of 68.67 feet; (40) thence S.59°35'37" W., a distance of 48.68 feet; (41) thence 
S.42°44'21" W., a distance of 54.01 feet; (42) thence S.55°44'39" W., a distance of 49.07 feet; (43) 
thence S.56°21'21" W., a distance of 50.57 feet; (44) thence S.54°15'26" W., a distance of 92.86 feet; 
(45) thence S.44°01'35" W., a distance of 42.12 feet; (46) thence S.65°00'42" W., a distance of 48.69 
feet; (47) thence S.65°14'38" W., a distance of 37.28 feet; (48) thence S.78°55'02" W., a distance of 
32.95 feet; (49) thence S.12°24'17" W., a distance of 37.78 feet; (50) thence S.62°00'50" W., a distance 
of 35.33 feet; (51) thence N.59°58'12" W., a distance of 17.73 feet; (52) thence S.69°05'45" W., a 

Page 316



EXHIBIT B 
distance of 21.71 feet; (53) thence N.61°52'21" W., a distance of 15.90 feet; (54) thence N.59°40'06" W., 
a distance of 23.45 feet; (55) thence N.27°26'55" W., a distance of 16.43 feet; (56) thence N.53°13'40" 
W., a distance of 31.68 feet; (57) thence N.44°09'24" W., a distance of 22.55 feet; (58) thence 
N.50°58'46" W., a distance of 30.73 feet; (59) thence N.78°40'45" W., a distance of 20.61 feet; (60) 
thence N.63°50'16" W., a distance of 26.61 feet; (61) thence S.67°07'34" W., a distance of 33.94 feet; 
(62) thence S.78°50'03" W., a distance of 30.10 feet; (63) thence S.75°34'38" W., a distance of 49.23 
feet; (64) thence S.29°07'10" W., a distance of 35.69 feet; (65) thence S.23°27'06" W., a distance of 
32.25 feet; (66)  thence S.22°23'40" W., a distance of 21.95 feet; (67) thence S.32°08'26" W., a distance 
of 46.03 feet; (68) thence S.18°08'34" W., a distance of 33.80 feet; (69) thence S.52°01'11" W., a 
distance of 33.70 feet; (70) thence S.39°11'48" W., a distance of 47.65 feet; (71) thence S.45°44'56" W., 
a distance of 50.49 feet; (72) thence N.84°15'41" W., a distance of 48.05 feet; (73) thence N.51°00'48" 
W., a distance of 40.43 feet; (74) thence N.32°00'37" W., a distance of 28.03 feet; (75) thence 
N.84°05'43" W., a distance of 56.94 feet; (76) thence S.51°06'18" W., a distance of 50.50 feet; (77) 
thence S.58°22'39" W., a distance of 858.02 feet; (78) thence N.30°32'28" W., a distance of 1325.00 feet 
to the South Right of Way Line of Manasota Beach Road, as shown on Manasota Beach Ranchlands Plat 
No. 1, recorded in Plat Book 55, Page 367 of the Public Records of Sarasota County, Florida; thence along 
said South Right of Way Line of Manasota Beach Road the following four (4) courses: (1) thence 
S.54°50'52" W., a distance of 187.13 feet to the beginning of a curve to the right, having:  a radius of 
1165.00 feet, and a central angle of 56°04'48", a chord bearing of S.82°53'17" W., and a chord length of 
1095.31 feet; (2) thence along the arc of said curve, an arc length of 1140.28 feet; (3) thence 
N.74°02'32" W., a distance of 149.78  feet to the beginning of a non-tangent curve to the left, having:  a 
radius of 85.00 feet, and a central angle of 39°46'27", a chord bearing of S.86°07'30" W., and a chord 
length of 57.83 feet; (4) thence along the arc of said curve, an arc length of 59.01 feet to the East Right 
of Way Line of West Villages Parkway, as shown on said plat of Manasota Beach Ranchlands Plat No. 1; 
thence  along said East Right of Way Line of West Villages Parkway the following twenty (20) courses:  
(1) S.30°34'52" W., a distance of 945.90  feet to the beginning of a curve to the left, having:  a radius of 
2135.00 feet, and a central angle of 19°50'26", a chord bearing of S.20°39'39" W., and a chord length of 
735.63 feet; (2) thence along the arc of said curve, an arc length of 739.32 feet, to the beginning of a 
reverse curve to the right, having:  a radius of 2265.00 feet, and a central angle of 05°25'28", a chord 
bearing of S.13°27'10" W., and a chord length of 214.36 feet; (3) thence along the arc of said curve, an 
arc length of 214.44 feet; (4) thence S.73°50'06" E., a distance of 79.04  feet to the beginning of a curve 
to the right, having:  a radius of 67.00 feet, and a central angle of 49°47'43", a chord bearing of 
S.48°56'15" E., and a chord length of 56.41 feet; (5) thence along the arc of said curve, an arc length of 
58.23 feet; (6) thence S.24°02'24" E., a distance of 52.17  feet to the beginning of a curve to the left, 
having:  a radius of 53.00 feet, and a central angle of 20°57'59", a chord bearing of S.34°31'23" E., and a 
chord length of 19.29 feet; (7) thence along the arc of said curve, an arc length of 19.39 feet; (8) thence 
S.45°00'23" E., a distance of 85.92  feet to the beginning of a curve to the left having:  a radius of 53.00 
feet, and a central angle of 18°04'21", a chord bearing of S.54°02'33" E., and a chord length of 16.65 
feet; (9) thence along the arc of said curve, an arc length of 16.72 feet; (10) thence S.63°04'43" E., a 
distance of 9.91  feet to the beginning of a curve to the right, having:  a radius of 107.00 feet, and a 
central angle of 80°38'56", a chord bearing of S.22°45'15" E., and a chord length of 138.48 feet; (11) 
thence along the arc of said curve, an arc length of 150.61 feet; (12) thence S.17°34'13" W., a distance of 
51.16  feet to the beginning of a curve to the right, having:  a radius of 1007.00 feet, and a central angle 
of 10°01'39", a chord bearing of S.22°35'02" W., and a chord length of 176.01 feet; (13) thence along the 

Page 317



EXHIBIT B 
arc of said curve, an arc length of 176.24 feet, to the beginning of a reverse curve to the left, having:  a 
radius of 103.00 feet, and a central angle of 67°04'13", a chord bearing of S.05°56'15" E., and a chord 
length of 113.80 feet; (14) thence along the arc of said curve, an arc length of 120.57 feet, to the 
beginning of a reverse curve to the right, having:  a radius of 47.00 feet, and a central angle of 
106°27'33", a chord bearing of S.13°45'25" W., and a chord length of 75.30 feet; (15) thence along the 
arc of said curve, an arc length of 87.33 feet, to the beginning of a reverse curve to the left, having:  a 
radius of 493.00 feet, and a central angle of 33°28'23", a chord bearing of S.50°15'00" W., and a chord 
length of 283.94 feet; (16) thence along the arc of said curve, an arc length of 288.02 feet, to the 
beginning of a reverse curve to the right, having:  a radius of 107.00 feet, and a central angle of 
95°38'30", a chord bearing of S.81°20'04" W., and a chord length of 158.58 feet; (17) thence along the 
arc of said curve, an arc length of 178.61 feet; (18) thence N.50°50'41" W., a distance of 154.43  feet; 
(19) thence N.52°07'14" W., a distance of 115.22  feet to the beginning of a non-tangent curve to the 
right, having:  a radius of 2265.00 feet, and a central angle of 14°52'19", a chord bearing of S.45°18'55" 
W., and a chord length of 586.26 feet; (20) thence along the arc of said curve, an arc length of 587.91 
feet, to the beginning of a reverse curve to the left, having:  a radius of 2135.00 feet, and a central angle 
of 14°29'30", a chord bearing of S.45°30'20" W., and a chord length of 538.56 feet; thence continue 
along said East Right of Way Line of West Villages Boulevard and it’s southerly extension, along the arc 
of said curve, an arc length of 540.00 feet to the POINT OF BEGINNING. 

 

Parcel contains 20513797 square feet, or 470.9320 acres, more or less. 

Page 318



�

26
42

.3
0'

S
�8

9°
20

'1
6"

�E
26

42
.8

0'
S

�8
9°

21
'0

3"
�E

24
33

.7
6'

S
�8

9°
23

'2
3"

�E

3520.99' N�00°28'30"�E

C
1

C
1

L5
C

2

945.90'

S�30°34'52"�W

C3

C4

L6
C5 L7

C6

L8 C
7L9

C8

L10 C9

C10

C11

C12

C
13

L1
1

L1
2

C14

C15

C
U

R
V

E
�T

A
B

LE

LI
N

E
�T

A
B

LE

D
E

S
C

R
IP

T
IO

N
:

40
0.

00
'

N
89

°3
1'

30
"W

L1

L2

L3

L4
L5

L6 L7

L8

L9

L10
L1

1

L1
2

L1
3

L1
4

L1
5

L16

L1
7

L1
8

L1
9

L2
0

L2
1

L2
2

L23L2
4

L25

L2
6

L2
7

L2
8

L2
9

L3
0

L31

L3
2

L3
3

L3
4

L3
5

L3
6 L37

L3
8

L3
9

L4
0

L4
1

L4
2

L4
3

L4
4

L4
5

L4
6

L4
7

L4
8

L49

L5
0

L5
1

L5
2

L5
3

L5
4

L55

L5
6

L5
7

L5
8L5

9

L6
0

L6
1

L6
2

L6
3

L64

L65

L66

L67

L68

L6
9

L70 L7
1

L7
2

L7
3

L74

L7
5

L7
6

85
8.

02
'

S
58

°2
2'

39
"W

1325.00'

N30°32'28"W

L7
7

W
E

LL
E

N
�P

A
R

K
,�V

IL
LA

G
E

�"
K

"�
R

E
S

ID
E

N
T

IA
L

N
O

T
E

S
:

Page 319



 

1 
 

RESOLUTION 2022-17 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE WEST VILLAGES 
IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT DECLARING SPECIAL 
ASSESSMENTS RELATIVE TO UNIT OF DEVELOPMENT 
NO. 9 WITHIN THE DISTRICT; INDICATING THE 
LOCATION, NATURE AND ESTIMATED COST OF THOSE 
INFRASTRUCTURE IMPROVEMENTS WHOSE COST IS 
TO BE DEFRAYED BY THE SPECIAL ASSESSMENTS; 
PROVIDING THE PORTION OF THE ESTIMATED COST 
OF THE IMPROVEMENTS TO BE DEFRAYED BY THE 
SPECIAL ASSESSMENTS; PROVIDING THE MANNER IN 
WHICH SUCH SPECIAL ASSESSMENTS SHALL BE 
MADE; PROVIDING WHEN SUCH SPECIAL 
ASSESSMENTS SHALL BE PAID; DESIGNATING LANDS 
UPON WHICH THE SPECIAL ASSESSMENTS SHALL BE 
LEVIED; PROVIDING FOR AN ASSESSMENT PLAT; 
ADOPTING A PRELIMINARY ASSESSMENT ROLL; 
PROVIDING FOR PUBLICATION OF THIS RESOLUTION. 

  
 WHEREAS, the Board of Supervisors (the “Board”) of the West Villages Improvement 
District (the “District”) hereby determines to undertake, install, plan, establish, construct or 
reconstruct, enlarge or extend, equip, acquire, operate, and/or maintain the infrastructure 
improvements (the “Improvements”) within Unit of Development No. 9 (“Unit No. 9”) as 
described in the District’s preliminary Unit of Development No. 9 Master Engineer’s Report, dated 
July 14, 2022, attached hereto as Exhibit A and incorporated herein by reference; and 
 
 WHEREAS, it is in the best interest of the District to pay the cost of the Improvements by 
imposing, levying, and collecting non-ad valorem special assessments pursuant to Chapters 170 
and 197, Florida Statutes, and Chapter 2004-456, Laws of Florida, as amended (the 
“Assessments”); and 
 
 WHEREAS, the District is empowered by Chapters 170 and 197, Florida Statutes, and 
Chapter 2004-456, Laws of Florida, as amended, to finance, fund, plan, establish, acquire, 
construct or reconstruct, enlarge or extend, equip, operate, and maintain the Improvements and to 
impose, levy and collect the Assessments; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the District hereby determines that benefits will accrue to the assessable real 
property located within Unit No. 9, the amount of those benefits, and that the Assessments will be 
made in proportion to the benefits received as set forth in the District’s preliminary Unit of 
Development No. 9 Master Special Assessment Methodology Report, dated July 14, 2022, attached 
hereto as Exhibit B and incorporated herein by reference and on file at 2501-A Burns Road, Palm 

Page 320



 

2 
 

Beach Gardens, Florida 33410 and 19503 S. West Villages Parkway #A3, Venice, Florida 34293 
(collectively, the “District Records Office”); and 
 
 WHEREAS, the District hereby determines that the Assessments to be levied will not 
exceed the benefit to the assessable real property located within Unit No. 9. 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD 
OF SUPERVISORS OF THE WEST VILLAGES 
IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT: 

 
 1. Assessments shall be levied to defray the cost of the Improvements. 
 
 2. The nature and general location of, and plans and specifications for, the 
Improvements planned for Unit No. 9 are described in Exhibit A, which is on file at the District 
Records Office.  Exhibit B is also on file and available for public inspection at the same location. 
 
 3. The total estimated cost of the Improvements is $51,000,000 (the “Estimated 
Cost”). 
 
 4. The Assessments will defray approximately $63,905,000, which includes the 
Estimated Cost, plus financing-related costs, capitalized interest, and debt service reserve.  
 
 5. The manner in which the Assessments shall be apportioned and paid is set forth in 
Exhibit B, including provisions for supplemental assessment resolutions. 
 
 6. The Assessments shall be levied on all lots and lands within Unit No. 9 adjoining 
and contiguous or bounding and abutting upon such improvements or specially benefitted thereby 
and further designated by the assessment plat hereinafter provided for. 
 
 7. There is on file, at the District Records Office, an assessment plat showing the real 
property within Unit No. 9 within the District to be assessed, with certain plans and specifications 
describing the Improvements and the Estimated Cost of the Improvements, all of which shall be 
open to inspection by the public. 
 
 8. Commencing with the year in which the Assessments are certified for collection, 
the Assessments shall be paid in not more than thirty (30) annual installments.  The Assessments 
may be payable at the same time and in the same manner as are ad-valorem taxes and collected 
pursuant to Chapter 197, Florida Statutes; provided, however, that in the event the uniform non 
ad-valorem assessment method of collecting the Assessments is not available to the District in any 
year, or if determined by the District to be in its best interest, the Assessments may be collected as 
is otherwise permitted by law. 

Page 321



 

3 
 

 9. The District Manager has caused to be made a preliminary assessment roll, in 
accordance with the method of assessment described in Exhibit B hereto, which shows the lots 
and lands within Unit No. 9 to be assessed, the amount of benefit to and the Assessments against 
each lot or parcel of land and the number of annual installments into which the assessment may be 
divided, which assessment roll is hereby adopted and approved as the District’s preliminary 
assessment roll. 
 
 10. The Board shall adopt a subsequent resolution to fix a time and place at which the 
owners of property to be assessed or any other persons interested therein may appear before the 
Board and be heard as to the propriety and advisability of the Assessments or the making of the 
Improvements, the cost thereof, the manner of payment therefore, or the amount thereof to be 
assessed against each property as improved. 
 
 11. The District Manager is hereby directed to cause this Resolution to be published 
twice (once a week for two (2) weeks) in a newspaper of general circulation within Sarasota 
County and to provide such other notice as may be required by law or desired in the best interests 
of the District. 
 
 12. This Resolution shall become effective upon its passage. 
 
 
 PASSED AND ADOPTED this 14th day of July, 2022. 
 
 
ATTEST:    WEST VILLAGES  
     IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT 

 
 

_____________________________  ____________________________________ 
Secretary/Assistant Secretary  Chairman, Board of Supervisors 
 

 
Exhibit A: Preliminary Unit of Development No. 9 Master Engineer’s Report, dated July 14, 

2022 
Exhibit B: Preliminary Unit of Development No. 9 Master Special Assessment Methodology 

Report, dated July 14, 2022 

Page 322



 

 
 

Exhibit A 
 

Preliminary Unit of Development No. 9 Master Engineer’s Report, dated July 14, 2022

Page 323



 

 
 

Exhibit B 
 

Preliminary Unit of Development No. 9 Master Special Assessment Methodology Report,  
dated July 14, 2022 

 

Page 324



1 
 

RESOLUTION 2022-18 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE WEST VILLAGES 
IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT SETTING A PUBLIC 
HEARING TO BE HELD ON AUGUST 18, 2022, AT 11:00 
A.M. AT THE PUBLIC SAFETY BUILDING TRAINING 
ROOM LOCATED AT 19955 PRETO BOULEVARD, 
VENICE, FLORIDA 34293 FOR THE PURPOSE OF 
HEARING PUBLIC COMMENT ON IMPOSING SPECIAL 
ASSESSMENTS ON CERTAIN PROPERTY WITHIN THE 
DISTRICT GENERALLY DESCRIBED AS THE WEST 
VILLAGES IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT UNIT OF 
DEVELOPMENT NO. 9 IN ACCORDANCE WITH 
CHAPTERS 170 AND 197, FLORIDA STATUTES, AND 
CHAPTER 2004-456, LAWS OF FLORIDA. 

 
 WHEREAS, the Board of Supervisors of the West Villages Improvement District, 
(“Board”) has previously adopted Resolution 2022-17, entitled  
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE WEST VILLAGES 
IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT DECLARING SPECIAL 
ASSESSMENTS RELATIVE TO UNIT OF DEVELOPMENT 
NO. 9 WITHIN THE DISTRICT; INDICATING THE 
LOCATION, NATURE AND ESTIMATED COST OF 
THOSE INFRASTRUCTURE IMPROVEMENTS WHOSE 
COST IS TO BE DEFRAYED BY THE SPECIAL 
ASSESSMENTS; PROVIDING THE PORTION OF THE 
ESTIMATED COST OF THE IMPROVEMENTS TO BE 
DEFRAYED BY THE SPECIAL ASSESSMENTS; 
PROVIDING THE MANNER IN WHICH SUCH SPECIAL 
ASSESSMENTS SHALL BE MADE; PROVIDING WHEN 
SUCH SPECIAL ASSESSMENTS SHALL BE PAID; 
DESIGNATING LANDS UPON WHICH THE SPECIAL 
ASSESSMENTS SHALL BE LEVIED; PROVIDING FOR AN 
ASSESSMENT PLAT; ADOPTING A PRELIMINARY 
ASSESSMENT ROLL; PROVIDING FOR PUBLICATION 
OF THIS RESOLUTION. 

 
 WHEREAS, in accordance with Resolution 2022-17, a Preliminary Assessment Roll for 
the District’s proposed Unit of Development No. 9 (“Unit No. 9”) has been prepared and all 
other conditions precedent set forth in Chapters 170 and 197, Florida Statutes, and Chapter 
2004-456, Laws of Florida, as amended, to the holding of the aforementioned public hearing 
have been satisfied, and the roll and related documents are available for public inspection at 
2501-A Burns Road, Palm Beach Gardens, Florida 33410 and 19503 S. West Villages Parkway 
#A3, Venice, Florida 34293 (collectively, the “District Records Office”). 

Page 325



2 
 

 
NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD 
OF SUPERVISORS OF THE WEST VILLAGES 
IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT: 

 
 1. There is hereby declared a public hearing to be held on August 18, 2022 at the 
Public Safety Building Training Room located at 19955 Preto Blvd., Venice, Florida 34293, for 
the purpose of hearing comment and objections to the proposed special assessment program for 
District improvements planned for Unit No. 9 within the District, as identified in the Preliminary 
Assessment Roll, a copy of which is on file.  Affected parties may appear at that hearing or 
submit their comments in writing prior to the hearing to the office of the District Manager, 2501-
A Burns Road, Palm Beach Gardens, Florida 33410. 
 
 2. Notice of said hearing shall be advertised in accordance with Chapters 170 and 
197, Florida Statutes, and Chapter 2004-456, Laws of Florida, as amended, and the District 
Manager is hereby authorized and directed to place said notice in a newspaper of general 
circulation within Sarasota County (by two publications one week apart with the first publication 
at least twenty (20) days prior to the date of the hearing established herein).  The District 
Manager shall file a publisher’s affidavit with the District Secretary verifying such publication of 
notice.  The District Manager is further authorized and directed to give thirty (30) days written 
notice by mail of the time and place of this hearing to the owners of all property to be assessed 
and include in such notice the amount of the assessment for each such property owner, a 
description of the areas to be improved and notice that information concerning all assessments 
may be ascertained at the District Records Office.  The District Manager shall file proof of such 
mailing by affidavit with the District Secretary. 
 
 3. This Resolution shall become effective upon its passage. 
 
 PASSED AND ADOPTED this 14th day of July, 2022. 
 
 
ATTEST: WEST VILLAGES  

IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT 
 
 
_____________________________   ____________________________________ 
Secretary/Assistant     Chairman, Board of Supervisors 

Page 326



 

  

 

 

WEST VILLAGES 
IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT 
Stormwater Management Projection Report (Section 
403.9302 F.S.) 

JUNE 27, 2022 

 

 

 

 
  

ORIGINAL 

 

SUBMITTED BY 

Dewberry Engineers Inc.  
2201 Cantu Court 
Suite 107 
Sarasota, Florida 34232 
941.702.9672 

SUBMITTED TO 

West Villages Improvement District  
William Crosley District Manager  
19503 S West Villages Parkway, #A3 
Venice, Florida 34293 
 
Ms. Kelly Colvin 
Sarasota County Public Works-Stormwater 
Email: kcolvin@scgov.net 
   

 

Page 327



West Villages Improvement District, Stormwater Management Projections 2022 
 

   1 
 

 

Stormwater Management Projection Report 

 

Table of Contents 

1. Introduction 2 

2. Detailed Description of the Stormwater System 2 

3. Number of Current and Projected Residents 3 

4. Stormwater Service Area 3 

5. Current and Projected Costs of Providing Service 4 

6. Estimated Remaining Useful Life 4 

7. Recent 5-Year Funding Status 4 

8. Plan to Fund Maintenance or Expansion 5 

9. Report Submittal and Documentation 5 

10. Engineer’s Certification 5 

 

Table of Tables 

Table 3.1 Population Projections ........................................................................... 3 

Table 5.1 Cost Projections ..................................................................................... 4 

Table 6.1 Major Replacement Schedule ................................................................ 4 

Table 7.1 Funding Sources .................................................................................... 4 

Table of Exhibits 

Exhibit 1. Aerial Location Map ............................................................................... 6 

Exhibit 2. Stormwater Facilities .............................................................................. 7 

Exhibit 3. Service Area Map ................................................................................... 8 

Exhibit 4. Legal Description ................................................................................... 9 

  

Page 328



West Villages Improvement District, Stormwater Management Projections 2022 
 

   2 
 

 

1. Introduction 

This report has been prepared to meet the requirements of Section 403.9302 Florida Statutes –
stormwater management projections. The West Villages Improvement District (“District” or “WVID”) does 
not provide wastewater services and thus is not required to submit a wastewater service projections 
report under 403.9301 F.S.  

The WVID is located entirely within Sarasota County (“County”), Florida with a portion of it being located 
in the City of North Port (“CONP or “City”). 403.9301(1) specifies independent special districts, including 
WVID, must provide a report to the County by June 30, 2022. The rule was enacted in 2021 and requires 
a report submittal every 5 years. This report has been prepared and submitted to satisfy the reporting 
requirements for 2022.  

The WVID is located in southern Sarasota County along US 41, primarily west of River Road (see Exhibit 
1). The WVID consists of 12,444 acres and is partially developed with some areas completed, some 
under construction and some undeveloped.  

The District area located in the CONP covers approximately 8,000 acres and will be developed into 12 
villages. Villages A, B, and C have been substantially completed; Villages D and F have been partially 
completed; Villages E, G, and J are presently under construction; and no substantial development has 
occurred in Villages H, I, K, and L. There are approximately 5,000 residential units as well as 94,000 
square feet of commercial area along with the associated stormwater infrastructure in the developed 
areas of Villages A, B, C, D. The District area within the City has been approved as a Village community. 
The land uses for the project in the City include single family residential, multi-family residential, 
commercial, and institutional. The remaining undeveloped phases within the District will be constructed to 
complete the stormwater system.  

The portion of the District in unincorporated Sarasota County includes approximately 3,855 acres as the 
Winchester at Wellen Park Critical Area Plan that has nine (9) communities that will include 8,999 
residential units, 100,000 square feet of industrial/warehouse space, and 100,000 square feet of 
commercial area. This area is presently undeveloped, and construction of the stormwater system will be 
completed over the next 20-years.     

2. Detailed Description of the Stormwater System 

For those portions of the District that have been completed, the master stormwater management system 
provides for treatment and attenuation of stormwater runoff that will be carried out through man-made 
retention and detention systems as collected in pipes, curbs, and surfaces to convey this runoff. These 
systems discharge to the ponds within each village. For the portions of the project within the City, the 
CONP and the Southwest Florida Water Management District (SWFWMD) regulate the design criteria for 
the District’s stormwater management facilities. For the portions of the project within Sarasota County, the 
County and the SWFWMD will regulate the design criteria for the District’s stormwater management 
facilities 

It is expected that the future master stormwater management system planned for the District in the 
undeveloped villages in the City and the areas in the County will discharge through interconnected ponds 
and ditches to future lakes. The stormwater management system improvements will adhere to CONP or 
County design criteria (whichever is applicable) as well as SWFWMD’s design criteria. The criteria 
requires drainage systems be designed to attenuate a 25-year, 24-hour rainfall event to pre-development 
discharges and that all building finished floor elevations be constructed above the anticipated flood 
elevation for the 100-year, 24-hour storm event. The treatment of stormwater runoff will be provided in 
accordance with the design guidelines for dry and wet retention/detention systems as mandated by the 
SWFWMD and the City or County (whichever is applicable). Stormwater runoff will be collected by curbs 
and stormwater conveyance surfaces with drainage inlets and an underground storm sewer pipe system 
conveying the runoff to the retention/detention areas.   

Page 329



West Villages Improvement District, Stormwater Management Projections 2022 
 

   3 
 

 

Existing stormwater management facilities consisting of storm conveyance systems and detention ponds 
and lakes are contained within the District boundaries (see Exhibit 2). Stormwater is discharged via 
roadway curb and gutter and storm inlets. Storm culverts convey the runoff into the detention ponds for 
water quality treatment and attenuation. The stormwater systems will utilize wet detention for biological 
pollutant assimilation to achieve water quality treatment. The design criteria for the District’s existing 
stormwater treatment systems are regulated by the County and the SWFWMD. Some stormwater 
systems are used for the master irrigation system for the community providing the reuse of stormwater as 
well as irrigation water in some key lakes as per the SWFWMD water use permit. 

The system is designed to provide drainage and flood abatement for potential flooding events associated 
with rainfall for water quality improvements and to reduce vulnerability to adverse impacts from flooding 
related to increases in frequency and duration of rainfall events. The system falls within the Federal 
Emergency Management Agency (FEMA) Flood Insurance Rate Map (FIRM) Panel Numbers 
12115C0353F, 12115C0355F, 12115C0361F, 12115C0365F, 12115C0370F, dated November 4, 2016 
and is located within Flood Zones A and X. The 100-year flood volumes are compensated as required by 
the City, SWFWMD, and FEMA. 

Specifically, the system includes numerous wet ponds and interconnections throughout the District (see 
Exhibit 2). 

The stormwater operation and maintenance program includes, but is not limited to: 
 routine mowing of turf associated with stormwater ponds, swales, canal/lake banks; 
 debris and trash removal from pond skimmers, inlet grates, ditches, etc.; 
 routine ditch cleaning; and  
 public outreach and education. 

3. Number of Current and Projected Residents 

The number of current and projected residents are required to be calculated in 5-year increments for a 
20-year period. Unlike a city or county service area, the WVID’s jurisdiction is very limited and cannot be 
expanded or contracted without approval of the Florida Legislature.  

Additionally, the supplemental rule instructions provided by the Office of Economic and Demographic 
Research (“EDR”) states when an independent special district completely falls within a county or a 
municipality, EDR will calculate the appropriate population estimates. WVID is located in the City of North 
Port and Sarasota County, Florida. 

Table 3.1 Population Projections 

4. Stormwater Service Area 

The WVID service area consists of the District lands as shown in Exhibit 2 and included in the service 
area map (Exhibit 3) and legal description (Exhibit 4). Portions of the District have been completed while 
other areas are currently being developed. Numerous detention ponds and lakes have been completed in 
various villages in the CONP. Future phases in the City and County will include additional ponds and 
lakes for the stormwater system as villages and communities are developed. Future reports will provide 
for updates as required in the next 5-years. 

POPULATION PROJECTIONS IN 5-YEAR INCREMENTS 
6/2022 6/2027 6/2032 6/2037 6/2042 

To be calculated by 
EDR  

To be calculated by 
EDR 

To be calculated by 
EDR 

To be calculated by 
EDR 

To be calculated by 
EDR 

Page 330



West Villages Improvement District, Stormwater Management Projections 2022 
 

   4 
 

 

5. Current and Projected Costs of Providing Service 

Table 5.1 provides for a 20-year projection of costs for providing stormwater service in 5-year increments.  
This was estimated with based on the projected completion of project lakes in future development areas 
and an increase of 10% every 5-years. 

Table 5.1 Cost Projections 

6. Estimated Remaining Useful Life 

The remaining useful life of the stormwater system and facilities is estimated to be 25 years. The system 
is monitored on an annual basis and replacement and repairs are provided as needed to the components 
of the system. The replacement of inlets and control outfall structures should not be a major expense to 
the District within the next 20-years. No major replacements, which may include culverts and pipe 
networks and control structures are expected within the next 20-years. All open stormwater storage areas 
(ponds) and conveyance systems (ditches) are maintained and have an unlimited service life. New 
stormwater systems for the future phases of the development are expected to be constructed over the 
next 20-years and shall be maintained in the same manner as the current system. 

Table 6.1 Major Replacement Schedule  

7. Recent 5-Year Funding Status 

The District has provided for all expenditures for stormwater services within WVID over the last 5-years.  
Annual contributions for all funding are obtained through the assessment authority of the District via 
annual assessments to each unit within the District. The District’s current reserve fund is approximately 
$845,545, which is sufficient for future capital needs for maintenance of the existing system. Funding for 
the expansion of the existing facilities or for future stormwater systems associated with new development 
will be provided by the developer of each village. The District will monitor this development and adjust 
future assessments in anticipation of the need to proper provide stormwater services to these new 
systems.  

Table 7.1 Funding Sources 

CURRENT AND PROJECTS COSTS OF PROVIDING SERVICE 
BASED ON FISCAL YEAR 

2022 2027 2032 2037 2042 
$202,600 $924,600 $1,288,914 $1,777,700 $2,486,732 

MAJOR REPLACEMENT SCHEDULE WITH FUNDING 
PROJECT CURRENT 

(2022) 
2023-2027 2028-2032 2033-2037 2038-2042 

Project name N/A  N/A N/A N/A N/A 

5-YEAR FUNDING SOURCES 
YEAR ANTICIPATED 

EXPENDITURES* 
BUDGET   

FUNDS AVAILABLE 
RESERVES  

FUND BALANCE 
OTHER  

2022         $202,600 Assessments $845,545 N/A 
2023 $207,980 Assessments TBD Annually N/A 
2024 $523,124 Assessments TBD Annually N/A 
2025 $533,288 Assessments TBD Annually N/A 
2026 $546,840 Assessments TBD Annually N/A 
*Increase in 2024 is in anticipation of the District beginning to maintain stormwater facilities in Villages D, E, and F.   

Page 331



West Villages Improvement District, Stormwater Management Projections 2022

5

8. Plan to Fund Maintenance or Expansion

Due to the CDD’s funding mechanisms, there are no anticipated funding gaps or unfunded projects. The 
proposed construction of the future phases will be through additional bond proceeds of developer funding 
agreements with the District. The future infrastructure stormwater system will be owned by the WVID.

9. Report Submittal and Documentation

As required by rule, this report is being submitted to Sarasota County. The County is required to compile 
all reports for their county and submit a consolidated report to the State by July 31, 2022. The attached 
exhibits include supporting data and illustrations. When used, calculation methodologies have been 
described in the above narratives.

10. Engineer’s Certification

I hereby certify that the foregoing is a true and correct copy of the report for West Villages Improvement
District.

Richard Ellis, P.E.
Florida License No. 34228
Dewberry Engineers Inc.

RiRR chard Ellis P E

Page 332



Exhibit 1
WEST VILLAGES

IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT
AERIAL LOCATION MAP

Legend

IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT BOUNDARY

CONSTRUCTED

TO BE CONSTRUCTED

UNDER CONSTRUCTION
0 4,0002,000

Feet

1 inch = 4,000 feet

Improvement District 
Boundary

Improvement District 
Boundary

S Tamiami T
rail

41

N
 R

iver R
d

777

Myakka River

Myakka River

Deer Prairie
Creek Preserve

South

S R
ive

r R
d

777

S Tamiami Trail41

Village A

Village B

Village C

Village D
Village E

Village I

Village F

Village J Village K Village L

Village HVillage G

Not
Included

Not
Included

Center RdCenter Rd

S Tamiami Trail41

776

776

E Dearborn St

W
in

ch
es

te
r 

B
lv

d

Myakka
State Forest

Lem
on Bay

776

Ta y l o r  R a n c hTa y l o r  R a n c h
E l e m e n t a r y  S c h o o lE l e m e n t a r y  S c h o o l

P
ine

 S
t

V e n i c e  V e n i c e  
M i d d l e  S c h o o lM i d d l e  S c h o o l

Winchester
Ranch F

Winchester
Ranch B

Winchester
Ranch C

Winchester
Ranch E

Winchester
Ranch D

Winchester
Ranch A

Winchester
Ranch I

Winchester
Ranch H

Winchester
Ranch G

Page 333



Exhibit 2
WEST VILLAGES

IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT
STORMWATER MANAGEMENT

FACILITIES

Legend

IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT BOUNDARY

VILLAGE BOUNDARY

POND OWNED BY DISTRICT

POND OWNED BY OTHERS
0 2,5001,250

Feet

1 inch = 2,500 feet

μ

Village A

Village B

Village C

Village D
Village E

Village I

Village F

Village J
Village K

Village L

Village HVillage G

Improvement District 
Boundary

Improvement District 
Boundary

S Tamiami T
rail

£¤41

N
 R

iver R
d

")777

S R
ive

r R
d

")777

S Tamiami Trail£¤41

Playmore Rd

Preto Blvd

Winchester
Ranch F

Winchester
Ranch B

Winchester
Ranch C

Winchester
Ranch E

Winchester
Ranch D

Winchester
Ranch A

Winchester
Ranch I

Winchester
Ranch H

Winchester
Ranch G

W
 V

ill
ag

es
 P

kw
y

Manasota Beach Rd

Not
Included

Not
Included

Page 334



Exhibit 3
WEST VILLAGES

IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT
SERVICE AREA MAP

Legend

IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT BOUNDARY

VILLAGE BOUNDARY 0 2,5001,250

Feet

1 inch = 2,500 feet

μ

Village A

Village B

Village C

Village D
Village E

Village I

Village F

Village J
Village K

Village L

Village HVillage G

Improvement District 
Boundary

Improvement District 
Boundary

S Tamiami T
rail

£¤41

N
 R

iver R
d

")777

S R
ive

r R
d

")777

S Tamiami Trail£¤41

Playmore Rd

Preto Blvd

Winchester
Ranch F

Winchester
Ranch B

Winchester
Ranch C

Winchester
Ranch E

Winchester
Ranch D

Winchester
Ranch A

Winchester
Ranch I

Winchester
Ranch H

Winchester
Ranch G

W
 V

ill
ag

es
 P

kw
y

Manasota Beach Rd

Not
Included

Not
Included

Page 335



THE TERRITORIAL BOUNDARIES OF THE WEST VILLAGES IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT SHALL BE AS 
FOLLOWS, TO WIT: 

LANDS LOCATED IN TOWNSHIP 39 SOUTH, RANGE 20 EAST, SARASOTA COUNTY, FLORIDA: 

That part of Section 21, lying Southwesterly of County Road No. 777 (West River Road). 

All that part of Section 28, lying West of lands described in official Records Book 2008060371, Public 
Records of Sarasota County, Florida, (County Road No.777 West River Road). 

All of Section 29, less and except the following: Right-of-way for U.S. Highway No. 41 (State Road No. 
45). 

All of Section 30 less and except the following: Right-of-way for U. S. Highway No. 41 (State Road No. 
45); That portion conveyed to Florida Power and Light Company consisting of approximately 4.66 acres 
in the SW 1/4 as described in Official Record Book 1036, Page 802, Public Records of Sarasota County, 
Florida; That portion lying West of lands described in Official Record Book 1036, Page 802, South of the 
westerly extension of the North line of said lands described in Official Records Book 1036, Page 802 and 
North of the northerly Right of Way line of U.S. Highway No. 41. 

All of Section 31 less and except the following: Right-of-way of U. S. Highway 41 (State Road No. 45). 

All of Section 32 less and except the following: Right-of-way of U. S. Highway No. 41 (State Road No. 45) 
That portion conveyed in Official Record Book 1571, Page 2172 of the Public Records of Sarasota County, 
Florida, (College). 

That Portion of Section 33 lying North of U.S. Highway No. 41 (State Road No.45) and West of County 
Road #777 (West River Road); also, that portion of Section 33, lying South of U.S. Highway No. 41 (State 
Road No. 45). LESS AND EXCEPT: That portion described in Official Records Book 1571, Page 2172 of the 
Public Records of Sarasota County, Florida, (College); That portion described in Official Records Book 
2389, Page 529, of the Public Records of Sarasota County, Florida, (Sarasota County Fire Station). 

All that part of Section 34 described as follows: The North Half of the Northwest Quarter of the 
Southwest Quarter lying South of U.S. Highway #41 (State Road #45) and West of the right of way of 
County Road #777 (as realigned) in Official Records Book 2679 at Pages 2750-2574, LESS AND EXCEPT: 
That portion described in Official Records Instrument #2010051294, of the Public Records of Sarasota 
County, Florida; That portion described as follows: 

Commence at the Southeast Corner of the Southwest 1/4 of Section 34, Township 39 South, Range 20 
East, Sarasota County, Florida; thence N89°24'59"W, along the South line of the Southwest 1/4 of said 
Section 34, a distance of 204.95 feet to a point on the baseline of survey, as shown on the Sarasota 
County Right-of-Way Map for River Road (Project No. 95790), same being a point on a curve to the left 
having a radius of 5729.58 feet, a central angle of 05°13'19", a chord bearing of Nl6°30'08"W, and a 
chord length of 522.02 feet; thence along said base-line of Survey, and the arc of said curve, an arc 
length of 522.20 feet; thence S70°53'13"W, perpendicular to said baseline of Survey, a distance of 
110.00 feet to the Westerly Right-of-Way Line of South River Road per Official Records Book 2679, Page 
2750, Public Records of Sarasota County, Florida, same being a point on a curve to the left having a 
radius of 5619.32 feet, a central angle of 15°31'30", a chord bearing of N26°52'28"W, and a chord length 
of 1517.98 feet; thence along said Westerly Right-of-Way Line the following four (4) courses: (1) along 

Page 336



the arc of said curve an arc length of 1522.64 feet; (2) thence S55°21' 4 7"W, a distance of 20.00 feet to 
a point on a curve to the left having a radius of 5599.32 feet, a central angle of 02°00'54", a chord 
bearing of N35°38'40"W, and a chord length of 196.90 feet; (3) thence along the arc of said curve an arc 
length of 196.91 feet; (4) thence N36°39'07"W, a distance of 71.08 feet to the South line of the 
Northwest 1/4 of the Northeast 1/4 of the Southwest 1/4 of Section 34; thence N89°37'27"W, along the 
South line of said Northwest 1/4 of the Northeast 1/4 of the Southwest 1/4 of Section 34, a distance of 
4.10 feet to the Point of Begin-ning, same being the Southwest corner of the North 1/4 of the Northwest 
1/4 of the Southwest 1/4 of Section 34, Township 39 South, Range 20 East, Sarasota County, Florida; 
thence N89°37'27"W, along the South line of the North 1/4 of the Northwest 1/4 of the Southwest 1/4 
of said Section 34, a distance of 108.43 feet; thence N36°45'48"W, a distance of 427.04 feet to the 
Southerly Right-of-Way Line of U.S. Highway No. 41 (State Road No.45), per Florida Department of 
Transportation Right-of-Way Map Section 17010-2508, same being a point on a curve to the left having 
a radius of 3031.73 feet, a central angle of 01°56'33", a chord bearing of N81 °26'05"E, and a chord 
length of 102.78 feet; thence along said South-erly Right-of-Way Line of U.S. Highway No. 41 (State Road 
No. 45) and the arc of said curve an arc length of 102.78 feet to the intersection of said Southerly Right-
of-Way Line of U.S. Highway No. 41 (State Road No. 45) and the Westerly Right-of-Way Line of South 
River Road per Official Records Book 2695, Page 1438, Public Records of Sarasota County, Flor-ida; 
thence S36°39'07"E, along said Westerly Right-of-Way Line of South River Road, a distance of 439.57 
feet to a point on the West line of the Northwest¼ of the Northeast 1/4 of the Southwest 1/4 of Section 
34; thence S00°09'58"W, along said West line of the Northwest 1/4 of the Northeast 1/4 of the 
Southwest 1/4 of Section 34, a distance of 5.47 feet to the Point of Beginning.  

All that part of the NE 1/4 of the SW 1/4 of Section 34, lying easterly of right of way for County Road 
#777 (as realigned) as per Official Records Book 2679, at Pages 2750-2754, Less lands described in 
Official Records Instrument Number 1999111833 of the Public Records of Sarasota County, Florida; Also 
all that part of the West Half of the SE 1/4 of Section 34, lying westerly of maintained right of way for 
South River Road (Old River Road), and northerly of lands described in Official Records Instrument 
Number 1999111833, of the Public Records of Sarasota County, Florida, (Right of way for County Road 
#777). 

All that part of the North Half of the Southwest quarter of the Northwest Quarter of Section 34 lying 
(West of lands described in Official Records Instrument Number 2008060371, of the Public Records of 
Sarasota County, Florida, River Road County Road No. 777). 

All that portion of the Southeast Quarter of Section 34, lying West of the Myakka River, South of the 
South line of lands described in Official Record Instrument No. 2000002794, Public Records of Sarasota 
County, Florida (River Road Office Park, Inc.), and easterly of the maintained right of way line of a paved 
road running from River Road to the South line of the Northeast Quarter of said Section 34 (Old River 
Road), less and except the following: That portion described in Official Record Instrument No. 
1999111833, of the Public Records of Sarasota Florida (Right of Way for County Road No. 777). 

All of Section 35 lying West of the Myakka River. 

 

 

Page 337



LANDS LOCATED IN TOWNSHIP 40 SOUTH, RANGE 20 EAST, SARASOTA COUNTY, FLORIDA: 

All of Section 3, less and except the following: That portion conveyed in Order of Taking recorded in 
Official Record Book 2679, Page 2750-2754, of the Public Records of Sarasota County, Florida (County 
Road No 777); The maintained right-of-way of County Road No. 777 (South River Road). 

All of Section 4. 

All of Section 5. 

All of Section 6. 

All of Section 7. 

All of Section 8. 

All of Section 9. 

All of Section 10, less and except the following: The maintained right-of-way for County Road No. 777 
(South River Road). 

All of section 15, less and except the following: The maintained right-of-way for County Road #777 South 
River Road); Right-of-way Conveyed in Official Record Instrument Number 2000163556, of the Public 
Records of Sarasota County, Florida; Parcel 202, as described in Official Record Instrument 
#2008060371, described as follows: 

Commence at the Southwest Corner of Section 15, Township 40 South, Range 20 East, Sarasota County, 
Florida; thence S89°21'19"E, along the South Line of said Section 15, a distance of 49.10 feet, to a point 
on the baseline of survey as shown on the unrecorded Sarasota County Main-tained Right-of-Way Map 
for River Road; thence N45°58'14"E, along said baseline of survey, a distance of 3284.46 feet, thence 
S44°01'46"E, per-pendicular to said baseline of survey, a distance of 39.75 feet to the Point of Beginning; 
thence N45°58'39"E, a distance of 102.13 feet; to a point on a curve to the left having a radius of 706.58 
feet, a central angle of 45°29'01", a chord bearing of N23°13'07"E, and a chord length of 546.30 feet; 
thence along the arc of said curve an arc length of 560.91 feet; thence N00°28'37"E, a distance of 615.74 
feet; thence S89°31'23"E, a distance of 178.13 feet; thence S60°22'18"E, a distance of 188.25 feet; 
thence S32°42'31"E, a distance of 144.47 feet, to a point on a curve to the left having a radius of 150.00 
feet, a central angle of 65°32'10", a chord bearing of S12°01'25"E, and a chord length of 162.37 feet; 
thence along the arc of said curve an arc length of 171.57 feet; to a point on a curve to the right having a 
radius of 50.00 feet, a central angle of 48°24'34", a chord bearing of S20°35'14"E, and a chord length of 
41.00 feet; thence along the arc of said curve an arc length of 42.25 feet; to a point on a curve to the left 
having a radius of 55.00 feet, a central angle of 53°04'13", a chord bearing of S22°55'03"E, and a chord 
length of 49.14 feet; thence along the arc of said curve an arc length of 50.94 feet; to a point on a curve 
to the right having a radius of 50.00 feet, a central angle of 69°28'55", a chord bearing of S14°42' 42"E, 
and a chord length of 56.99 feet; thence along the arc of said curve an arc length of 60.63 feet; thence 
S20° 0l' 46''W, a distance of 165.04 feet; thence S09°45'21"E, a distance of 198.48 feet; thence 
Sl0°32'59''W, a distance of 77.82 feet; thence S24°01'29''W, a distance of 246.18 feet; thence 
S16°16'56''W, a distance of 52.07 feet; thence S35°57'16"E, a distance of 117.85 feet; thence 
S87°27'37''W, a distance of 86.98 feet; thence S45°58'19''W, a distance of 25.22 feet; thence 

Page 338



S05°31'58''W, a distance of 149.54 feet; thence S45°58'39''W, a distance of 223.39 feet; thence 
N44°01'21''W, a distance of 622.74 feet, to the Point of Beginning. 

All of section 17.  

All of section 18. 

All of section 19, less and except parcel 301, as described in Official Record Instrument #2008060371, of 
the Public Records of Sarasota County, Florida. 

All of section 20, less and except the following: Maintained right-of-way for County Road #777 (South 
River Road); Right of way conveyed for County Road #777, described in Official Record Instrument 
#2008060371, of the Public Records of Sarasota County, Florida. 

All of Section 21, less and except the following: Maintained right-of-way for County Road #777 (South 
River Road); The SW 1/4 of the SE 1/4; The North 50 feet of the South 380 feet of the SW 1/4 lying East 
of County Road #777 (South River Road); Right-of-way conveyed in Official Record Book 2097, Page 396, 
of the Public Records of Sarasota County, Florida (Winchester Boulevard); Right-of-way conveyed in 
Official Records Instrument Number 2000163556 of the Public Records of Sarasota County, Florida; 
Parcels 101.A, 101.B, 101.C and 201, described in Official Record Instrument #2008060371, of the Public 
Records of Sarasota County, Florida. 

Page 339


	West Villages Improvement District - Continued Landowners' Meeting, Landowners' Referendum & Regular Board Meeting Book
	Agenda - Continued Landowners' Meeting
	Proof of Publication
	June 10, 2021 Landowners’ Meeting Minutes

	Agenda - Landowners' Referendum
	Proof of Publication
	Landowner Proxy
	Landowner Ballot

	Agenda - Regular Board Meeting
	Proof of Publication
	June 9, 2022 Regular Board Meeting Minutes
	General District Matters
	Consider Resolution No. 2022-12 – Canvassing and Certifying Results of BoundaryAmendment Referendum
	Consider Resolution No. 2022-13 – Regarding Intent to Utilize Uniform Method

	Unit of Development No. 1
	Consider Approval of Boundary Amendment Agreement Adding Property to Unit No. 1 (Diocese Property and Hospital Site)
	Consider Approval of Boundary Amendment Agreement Adding Property to Unit No. 1 (Pine Street)
	Consider Resolution No. 2022-14 – Setting Public Hearing on Consideration of Adoption of
Proposed Revised Plan of Improvements

	Unit of Development No. 3
	Consider Approval of Revised Gran Paradiso Gate Operations Policies
	Consider Approval of Proposals for Unit 3 Bond Requisition Audit

	Unit of Development No. 6
	Consider Approval of Boundary Amendment Agreement Adding Property to Unit No. 6 (Diocese Property)

	Unit of Development No. 7
	Consider Approval of Boundary Amendment Agreement Adding Property to Unit No. 7
	Consider Resolution No. 2022-15 – Declaring Intent to Impose Special Assessments on Added Property
	Consider Resolution No. 2022-16 – Setting Public Hearing on Imposition of Special Assessments on Added Property

	Unit of Development No. 9
	Consider Approval of Preliminary Master Engineer's Report
	Consider Approval of Preliminary Master Assessment Methodology Report
	Consider Resolution No. 2022-17 – Declaring Debt Service Assessments
	Consider Resolution No. 2022-18 – Setting a Public Hearing on Debt ServiceAssessments

	Administrative Matters
	District Engineer
	Stormwater Management Projection Report







